

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active. Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect







journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/addr

# Magnetically enhanced nucleic acid delivery. Ten years of magnetofection—Progress and prospects $\overset{\curvearrowleft}{\asymp}$

### Christian Plank <sup>a,\*</sup>, Olivier Zelphati <sup>b</sup>, Olga Mykhaylyk <sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Institute of Experimental Oncology and Therapy Research, Technische Universität München, Ismaninger Str. 22, 81675 Munich, Germany <sup>b</sup> OZ Biosciences, Parc Scientifique de Luminy, Zone Luminy Entreprises, 163, avenue de Luminy, Case 922, 13 288 Marseille Cedex 9, France

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 4 February 2011 Accepted 19 August 2011 Available online 26 August 2011

Keywords: Magnetofection Magnetic nanoparticles Gene therapy Gene delivery Nucleic acid therapy Nucleic acid delivery Magnetic targeting Magnetic drug targeting

#### ABSTRACT

Nucleic acids carry the building plans of living systems. As such, they can be exploited to make cells produce a desired protein, or to shut down the expression of endogenous genes or even to repair defective genes. Hence, nucleic acids are unique substances for research and therapy. To exploit their potential, they need to be delivered into cells which can be a challenging task in many respects. During the last decade, nanomagnetic methods for delivering and targeting nucleic acids have been developed, methods which are often referred to as magnetofection. In this review we summarize the progress and achievements in this field of research. We discuss magnetic formulations of vectors for nucleic acid delivery and their characterization, mechanisms of magnetofection, and the application of magnetofection in viral and nonviral nucleic acid delivery in cell culture and in animal models. We summarize results that have been obtained with using magnetofection in basic research and in preclinical animal models. Finally, we describe some of our recent work and end with some conclusions and perspectives.

© 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1. 2.	Introduction	1301 1301
3.	Magnetic nanoparticle formulations for gene delivery	1301
	3.1. Assembling of virus and magnetic particles due to specific ligand-ligand interactions.	1302
	3.2. Self-assembling of magnetic vectors due to electrostatic and hydrophobic interactions	1303
	3.3. Characterization of magnetic vector formulations	1305
	3.4. Covalent coupling of the vector and magnetic nanoparticles	1308
4.	Mechanisms of magnetofection	1309
5.	Magnetic cell labeling and magnetofection	1312
6.	Applications of magnetofection in cell culture	1313
	6.1. Magnetofection for viral applications	1314
	6.2. Magnetofection for neurosciences applications	1315
	6.3. Magnetofection for DNA transfection in further primary cells and cell lines	1315
	6.4. Magnetofection for siRNA transfection.	1316
7.	Applications of magnetofection <i>in vivo</i>	1317
8.	Combined magnetic cell sorting and magnetofection	1322
9.	Magnetic oncolytic adenovirus.	1323
10.	Magnetic microbubbles	1325
11.	Conclusions and perspectives	1325
Ackno	owledgments	1326
Refere	ences	1326

<sup>🌣</sup> This review is part of the Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews theme issue on "Hybrid Nanostructures for Diagnostics and Therapeutics".

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding authors at: Institute of Experimental Oncology and Therapy Research, Technische Universität München, Ismaninger Str. 22, 81675 Munich, Germany. Tel.: +49 89 4140 4453x4475.

E-mail addresses: plank@lrz.tum.de (C. Plank), olga.mykhaylyk@lrz.tum.de (O. Mykhaylyk).

<sup>0169-409</sup>X/\$ - see front matter © 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2011.08.002

#### 1. Introduction

Gene and nucleic acid therapies and numerous research applications rely on the introduction of nucleic acids into cells. There, the information comprised in the sequence of their building blocks can be exploited for the over-expression of a desired protein, for the downregulation of endogenous gene expression, for bypassing or even repairing endogenous genetic defects or for activating the innate immune system. Very substantial progress has been made with establishing and optimizing delivery systems for nucleic acids. After almost 50 years of research and development, dating back to the first uses of nucleic acid delivery in virology research [1,2] and the first visionary concepts of gene therapy [3], nucleic acid therapies begin to live up to expectations [4]. Since the first gene therapy clinical trial in 1990, more than 1600 clinical trials have been conducted [5]. Convincing therapeutic success in human clinical trials has been achieved during recent years.

Still, the field is in its infancy and nucleic acid therapies are far from being broadly applicable. There are two major limitations. One is our incomplete knowledge of what is going on inside cells on a molecular level. We do not understand sufficiently well the processes which govern nucleic acid uptake, their intracellular interactions, intracellular trafficking and the regulation of nucleic acid action inside cells. The other limitation, in part being a result of the first one, is the availability of efficient, affordable and safe shuttles for nucleic acid delivery (so-called vectors) and of localizing their action to target cells.

Efficiency can be defined as the number of effector molecules or their concentration which is required to yield a desired effect. If the transport of an active ingredient to the target structure which it is intended to interact with becomes a limiting factor, then the prediction holds that any measure that supports/improves such transport will improve the efficiency of the active ingredient. This is the essential paradigm of magnetic drug targeting which dates back to the 1970s. Active ingredients are associated with magnetic particles and are concentrated at a target site by magnetic force. Transport to the target cells is a limiting factor in nucleic acid delivery [6], at least *in vivo*. First ideas of exploiting the principle of magnetic targeting in nucleic acid delivery appeared in the patent literature in 1996 [7] and 1998 [8], however with little experimental evidence.

During the last decade, several research groups have implemented and optimized the concept of magnetic drug targeting in nucleic acid delivery. The first accounts in the scientific literature have been conference abstracts by Mah [9] and from our group [10] in the year 2000. At that time, we have coined the acronym magnetofection which since then has been widely used as a generic term for magnetically guided and enhanced nucleic acid delivery in the scientific literature. We have defined magnetofection as nucleic acid delivery under the influence of a magnetic field acting on nucleic acid vectors that are associated with magnetic (nano)particles (Fig. 1) [11,12]. For simplicity, we will use this term throughout this review for nucleic acid delivery methods discussed herein which are based on this principle. The first full paper in this field accepted for publication in a scientific journal was from Hughes and coworkers on magnetically enhanced retroviral nucleic acid delivery [13] followed later by our own work on nonviral and viral magnetofection [14], Pandori's paper on the enhanced infectivity of adenovirus-microbead conjugates and Mah's paper on magnetically enhanced AAV vector-mediated gene delivery [15]. Further publications ensued in 2003, including a first paper on the mechanism of magnetofection [16], a paper on magnetically enhanced oligonucleotide delivery in vitro and in vivo [17], on magnetofection of primary endothelial cells [18] and three review papers summarizing the state of the art at that time [12,19,20].

The essential framework of magnetofection had been set. The major benefits of magnetofection are an improvement of the dose–response relationship in nucleic acid delivery, a strong improvement of the



Fig. 1. Principle of magnetofection: viral or non-viral gene delivery vectors are associated with magnetic nanoparticles. Magnetic force directs vectors towards target cells resulting in rapid and highly efficient nucleic acid delivery.

kinetics of the delivery process and the possibility to localize nucleic acid delivery to an area which is under magnetic field influence. Since the early days of magnetofection, major progress has been made. It is the intention of this review, to summarize this progress and to conclude with a perspective for the coming years.

#### 2. Some statistics

Magnetofection reagents are commercially available which contributes to an exponentially increasing number of papers in the field. A search as defined in Fig. 2 in ISI Web of Science delivers 328 hits, the same search in PubMed delivers 144 hits. Combining the two searches results in 374 publications. Not all of these papers are in the field of nucleic acid delivery. But the search delivers a useful summary of the field of interest and related fields where magnetic particles play an important role, i.e. drug delivery, medical imaging, magnetic cell labeling and cell tracking and magnetic separation techniques. 61% of the publications were original articles, 27% were reviews, and 11.3% were proceedings papers, conference abstracts and editorials. From the United States are 32.6% of the publications, 23.3% are from Germany and 12.8% from China. The contributions from China are on a sharp rise year after year. The most cited original article in the field of nucleic acid delivery among all combined ISI and PubMed hits is the original magnetofection article from Scherer et al. [14], the most cited reviews in the field are from Berry et al. on the functionalization of magnetic nanoparticles for biomedicine [21] and from Moghimi et al. on the status of nanomedicine [22]. Many excellent reviews related to the field have appeared recently, and the reader will be referred to these reviews where appropriate. The top 3 cited articles in the field published during the last 5 years are Medarova's paper on in vivo imaging of siRNA delivery and gene silencing in tumors [23], Kim's paper on the toxicity of magnetic nanoparticles in mice [24] and Yu's paper on drug-loaded superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for combined cancer imaging and therapy [25].

#### 3. Magnetic nanoparticle formulations for gene delivery

There is a broad variety of synthetic options for obtaining magnetic nanoparticles for biomedical applications. Only a few of those options have been explored for nucleic acid delivery purposes so far. A detailed review of the properties and synthesis of iron oxide nanoparticles is out

#### "magnetic nanoparticles" OR "magnetic particles" OR "iron oxide nanoparticles"





Fig. 2. Results of the search in the ISI Web of Science web site as defined in the figure.

of the scope of this article. Excellent reviews of this topic have been published recently [26–34].

To be useful in magnetofection, magnetic particles need to comprise some functionality that allows them to be associated with a gene delivery vector into a magnetic vector. The vector can be nucleic acid either alone or in combination with an enhancer (nonviral lipoplex or polyplex) or viral vector. The magnetic properties of the particles have to be sufficient to concentrate the vector at the target cells under magnetic force. The particles' chemical and colloidal stability in the acceptable medium must be sufficient to be stored over required periods. The particles and formulations have to be biocompatible enough for application in living cells.

### 3.1. Assembling of virus and magnetic particles due to specific ligand–ligand interactions

The first magnetic vector for viral gene delivery was prepared by Mah et al. [9]. Avidinylated polystyrene magnetite microspheres were modified with biotinylated heparin sulfate and further conjugated with adeno-associated virus via specific interaction [9,15] according to the scheme in Fig. 3a. The magnetic conjugate demonstrated significantly improved infectivity both *in vitro* and *in vivo* when administered either intramuscularly or intravenously and allowed localized transduction at the site of magnetic field application *in vitro*.

Since these first publications, numerous studies utilize affine interactions to assemble virus with magnetic micro- and nanoparticles, especially using (strept)avidin and biotin technology [35] that has proved to be a versatile tool for purification, concentration and targeting of viral vectors [13,36-38]. Biotin can be coupled to the virus surface and (strept)avidin to the surface of magnetic particles or streptavidinmodified viral particles are captured by biotinylated magnetic particles. Virus modifications can be achieved chemically, metabolically or genetically. (Strept)avidin-coated magnetic particles are commercially available such as for example, Streptavidin MagneSphere particles (Promega), Dynabeads MyOne C1 and Dynabeads M-280 Streptavidin coated magnetic Particles (Dynal) as well as biotinylated particles (Spherotech) and others. This versatile approach was used to isolate and concentrate the virus from crude extracts, to enhance transduction efficiency and to achieve localized infection in vitro and in vivo. Association of a biotin-labeled retrovirus with streptavidin MagneSpheres 1-µm (Promega Z5482) was used to concentrate the vectors to receive "infectious, paramagnetic, retroviral vector particles" [13]. It was shown that the produced retroviral conjugates can then be magnetically attracted to the desired location for infection. Adenovirus particles treated with sulfo-NHS-LC-biotin were conjugated with streptavidin coated magnetic microparticles (Promega) and displayed greater infectivity, particularly on poorly permissive cells controlled spatially by the use of magnetic force [39]. Association of avidin displaying baculovirus with biotinylated 1.1 µm magnetic microparticles resulted in magnet-guided targeted and



**Fig. 3.** Assembling of the virus and magnetic particles due to specific ligand–ligand interactions. (a) Schematic model of microsphere-conjugated rAAV. (b) Transmission electron micrograph of a magnetic particle–adenovirus affinity complex (bar = 100 nm). (c) Diagram of viral-induced nanoassembly of magnetic nanoparticles. Virus-surface-specific antibodies are immobilized on the magnetic nanoparticles to create magnetic viral nanosensors. When exposed to viral particles in solution, clustering of the nanoparticles occurs with a corresponding change in the MR signal.

Panel (a) was reproduced with permission from the American Society of Gene Therapy: Molecular Therapy [9]; panel (b) was reproduced with permission from ACS Publications: Molecular Pharmaceutics [41] and panel (c) was reproduced with permission from ACS Publications: JACS [43]. improved transduction in BT4C-cells [40]. Capture of a metabolically biotinylated lentivirus by streptavidin Dynal MyOne 1-µm particles allowed a highly efficient process for the preparation of purified and concentrated infectious lentiviral vectors [36]. Vector conjugation to these dense particles resulted in unexpectedly large increases in titer, "presumably by promoting the likelihood of interaction with the target cell" [36] even in the absence of the magnetic field.

Chorny et al. achieved the enhancement of nonviral and adenoviral gene delivery in cultured arterial smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells by complexation with biodegradable MNPs [41,42]. Fluorescently labeled MNP with a narrow size distribution and an average diameter of 400–420 nm were formulated from polylactide with inclusion of iron oxide small-sized (below 15 nm) crystallites and surface-modified with the D1 domain of the Coxsackie and adenovirus receptor (CAR) as an affinity linker. Each individual MNP was capable of accommodating several virions on its surface as shown in a TEM image in Fig. 3b. Significantly increased MNP-Ad mediated transduction compared to the respective "no field" controls was in accordance with the more efficient cellular uptake under magnetic conditions.

Specific assembling with magnetic nanoparticles was used to develop extremely sensitive methods of detecting virus particles and other biologic materials of interest exploiting the significant increase in the MRI relaxivity of the magnetic nanoparticles due to assembling and resulting magnetic ordering [43,44]. Superparamagnetic iron oxide particles with a dextran coating (hydrodynamic diameter of about 46 nm, [45,46]) and immobilized virus-surface-specific antibodies were specifically assembled with virus particles (100  $\pm$  18 nm) [43] as shown in a scheme in Fig. 3c. After 2 h incubation, the original viral particle population became undetectable and a larger nanoassembly with a size of  $550 \pm 30$  nm was detected. The assembling resulted in dramatically increased MRI relaxivity and thus allowed very sensitive detection of viral particles in serum by measurement of changes in water T<sub>2</sub> relaxation times. The approach was further developed to detect a variety of species including DNA, mRNA, proteins, small molecules/drugs, bacteria, and tumor cells. The method was designated "diagnostic magnetic resonance (DMR)" by its inventors [44].

## 3.2. Self-assembling of magnetic vectors due to electrostatic and hydrophobic interactions

The negatively charged phosphate backbone of nucleic acids as well as the negative electrokinetic (or zeta-) potential of all types of viral particles in aqueous media allow their assembling with cationic species and particles due to electrostatically induced aggregation [14,47] (scheme in Fig. 4). The hydrophobic regions on the surfaces of virus particles [48,49] provide adsorption sites that make association with lipids through hydrophobic interactions possible [50,51].

Cationic-lipid-encapsulated adenovirus particles showed enhanced binding to cell membranes, higher uptake and endosomal escape in CAR-deficient cells [47,52]. Thus, also magnetic nanoparticles possessing cationic charge and/or comprising hydrophobic structures in the coating structure can make use of both electrostatic and hydrophobic interactions to self-assemble with virus particles into magnetic transduction vectors [53–55].

First magnetic core–shell nanoparticles specially designed for gene delivery were iron oxide nanoparticles stabilized with high molecular poly(ethylene imine) 800 kDa called transMAG<sup>PEI</sup> prepared by chemicell GmbH (Berlin, Germany) [14]. The particles had an average hydrodynamic diameter of 200 nm (by dynamic light scattering) and positive electrokinetic potential of  $+38.4 \pm 0.8$  mV when measured in aqueous suspension. We formulated magnetic nonviral and viral vectors with TransMag<sup>PEI</sup> nanoparticles. The formulations with magnetic nanoparticles alone enhanced transfection and transduction, while application of a magnetic field raised reporter gene expression levels up to three orders of magnitude over those achieved with non-magnetic vectors

under the same conditions. Magnetic adenovirus complexes under applied magnetic fields efficiently transduced cells expressing little or no coxsackie and adenovirus receptor (CAR) which are otherwise non-permissive for adenoviral infection. Later on, maghemite nanoparticles were decorated with PEI and associated with retroviral vector [56] as well as CombiMag nanoparticles (Chemicell) were associated with measles virus [57] to concentrate the virus and to increase transduction efficiency. A protocol on highly efficient transfection of primary neurons by magnetic vectors formulated with CombiMag nanoparticles is available [58]. Shi et al. [59] prepared magnetic nanoparticles effective in magnetofection stabilized with hyperbranched poly(ethylene imines) with different molecular weights [60]. Formulation of different PEIcoated superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles and their complexes with DNA for gene transfection as well as detailed characteristics of the particles are presented in ref. [61]; the toxicity of the magnetic polyplexes was found to be lower compared to polyplexes alone.

Other polymers and surfactants/lipids, known to be useful in particle stabilization and/or in gene delivery, were already used to design new iron oxide nanoparticles for nucleic acid and viral delivery [56,62–65]. One example is N-acylated chitosan stabilized iron oxide nanoparticles with an electrokinetic potential of + 20 mV and hydrodynamic diameter of 50–150 nm when measured in PBS. These particles self-assembled with DNA and adenoviral particles into complexes efficient in transfection and transduction of the suspension type K562 cells by magnetofection [66,67]. Chorny et al. [41] formulated biodegradable polylactide MNPs containing oleate-coated magnetite and surface modified with PEI oleate that enable DNA binding. Larger particles (375 nm in diameter) exhibited higher transfection rates in cultured arterial smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells after exposure to a magnetic field compared with 185 nm- and 240 nmsized MNPs.

Recently [68,69] mesoporous silica particles were decorated with magnetite nanocrystals by thermal decomposition of iron (III) acety-lacetonate resulting in composite magnetite–silica particles of around 300 nm with an iron oxide content of ca. 20% w/w. Further coating by poly(ethylene imine) 25 kDa and association with DNA resulted in effective transfection of H292 human lung mucoepidermoid carcinoma cells superior to the Polymag<sup>™</sup> and Lipofectamine 2000 efficiency. Wu et al. [70] rendered synthetic hydroxyapatite and natural bone mineral magnetic by treatment with iron salts in a wet-chemical process. The composite magnetic particles, which were about 300 nm in diameter, associated with DNA and were efficient in the transfection of rat marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells.

Formulations comprising the cationic cell-penetrating TAT-peptide [71] or affine molecules for specific targeting [72] allowed further improvement of the delivery efficiency. Kievit et al. and Mok et al. reported on the use of chlorotoxin targeted iron oxide nanoparticles loaded with DNA [73] or siRNA [74] to enhance uptake specifically into glioma cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The iron oxide nanoparticles' coating was formulated from poly(ethylene imine) (average MW of 1.2 kDa), chitosan (medium molecular weight) and methoxy poly (ethylene glycol) (MW of 2 kDa).

We have selected the "leaders" from our library of in-house synthesized iron oxide nanoparticles for association with the vectors, which differ in their coating material and which are efficient in gene delivery by magnetofection with non-viral and viral vectors (Table 1).

Particles that have a surface coating consisting of the fluorinated surfactant ZONYL FSA (lithium 3-[2-(perfluoroalkyl)ethylthio] propionate) combined with 25-kDa branched poly(ethylene imine) (PEI-25<sub>Br</sub>) will hereafter be referred to as PEI-Mag2 [11]. The particles referred to as SO-Mag2 have a surface coating resulting from the condensation of tetraethyl orthosilicate and 3-(trihydroxysilyl)propylmethyl-phosphonate at the surface, followed by surface decoration of the nanomaterial via the spontaneous adsorption of PEI-25<sub>Br</sub> [75]. The particles synthesized with a surface coating formulated of ZONYL



Fig. 4. Schematics of the non-viral and viral self-assembling complexes with core-shell magnetic nanoparticles.

FSA and 1,9-nonandithiol will be further referred to as NDT-Mag1. The particles synthesized in the presence of ZONYL FSA and Pluronic F-127 will be referred to as PL-Mag1 particles. The PalD1-Mag1 particles were synthesized as described elsewhere [76] using palmitoyl dextran as a shell component. The mean core crystallite size <d> was calculated from the broadening of the X-ray diffraction peaks using the Scherrer formula [77]. The mean hydrodynamic diameter and the zeta potential of the MNP suspensions in water were determined by PCS. The magnetization data in terms emu per g iron taken together with the data on mean crystallite size allow an estimation of an average magnetic moment of individual particles. Parameters to be optimized to find optimal vector formulation for each intended application are the type and ratio of magnetic nanoparticles to DNA or to virus particle that ensure quantitative vector association with nanoparticles and gives the highest transgene expression at acceptable or no toxicity.

Interestingly, not only cationic magnetic nanoparticles, but also negatively charged particles can be associated with negatively charged nucleic acids or virus particles in the presence of cationic polymers and/or lipids as "enhancers" [11,78,79]. Haim with co-authors associated negatively charged TransMAG-PD nanoparticles (Chemicell) with lentivirus particles to enhance and synchronize infection in cell cultures [80]. Association of both negatively charged virus and magnetic nanoparticles is facilitated by positively charged ions in the solution [81,82]. A similar approach to assemble lentivirus particles with negatively charged magnetic nanoparticles in HBSS<sup>2+</sup> was utilized by Hofmann et al. [53]. Already the first original article [14] from our group used the quantitative approach to magnetic vector formulation, which included testing of association and magnetic sedimentation of radioactively labeled DNA and adenovirus with magnetic nanoparticles as a function of the MNPs-to-nucleic acid (w/w) ratio and MNPs-to-VP ratio for adenovirus. Almost complete magnetic sedimentation of the vector after exposure at the developed Nd–Fe–B magnet arrays was achieved at a TransMAG<sup>PEI</sup>:DNA ratio of 2 (w/w) for naked DNA and of 4 for PEI–DNA (N/P=8) polyplexes and DOTAP–cholesterol–DNA lipoplexes.

Tai et al. [56] synthesized monodispersed maghemite nanoparticles with an average size of  $4\pm0.8$  nm by thermolysis of the organic precursor, modified the particles with PEI coating and associated the resulting 100-200 nm clusters with a retroviral vector. This resulted in considerably improved and localized transduction confined to the area of magnetic field application. The authors claimed that the ratio of PEI-modified MNPs and vectors "is not critical". In our approach to find optimal magnetic vector formulations for plasmid, siRNA and viral vector delivery (examples of the data are shown in Fig. 5), we have aimed at maximal association with the magnetic component but avoiding an excess of magnetic particles. We have learned that an excess of magnetic nanoparticles can inhibit transfection/transduction efficiency and cause toxicity [55,83]. Optimal MNPs-to-nucleic acid ratios (about 0.5–1 units of iron weight per unit of the nucleic acid weight for triplexes with an enhancer) as well as MNPs-to-virus ratios (2.5-10 fg iron per virus particle further referred to as fg Fe/VP) have turned out

#### Table 1

Characteristics of selected core-shell magnetic nanoparticles suitable for association with gene delivery vectors.

Magnetic nanoparticles	Core composition	Mean iron oxide crystallite size <d>(nm)</d>	Saturation magnetization of the core $M_{s}\ (emu/g\ iron)$	Mean hydrated diameter in water D <sub>h</sub> (nm)	ξ-Potential in water (mV)	Iron content (g Fe/g dry weight)	Reference
CombiMag <sup>a</sup>	Iron oxide	No data	No data	$\begin{array}{c} 96\pm1^{\rm b} \\ 28\pm2 \\ 427\pm90^{\rm b} \\ 542\pm115^{\rm b} \\ 55\pm10 \end{array}$	$+57.2 \pm 1.7$	0.64	[83]
PEI-Mag2	Magnetite	9	62		+55.4 ± 1.6	0.56	[11], [78]
SO-Mag2	Magnetite	11	118		+37.4 ± 1.6	0.50	[75], [83]
ViroMag R/L <sup>a</sup>	Iron oxide	12	No data		+38.4 ± 1.6	0.47	[83]
PalD1-Mag1	Magnetite	8.5	63		-15.6 ± 1.6	0.53	[75], [79]

<sup>a</sup> Commercially available nanoparticles.

<sup>b</sup> Particle assembles.



Fig. 5. Vector association and magnetic sedimentation with magnetic nanoparticles. (a) pDNA association with PEI-Mag2, PL-Mag1 and NDT-Mag1 magnetic nanoparticles in triplexes with Df-Gold (4 µl DF-Gold/1 µg DNA) plotted against magnetic nanoparticle concentration (in terms of iron concentration or iron-to-pDNA w/w ratio). (b) Virus association with PEI-Mag2 magnetic nanonarticles stability of the resulting complexes in 50% FCS, and magnetic sedimentation of the complexes. <sup>125</sup>I-labeled virus and magnetic nanoparticles were mixed in OptiMEM at various nanoparticle-to-virus particle ratios at a final virus concentration after complex assembly of  $2 \times 10^9$  VP/ml and were incubated for 20 min to form the complexes. The resulting complexes were 1-to-1 diluted with OptiMEM or FCS and then incubated for 10 or 30 min before positioning on the 96-magnet plate for 1 h to magnetically sediment the complexes. <sup>125</sup>I radioactivity in the supernatants was measured to quantify the percentage of virus that associated and magnetically sedimented with MNPs. (c) Self-inactivating lentiviral vector association with SO-Mag2 and ViroMag R/L MNPs. Lentivirus particles were mixed with magnetic nanoparticles in RPMI cell culture medium supplemented with 10% FCS at magnetic nanoparticle:physical virus particle ratios from 0.625 to 40 fg Fe/VP and incubated for 20 min to form the complex. The resulting complexes were positioned at the 96-Magnet magnetic plate for 30 min to sediment the complex. The concentration of the virus particles in the supernatants was determined using p24 ELISA to quantify the percentage of virus particles that were associated and magnetically-sedimented with the magnetic nanoparticles.

Panel (a) was reproduced with permission from Inderscience Enterprises Ltd. [79]. Panel (b) was reproduced with permission from ACS Publications: Molecular Pharmaceutics [55]. Panel (c) was from research originally published in Blood. Sanchez-Antequera et al. Magselectofection: an integrated method of nanomagnetic separation and genetic modification of target cells. Blood. 2011;117:e171-e181. © the American Society of Hematology. Reproduced with permission from the American Society of Hematology: Blood [83]. useful for a variety of magnetic nanoparticle types like those presented in Table 1. The complexes formulated in this way were efficient and hardly toxic in delivery of DNA and siRNA [84,85] as well in delivery of adenoviral and lentiviral vectors *in vitro* [11,75,78,79] and ex vivo [83] in cell cultures and primary cells. The detailed protocols for synthesis of the particles as well as for formulation of the magnetic gene delivery complexes with core–shell nanoparticles have been published [11,75,84].

#### 3.3. Characterization of magnetic vector formulations

Hydrodynamic diameter, electrokinetic potential and stability in the presence of the proteins are the characteristics to be determined for the magnetic vector formulations. The data for lipoplexes and selected magnetic lipoplexes at an iron-to-DNA w/w ratio of 0.5:1 prepared in RPMI medium without additives are given in Table 2. The average size of magnetic and non-magnetic transfection complexes with both luciferase and eGFP plasmids varied from about 500 nm to almost 2500 nm. Most of the complexes had a positive net charge, except for the slightly negatively charged magnetic lipoplexes with PL-Mag1 nanoparticles.

We have applied a simple method to evaluate the magnetic responsiveness or magnetophoretic mobility as the average velocity of the complexes [79], magnetic microbubbles [86] or magnetically labeled cells [84] in defined magnetic fields as we have previously described [76,85,87]. In this method, the time course of optical density or turbidity is recorded under exposure to a gradient magnetic field. The average velocity v under a magnetic field gradient is evaluated as  $v = L/t_{0.1}$ . Here, L is the average path of the complex movement perpendicular to the measuring light beam and  $t_{0,1}$  is the time required for a tenfold decrease in optical density. Further calculation of the average magnetic moment M of the magnetic complex and estimation of the number of MNPs N associated with the complex was performed using an approach described in detail by Wilhelm et al. [88], accounting for the hydrodynamic diameter and core size of the complexes and magnetization of the nanoparticles. A similar approach was also applied to evaluate the data on quantitative magnetophoresis of live cells and to derive an estimate of iron loading of magnetically labeled cells [89,90]. The time course of the turbidity of the magnetic lipoplexes, plotted in Fig. 6 [79], shows that 90% of the non-viral magnetic complexes are sedimented within 13.1 min in the applied magnetic field. The derived magnetophoretic mobility of the complexes of 1.3  $\mu$ m s<sup>-1</sup> and the average hydrodynamic diameter of the complexes of 1616 nm allows one to estimate the average magnetic moment of the complex  $(4.4 \times 10^{-15} \text{ A m}^2)$  and the average number of magnetic nanoparticles associated with the complex (36,281 particles per complex) as shown in the Fig. 6. This experimental approach could be useful for experimental estimations of the kinetics of magnetic sedimentation for any new magnetic complex and for choosing the proper

#### Table 2

Characteristics of the lipoplexes and selected magnetic lipoplexes at an iron-to-DNA w/ w ratio of 0.5:1.\*

Complex	Luciferase plasmi	d	GFP plasmid		
	Mean hydrodynamic diameter D (nm)	ξ potential (mV)	Mean hydrodynamic diameter D (nm)	ξ potential (mV)	
DF-Gold/pDNA PL-Mag1/DF-	$\begin{array}{c} 724 \pm 340 \\ 1509 \pm 715 \end{array}$	$+16.9 \pm 4.7$ $-2.5 \pm 3.3$	$693 \pm 391 \\1807 \pm 982$	$+27.1 \pm 1.3$ $-4.8 \pm 2.7$	
Gold/pDNA PEI-Mag2/DF-	$1616\pm798$	$+ 19.2 \pm 3.0$	$790\pm432$	$+25.8\pm0.9$	
Gold/pDNA NDT-Mag1/DF- Cold/pDNA	$1730\pm879$	$+16.5\pm3.2$	$1953\pm1104$	$+21.3 \pm 2.5$	
Pa1D1-Mag1/ DF-Gold/pBLuc	$544 \pm 11.5$	$+28.4 \pm 1.5$	$2462\pm154$	$+27.5\pm3.5$	

Note: \*in RPMI medium without additives.



**Fig. 6.** Time course of the normalized turbidity of the magnetic lipoplexes of PEI-Mag2/ DF-Gold/pBluc (iron-to-plasmid ratio of 0.5:1) upon application of the gradient magnetic fields (average field and field gradient of 213 mT and  $4 \text{ Tm}^{-1}$ ) and derived magnetic responsiveness v, average magnetic moment of the complex  $M_{213mT}$  in the applied fields and average number of magnetic nanoparticles *n* associated with each complex, accounting for the effective magnetic moment of the core of the insulated particle  $m_{eff}$ .

Reproduced with permission from Inderscience Publishers: Int. J. Biomedical Nanoscience and Nanotechnology [79].

parameters of the magnetic field and exposition necessary to achieve full sedimentation of the complex or to fulfill magnetic targeting.

Magnetic lipoplexes that were relatively large (from about 500 nm up to 2 µm) in comparison to non-magnetic lipoplexes (about 700 nm) with surface charges ranging from slightly negative to positive (about +25 eV) when measured in the absence of serum (Table 2) transfected Jurkat T cells with high efficiency (up to 27% of the Jurkat T cells were eGFP-positive as detected by fluorescenceactivated cell sorting with correction for weak fluorescence of the lipid enhancer), while maintaining the viability of the cells. The net charge of the complexes which turns to slightly negative in serumcontaining medium did not affect the internalization or the final gene expression level. A conversion from positive to negative zeta potential in serum-containing medium is also observed with magnetic complexes of adenovirus (data shown in Table 4). According to magnetophoretic mobility measurements, 30,000-40,000 MNPs were associated with the lipid component and plasmid in a complex, resulting in an average magnetic moment at the saturation of magnetization of about  $(4-5) \times 10^{-15}$  A m<sup>2</sup>. Some observations on the role of the size of the lipoplexes for their transfection efficiency can be found in previous literature. Ogris et al. [91] reported that aggregated DNA/Tf-PEI complexes with an average size larger than 500 nm resulted in more efficient gene transfer than did smaller particles. Ross and Hui [92] provided evidence that the size of DOTAP/DOPE lipoplexes was the major determinant of the internalization and transfection efficiency and found the largest complexes of 2.2 µm to be the most efficient in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Li et al. [93] found size and not surface charge to be a major determinant of the in vitro lipofection efficiency of a cationic lipid-pDNA complex. We did not observe a direct relationship between the size of the complex and transfection efficiency, but complexes as large as 2 µm can deliver genes very efficiently. Nevertheless, complexes with an average hydrodynamic diameter of about 900 nm can also be very efficient, like those formulated with the PEI-Mag2 nanoparticles. These results indicated that the size and charge of the magnetic vectors tested here were not of critical importance for gene delivery to Jurkat T cells. Apparently, fine differences in the composition of the surface layer of the particles cause more significant differences in the efficiency of the derived magnetic lipoplexes, as observed for the NDT-Mag1, PEI-Mag1, PalD1-Mag1 and PL-Mag1 particles.

The siRNA magnetic vectors optimized for siRNA delivery in cell cultures (Table 3) had hydrodynamic diameters of 300 to 600 nm, positive electrokinetic potential for triplexes and comprised 2000 to 5000 insulated magnetic nanoparticles (i.e., magnetite crystallites), as determined from magnetic responsiveness measurements.

The most effective formulations for gene silencing in the experiments shown in Fig. 7 were vectors comprising siRNAs with Silence-Mag (OZ BioSceinces,), PEI-modified magnetic nanoparticles or PalD1-Mag1 with PEI or Metafectene (Biontex) as enhancers. Up to 90% silencing of reporter protein expression in HeLa cells was achieved using magnetic siRNA delivery vectors at administered siRNA concentrations as low as 8 nM (Fig. 7) [76,78]. To investigate the interaction of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) with caveolin-1 (Cav-1) in modulation of endothelial function, human umbilical vein endothelial cells were transfected with 20 nM Cav-1 siRNA in PEI-Mag2/PEI/siRNA complexes (particles to siRNA ratio of 2:1, w/w; N/P ratio of 10) and succeeded in ~80% decrease in Cav-1 expression levels [94].

Argawal et al. [95] synthesized cross-linked dextran coated iron oxide nanoparticles and further modified these particles by coupling of cationic dendrimers. In transmission electron microscopy, the particles were found to adopt a worm shape, where multiple 5–8 nm iron oxide cores were "lined in a series". The authors called the chain aggregates of this particles "dendriworms". The net charge and the average hydrodynamic diameter of the dendriworms were found to be +16-24 mV (zeta-potential measurement in PBS) and between 80 and 110 nm, respectively. Roughly 9-10 siRNA molecules were bound per each iron core in the dendriworm. For 5-8 nm magnetite particles, the average particle weight in terms of iron weight with account for magnetite density of 5.2 g/cm<sup>3</sup> is about  $6.3 \times 10^{-19}$  g iron/particle. Ten siRNA molecules bound per iron oxide nanoparticle in a dendriworm formulation corresponds with account for the average siRNA molecular weight of 13,000 g/mol to  $2.2 \times 10^{-19}$  g siRNA associated with  $6.3 \times 10^{-19}$  g iron or to an iron-to-siRNA ratio of 2.8-to-1 (w/w). Almost 80% downregulation of EGFR protein expression in human primary glioblastoma cells (GBM-6) was achieved when 200 nM EGFR siRNA was applied in a formulation with dendriworms. Significant suppression of EGFR expression levels was achieved with this formulation in a transgenic mouse model of glioblastoma.

The results on self-assembly of adenovirus and PEI-Mag2 particles [55,96] provide an evidence of high association of the virus with magnetic nanoparticles and high stability in the presence of 50% FCS for both the complexes assembled in OptiMEM and in PBS in the range of particle-to-virus ratios of 2.5–10 fg of Fe/VP (Fig. 5b).

The stability of the complexes is reduced in 50% FCS. However, about 60% of virus was still magnetically sedimented in the range of 1.25-40 fg of Fe/VP after 30 min incubation in the presence of 50% FCS. The complex formation results in a shift of the zeta potential from negative for a free virus (Table 4, 0 fg Fe/VP) to positive with a plateau at about +20.0 mV at a magnetic particle-to-virus ratio above 10 fg of Fe/VP. The magnetic moments of the complexes calculated from their average velocities in a magnetophoretic mobility assay allowed us to calculate an estimate of the MNP-to-virus ratio in the complex (Table 4). The calculated 3600 to 4500 MNPs per virus particle for the optimized complex composition and the measured hydrodynamic diameter of about 200 nm suggest that 3-4 layers of densely packed magnetite crystallites are arranged around a virus particle due to electrostatic interactions and possibly due to magnetic dipole-dipole interactions between the magnetic particles. Both AFM and TEM images confirm that the adenovirus was associated with PEI-Mag2 nanoparticles (Fig. 8).

The structural integrity of the virus was not impaired by its association with MNPs. Taken together, the magnetophoretic mobility measurements, particle sizing, AFM and TEM suggest a model where multiple layers of magnetite crystallites are associated with virus particles and where several virus particles can be linked by MNPs. An important issue is that the association of the virus with PEI-Mag2 nanoparticles did not interfere with the oncolytic activity

Table 3
Characteristics of selected siRNA magnetic complexes. Mf stands for Metafectene (Biontex).
Reproduced with permission from Humana Press: Methods in Molecular Biology [76].

Complex	Iron-to-siRNA w/w ratio	ξ-Potential (mV)	Mean hydrated diameter D (nm)	Efficient velocity in magnetic fields <sup>a</sup> $v_z$ (µm/s)	Average magnetic moment of the complex $M^{a}$ (10 <sup>-16</sup> A m <sup>2</sup> )	Number of magnetic particles in a complex $N = M/m_{eff}$
Duplexes						
PEI/siRNA	-	$+15.2\pm1.8$	$413 \pm 190$	_	-	
Mf/siRNA	-	$+36.1\pm9.7$	$283 \pm 133$	-	_	
PEI-Mag2/siRNA	1:1	$-14.0\pm0.8$	$685 \pm 242$	1.2	17.2	20,483
PEI-Mag2/siRNA	2:1	$-10.1\pm1.2$	736	1.96	30.2	35,946
Triplexes						
PEI-Mag2/PEI/siRNA	0.5:1	$+2.0\pm4$	$394 \pm 70$	1.19	9.5	11,290
PalD1-Mag1/PEI/siRNA	0.5:1	$+7.2\pm1.5$	$370 \pm 115$	1.49	11.6	15,895
PEI-Mag2/Mf/siRNA	0.5:1	$36.4\pm3.8$	$210\pm86$	0.86	3.8	4500
PalD1-Mag1/Mf/siRNA	0.5:1	$+12\pm6.3$	$326 \pm 175$	0.72	30.2	12,181

<sup>a</sup> Determined at <B>=213 mT and gradient B of 4 T/m.

*in vitro* but rather had a slight enhancing effect even without magnetic field application. The observed virus uptake was independent of the CAR expression of cells.

Recently Kamei et al. [97] have prepared gold/iron-oxide magnetic nanoparticles ("*GoldMAN*") by precipitating Au particles in the presence of  $\gamma$ -Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> nanoparticles with an average diameter of 26 nm. The resulting GoldMAN had a D<sub>h</sub> of about 240 nm. When associated with adenovirus vector, a saturation of the virus binding occurred at about 6 fg GoldMAN per VP. The complexes were stable for an extended period in 100% fetal bovine serum. The complexes formulated at 10 fg GoldMAN/VP were highly efficient in transduction of B16BL6 CAR(-) mouse melanoma cells but only in the presence of a magnetic field. Cell entry of Ad-Luc/GoldMAN was found to be

CAR-independent "due to the intrinsic properties of the particles". The authors speculated that coupling occurs between the particles and active groups at the virus surface.

Ito et al. [62] modified commercial magnetite nanoparticles with an average particle size of 10 nm with liposomes consisting of N-(trimethylammonioacetyl)-dodecyl-D-glutamate chloride, dilauroylphosphatidyl-choline, and dioleylphosphatidyl-ethanolamine (1:2:2, in molar ratio). The resulting magnetic cationic liposomes or MCLs had zeta-potential of +46.3 mV comparable with the poly (ethylene imine)-coated TransMag<sup>PEI</sup> and PEI-Mag2 nanoparticles (described in Table 1) and an average hydrodynamic diameter of 150 nm. They applied 0.01–1 mg MCLs/ml crude virus preparation and concentrated magnetically the virus associated with the particles.



**Fig. 7.** Magnetofection versus lipofection and polyfection efficiency in HeLa-GFP cells. (a) GFP stably transfected HeLa cells (HeLa-GFP cells) were seeded in a 96-well plate and 24 h later transfected with a 200  $\mu$ l transfection volume of the magnetic anti-GFP-siRNA complexes prepared with 0.5  $\mu$ l of SilenceMag (OZ Biosciences) at different concentrations of siRNA or PEI/siRNA and Mf/siRNA poly- and lipoplexes, or magnetic duplexes PEI-Mag2/siRNA (Iron-to-siRNA ratio of 1) or magnetic triplexes PEI-Mag2/PEI/siRNA, PL-Mag1/Mf/ siRNA, and PalD1/Mf/siRNA (iron-to-siRNA ratio of 0.5 to 1) (Mf-to-siRNA vol/wt ratio of 4, PEI-to-siRNA ratio N/P = 10). GFP expression was monitored 72 h post-transfection. (b) GFP expression was monitored 72 h post-transfection by fluorescence microscopy in HeLa-GFP cells transfected with HeLa-GFP cells transfected with SilenceMag as shown in (a) at 1, 5, or 10 nM siRNA. The results show that magnetofection results in significantly lower expression levels of the GFP (i.e., more efficient target gene down-regulation) compared to lipo- or polyfection with the same vector type. Efficiency of the PEI-Mag2/PEI/siRNA complexes is comparable with that of a magnetofection-based formulation of OZ Biosciences called SilenceMag at an iron-to-siRNA ratio of 0.5:1.

Reproduced with permission from Humana Press: Methods in Molecular Biology [76].

#### Table 4

Physicochemical characteristics of the complexes of adenovirus Ad520 with PEI-Mag2 magnetic nanoparticles. Reproduced with permission from ACS Publications: Molecular Pharmaceutics [55].

Nanoparticle-to-virus ratio at complex preparation		Zeta potential, ξ (mV)								
fg of Fe/VP	MNP/VP	Mean hydrodynamic diameter, <i>D<sub>h</sub></i> (nm) <sup>a</sup>	Polydispersity index, Pl <sup>a</sup>	In OptiMEM or PBS <sup>a</sup>	In cell culture medium <sup>a,b</sup>	av velocity, υ <sub>z</sub> (μm/s) <sup>c,d</sup>	Magnetic moment, $M (10^{-16} \text{ A m}^2)^c$	No. of MNPs associated with complex		
Complexes assembled in OptiMEM at virus concentration of $5.4 \times 10^8$ VP/ml										
0	0	$159 \pm 12$	0.46	$-18.0\pm3.7$	$-5.6\pm2.8$					
2.5	1736	$438\pm219$	0.50	$+5.0\pm0.4$	$-9.8\pm1.6$	1.41	12.9	14,961		
5	3472	$288\pm65$	0.25	$+15.1\pm1.7$	$-9.2\pm0.7$	0.87	4.1	4778		
10	6944	$206 \pm 36$	0.18	$+18.9\pm1.2$	$-8.3\pm1.1$	0.86	3.7	4283		
20	13,889	$192 \pm 9$	0.11	$+21.5\pm1.7$	$-6.3\pm1.1$	0.95	3.8	4407		
40	27,778	$298 \pm 141$	0.26	$+21.9\pm3.2$	$+0.3\pm3.7$	1.02	6.4	7371		
Complexes assembled in PBS at virus concentration of $2.1 \times 10^9$ VP/ml										
0	0	$200 \pm 50$	0.49	$-9.1\pm1.3$	$-6.0\pm1.2$					
0.625	434	$354\pm44$	0.27	$-3.8\pm0.6$	$-8.8\pm0.8$	0.22	5.5	6404		
1.25	868	$666 \pm 83$	0.26	$+3.2\pm0.8$	$-9.2\pm0.4$	0.35	4.9	5689		
2.5	1736	$186\pm23$	0.25	$+16.1\pm1.0$	$-7.3\pm0.2$	0.39	2.5	2847		
5	3472	$220\pm55$	0.24	$+17.1\pm0.9$	$-8.0\pm0.6$	0.55	3.1	3612		
10	6944	$246\pm29$	0.23	$+14.7\pm0.8$	$-7.1\pm0.3$	0.85	3.9	4484		
20	13,889	$249\pm76$	0.25	$+17.4\pm1.1$	$-6.5\pm0.4$	0.95	5.9	6844		
40	27,778	$319\pm56$	0.27	$+16.9\pm0.6$	$-5.3\pm0.1$	1.39	3.7	4297		

<sup>a</sup> Mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 50).

<sup>b</sup> Measured after 4-fold dilution of the complex with full cell culture medium containing 10% FCS.

<sup>c</sup> Measured at B-average of 213 mT

<sup>d</sup> Measured at  $\nabla$ B-average of 4 T/m.

This resulted in up to 55-fold increase in the virus titer. The magnetic virus was efficient in transducing neuro2A mouse neuroblastoma cells. Localization of the transduction area due to application of the magnetic field was possible. The observation was also made that an excess of magnetic particles (1 mg per milliliter crude virus preparation) decreased the efficiency of virus titer concentration showing that there is an optimum ratio of magnetic particles-to-virus.

#### 3.4. Covalent coupling of the vector and magnetic nanoparticles

Covalent coupling of the vector and magnetic nanoparticles is used relatively rarely. Medarova et al. have described multimodal iron oxide magnetic nanoparticles for siRNA delivery *in vivo* [23,98]. The dextrancoated aminated nanoparticles were covalently coupled to a near-infrared fluorescent probe Cy5.5, siRNA (anti-GFP or anti-survivin) and



**Fig. 8.** Morphology of oncolytic adenovirus magnetic complexes. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) data (top panel) and atomic force microscopy (AFM) 3D images and contour plots (bottom panel) of the PEI-Mag2 magnetic nanoparticles, oncolytic adenovirus Ad520, and Ad520 magnetic complexes prepared at 5 fg of Fe/VP. The inset in the upper right TEM image of magnetic virus complexes shows an electron diffraction pattern from MNPs associated with the virus. Scale bars are 50 nm for the TEM image of the particles and 200 nm for the TEM images of the virus and its magnetic complexes. Average diameter <D> of the MNPs, virus particles, and their magnetic complexes (mean  $\pm$  SD) evaluated from TEM and AFM data are shown in the figure.

Reproduced with permission from ACS Publications: Molecular pharmaceutics [55].

myristoylated polyarginine peptides (MPAPs). MPAPs served as membrane translocation modules while Cy5.5 allowed for optical imaging. On average, one nanoparticle carried three Cy5.5, four MPAP and five siRNA molecules. Passive accumulation and functional delivery of siRNA to tumor tissue was achieved in tumors using these nanoparticles following intravenous administration in mice. However, the magnetic properties of the nanoparticles were not exploited for magnetic targeting or magnetic field-enhanced transfection, but rather to serve as contrast agents for MRI.

Huh et al. [99] covalently coupled manganese–iron nanoparticles stabilized with 2,3-dimercaptosuccinic acid with a core of 12 nm to capsid lysine residues of adenoviruses activated with sulfo-succinimidyl(4-N-maleimidomethyl)cyclohexane-1-carboxylate. The conjugates kept intrinsic high and low adenovirus infectivity in CAR-positive and CAR-negative cells, respectively. Everts et al. covalently coupled sulfo-N-hydroxysuccinimide labeled gold nanoparticles to adenoviral vectors. Virus infectivity was maintained with loading up to 100 gold particles per virus particle, whereas higher loading inhibited transduction efficiency [100]. Lentiviral vectors metabolically labeled with biotin had a high affinity for streptavidin magnetic particles and, once captured, were easily manipulated *in vitro*. This is illustrated by the concentration of lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with either the VSV-G or an amphotropic envelope in excess of 4500-fold [101].

#### 4. Mechanisms of magnetofection

A first study by Huth et al. published in 2003 has indicated that there are probably no fundamental mechanistic differences between magnetofection and gene delivery with analogous non-magnetic vectors [102]. In their study, they used magnetic and non-magnetic complexes of plasmid DNA with poly(ethylene imine) (PEI), the transfection reagent which is most frequently used among the cationic polymers. The magnetic complexes used in this study consisted of PEI, DNA and PEI-coated iron oxide magnetic nanoparticles and were assembled by salt-induced aggregation [19]. After binding to the cell surface, non-magnetic PEI-DNA complexes are internalized into intracellular vesicles called endosomes by the natural uptake process of endocytosis. Escape from endosomes is thought to be essential for functional nucleic acid delivery because otherwise vectors would be degraded by the cellular breakdown machinery [103]. PEI-DNA complexes are thought to escape due to the so-called proton sponge effect [104]. PEI by virtue of its secondary and tertiary amines has buffering capacity at physiological pH. In consequence, if a PEI-DNA particle is internalized into cells by endocytosis it will buffer the natural acidification process within endosomes. This means that the endosomal proton pump needs to pump way more protons into the endosome until the natural acidic endosomal pH is reached. The "proton sponge hypothesis" postulates enhanced gene delivery due to the buffering capacity of polymers with structural features like PEI through enhanced endosomal chloride accumulation, concomitant influx of water and consequent osmotic swelling/lysis. Sonawane et al. have provided experimental evidence supporting this hypothesis [105]. Huth et al. have used electron microscopy and various inhibitors of endocytotic uptake to figure out whether magnetofection with PEI-DNA complexes might proceed via a non-endocytotic pathway. They also used centrifugation to sediment magnetic and standard vectors on the cell surfaces and found that the subsequent application of a magnetic field did not lead to a further increase in gene transfer efficiency. The conclusion from this study was that the uptake mechanism of magnetic PEI-DNA is virtually the same as for standard PEI-DNA. This is in line with the results of mechanistic experiments which Namgung et al. have carried out recently with different PEI-coated magnetic nanoparticles [60]. A recent study by Sauer et al. on magnetic lipoplexes using single particle tracking came to the same conclusion [106]. Similar as with non-magnetic PEI polyplexes [107], they observed a three phase behavior. In phase I, the magnetic lipoplexes attach to the cell surface and show slow cooperative transport. The majority of lipoplexes are internalized via endocytosis during this phase. Phase II is characterized by anomalous and confined diffusion inside cells. Phase III represents active transport along microtubules inside the cell. At later time points, the formation of a perinuclear ring was observed. Persisting colocalization of fluid phase marker and lipoplexes after 24 h indicated slow endosomal release [106]. Perinuclear accumulation has also been observed in a previous study by Li et al. [108].

Two very thorough recent studies by Arsianti et al. provide further mechanistic insights [109,110], in particular concerning the importance of biophysical properties of magnetic vectors for their efficiency in gene delivery. These authors also used triplexes of PEI, DNA and iron oxide magnetic nanoparticles. The MNP were synthesized in a different manner than in our own setup but were also provided with a PEI coating in one of the examined cases. Arsianti's findings indicate that the major uptake pathway of the vectors is endocytosis via clathrin coated pits rather than via a caveolae-dependent pathway or via macropinocytosis. The mixing order of vector components has an important impact on the resulting biophysical properties (size, zeta potential). The surface characteristics influence the aggregation behavior and the adsorption of serum proteins, the timing and the extent of vector uptake and the intracellular processing. In brief, when the three components (PEI, DNA, magnetic nanoparticles) are assembled in a manner such that PEI is displayed on the particle surface (positive zeta potential in water), serum proteins will adsorb, reverse the surface charge and eventually re-disperse compositions that were previously aggregated [109]. From this, one can conclude that it is essential to characterize vectors in the context of the biological surrounding which they will encounter during the nucleic acid delivery process. Compositions with PEI on the surface displayed rapid uptake, were released from endo/lysosomes and were most effective in gene delivery. Compositions with DNA on the surface (negative zeta potential in water) were also taken up into cells but at a low rate. Endo/lysosomal release and consequently functional gene delivery were inefficient [109]. Hence, it does matter which components are chosen to construct a magnetic vector and how they are assembled. Uptake alone is not sufficient for functional nucleic acid delivery. An efficient magnetic vector requires functional modules for "productive" intracellular processing and these modules need to be displayed in the right configuration. Arsianti's study highlights a further important aspect: those vector compositions which were most competent in functional gene delivery were also the most toxic ones. However, this is common to many nonviral delivery systems, especially those comprising PEI [111]. Toxicity is a question of vector dose, the coating of magnetic particles and especially of the transfection reagent chosen for assembling magnetic vectors. We have shown that highly efficient and rather non-toxic vectors can be obtained with magnetic lipoplexes [78].

In a most recent study, again with PEI-coated magnetic nanoparticles of different sizes assembled with DNA, Ang et al. show that at a given relatively high vector dose the magnetic flux density applied during 20 min magnetofection plays a role with respect to transfection efficiency and cell viability [112]. However, these observations are probably due to the fraction of the high (and toxic) vector dose which became magnetically sedimented on the cells during the incubation time rather than to a potential toxicity of the magnetic field.

Based on the published literature, one can conclude that for nonviral magnetofection under static field conditions the involved delivery mechanisms from the cell surface into cells do not differ from non-magnetic nucleic acid delivery. Improved dose–response relationships and accelerated transfection kinetics appear to be entirely due to the rapid sedimentation of the full applied vector dose to the target cell surface within a few minutes. The diffusion barrier which exists for vector particles which are too small to sediment by gravitational force [6] is overcome, in accordance with model calculations by Furlani and Ng

[113]. An increased vector dose at the cell surface results in an increased internalized dose within a given time period, unless uptake processes become saturated (Fig. 9) [75,76,79]. This alone can, but does not necessarily lead to improved functional nucleic acid delivery. Therefore, in order to classify vector compositions in terms of efficacy, it will be useful to normalize the observed effects (e.g. reporter gene expression, percentage of transfected cells, extent of gene silencing) to the internalized nucleic acid or virus dose. This will be a true measure of the quality of a vector composition.

In terms of mechanisms, there is a peculiarity with non-magnetic and magnetic adenoviruses. The natural infectivity of the virus is governed by the presence or absence of receptors which the virus needs to bind to cells such as the coxsackie and adenovirus receptor (CAR). In the absence of the required receptors, the virus will not infect, unless it is decorated with some additional binding module. Magnetic nanoparticles can be provide this function and magnetofection can enforce infection even in the absence of virus receptors [14,39,55,66]. It is assumed that the intrinsic mechanism of adenoviral infection is not



**Fig. 9.** Internalization of magnetic vectors. (a) HeLa-GFP cells were incubated for 30 min at the magnetic plate with PEI-Mag2/PEI/GFP-siRNA-Alexa555 triplexes at siRNA concentration of 100 ng/10,000 cells/0.33 cm<sup>2</sup>; iron-to-siRNA wt/wt ratio of 0.5, PEI/siRNA ratio of N/P = 10 and observed after 48 h with a fluorescence microscope. Bar = 50 µm. Hoechst 33342 was used as a nuclear counterstain. The pictures show fluorescence images taken at 490/509 nm (green fluorescence) for GFP fluorescence, 510/650 nm (red fluorescence) for GFP-siRNA-Alexa555 and at 350/461 nm (blue fluorescence) for Hoechst 33342 nuclear staining, or overlays thereof. Fluorescence microscopy data prove the association of the magnetic transfection complexes with a majority of the cells and are indicative of internalization into cells. Fluorescently labeled siRNA triplexes comprising magnetic nanoparticles appear to be localized predominantly around the nuclei. (b) Vector internalization in HeLa human cervical epithelial adenocarcinoma cells and H441 human lung epithelial cells. The cells were transfected in a 96-well plate using <sup>125</sup>I-labeled siRNA complexes. The siRNA dose was 100 ng per well. At time points 0.5 h, 1 h, 3 h, and 24 h post-transfection the cells were incubated with heparin solution in the presence of sodium azide to remove extracellularly bound complexes, washed, trypsinized, and collected. Cell-associated radio-activity was measured with a gamma counter. The applied dose of the radioactiviely labeled siRNA complexes was used as a reference. The results were recalculated in terms of the siRNA molecules internalized per seeded cell. (c) Oncolytic adenovirus Ad520 uptake in multidrug resistant 181RDB-fluc cells as a function of the applied virus dose. 181RDB-fluc cells were infected with <sup>125</sup>I-labeled Ad520 or its magnetic virus complexes with PEI-Mag2 nanoparticles in 7.5% FCS-containing cell culture medium for 30 min. The complexes were prepared at ratios of 5 and 40 fg Fe/VP in OptiMEM. Six hours post-infection, the inf

Panel (a) was reproduced with permission from Thomson Reuters (Scientific) Ltd: Curr Opin Mol Ther. [85]; panel (b) was reproduced with permission from Humana Press: Meth Mol Biol [76]; and panel (c) was reproduced with permission from ACS Publications: Molecular pharmaceutics [55].

changed by magnetofection. The important impact is that by simple association with magnetic nanoparticles the virus can be enabled for therapeutic applications where its efficacy would be limited otherwise [55]. A similar enablement of viral infection in non-permissive cells by magnetofection was observed by Kadota et al. with measles virus [57].

Despite the conclusion that cellular uptake processes are likely the same for magnetic and nonmagnetic vectors in most cases, there is some evidence that magnetic field influence can enhance the tissue penetration of magnetic particles [114], magnetic cells [115] and magnetic vectors [116]. Muthana et al. have established an *in vitro* model for assessing monocyte extravasation into 3D tumor spheroids through an endothelial cell layer [115]. They have shown that transfected, magnetic particle-loaded monocytes can be induced by magnetic force to migrate through an endothelial layer and to penetrate into tumor spheroids (Fig. 10). Similarly, Zhang et al. have cultured cells in a 3D collagen matrix and have shown that magnetic vectors penetrate the matrix under magnetic field influence and transfect cells [116]. In this context it is interesting to note that according to studies by MacDonald et al. a time-varied magnetic field enhances

the transport of magnetic nanoparticles in a viscous gel (Fig. 10) [117].

In this respect, nucleic acid delivery under the influence of alternating or pulsating fields deserves increased interest. Several publications indicate that non-static fields can be useful to further improve the efficiency of magnetofection. The earliest observations in this respect were from Kamau et al. [118]. They used a magnetic device (the so-called Dynamic Marker) which produces a relatively complex pulsating field with a sinus type wave perpendicular to the cell culture plate overlayed with a field modulation in the plane of the cell culture plate at low frequency. The authors speculate that such alternating fields may cause some oscillation of magnetic particles which may facilitate cellular uptake when the particles are bound to cell surfaces. What really happens is not understood. In any case, using this technique, Kamau et al. achieved quite substantial improvements in the percentage of transfected cells in a variety of cell lines. A combination of pre-magnetization with a permanent field followed by application of the dynamic field resulted in synergistic enhancements. The same group has extended their work and reports on the transfection of primary synoviocytes,



**Fig. 10.** (a) Scheme of delivery of magnetic nanoscale transfection complexes into collagen-based 3D cell cultures. (b) The format of a new, *in vitro* extravasation assay. Human monocytes migrate across an endothelial cell layer into tumor spheroids. Transwell inserts with a 3 mM-pore PET membrane were coated with human dermal microvascular endothelial cells (HuDMECs) and positioned in 24-well plates. Tumor spheroids of 700–800 µm in diameter were generated in non-adherent cultures of the human breast tumor cell line, T47D, and added to the lower chamber of the transwell. One million monocytes pre-loaded with magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) were then placed in the upper chamber, in the presence/absence of a magnetic field applied underneath (to attract MNP-loaded monocytes across the HuDMEC layer into spheroids); (c-g) Magnetic enhancement of migration of green fluorescent protein (GFP)-transfected monocytes across an endothelial cell layer and into breast tumor spheroids *in vitro*. Human monocytes were transfected with the reporter plasmid, "pmaxGFP" (using the Amaxa Biosystem Macrophage Nucleofection Kit) and loaded with MNPs. This routinely resulted in >50% of cells expressing GFP as detected by (c) fluorescent microscopy and (d) flow cytometry. These cells were then placed in the upper chamber of the full transwell migration assay with or without a magnet underneath for the duration of the experiment and spheroids sampled 24 h later. Monocytes were seen in tumor spheroids: (e), CD68+ monocytes seen in transverse sections of spheroids (brown cells–see arrows; blue = haematoxylin staining of all cell nuclei; N = typical necrotic center of spheroids revealed the number of MNP-loaded, GFP + monocyte infiltrating spheroids (% of all cells present in spheroids that were GFP+) was significantly (\*P<0.006) increased when a magnet was applied in the assay. Data are means  $\pm$  s.e.m. and are representative of eight replicate experiments.

Panel (a) was reproduced with permission from American Chemical Society: ACS Nano [116]; panels (b) to (g) were reproduced with permission from Nature Publishing Group: Gene Therapy [115].

chondrocytes, osteoblasts, melanocytes, macrophages, lung fibroblasts, and embryonic fibroblasts [119].

Chen et al. have used a different setup with pulsed magnetic fields (0.6 T) of millisecond duration for rapid transfection of adherent and suspension cells [120].

A pulsating field has been used also in a magneto-transformation method for transferring plasmid DNA into *Escherichia coli* [121]. Plasmid DNA was attached to PEI-coated magnetic nanoparticles. The highest transformation efficiency was achieved by pulsing three times with 2.15 T magnetic field. The transformation efficiency and cell viability was dependent on the magnetic particle and DNA dose as well as on the number of magnetic field pulses.

A different and convenient method to produce dynamic fields has been developed by Jon Dobson's group [122]. In conventional magnetofection, cells are incubated with magnetic vectors while the cell culture plate is positioned on a magnetic array which produces a static gradient field [14]. With Dobson's device which is commercially available now (www.nanotherics.com), this magnetic array "wobbles" in the x-y plane at low frequency (1–5 Hz) below the cell culture plate at a suitable amplitude (200 µm has turned out useful). Under optimized conditions, substantial enhancements in transfection efficiency can be achieved [122,123]. Pickard and Chari have shown that this system provides considerable enhancements in magnetofection of primary astrocytes [123]. Currently, the underlying mechanisms are not well understood. But one can guess that the lateral movement of the magnetic field transmits mechanical forces to cellular membranes via the magnetic vectors associated with these membranes. Mechanical stimuli can have effects on cellular membrane traffic including endo- and exocytosis [124]. In this context it is interesting to note that magnetic actuation of cellular processes is a hot research topic [73,125,126]. Mannix et al. have shown that magnetic beads decorated with a specific receptor ligand can be exploited to trigger, via magnetic induction of receptor clustering, a signaling process in mast cells which is involved in immune surveillance [125]. In this particular case, receptor clustering leads to a rapid rise in intracellular calcium. It is known, that calcium plays an important role in endosomal/lysosomal fusion processes [127]. Future research will need to find out how exactly alternating fields can influence magnetofection processes.

#### 5. Magnetic cell labeling and magnetofection

For some applications of genetically engineered cells, one of the appealing features of magnetofection is that it necessarily produces magnetically labeled cells. Thus, magnetofected cells offer the opportunity to be positioned by magnetic force [53,128] and to be tracked by MRI as well as by optical imaging by virtue of the expression of reporter genes such as the luciferase or fluorescent protein genes [129-131]. One of the advantages of reporter gene imaging is that only viable cells will produce the reporter signal [130,131]. Quantifying the internalization of magnetic vectors, we have found that various cell types easily incorporate 1-5 pg of iron per cell during magnetofection at applied vector doses corresponding to as little as 10 pg iron per cell [55,94,96]. With account for the saturation magnetization of the PEI-Mag2 magnetic nanoparticles used in our studies (62 emu/g Fe), the internalization of 5 pg Fe/cell would result in a magnetic moment of  $0.31 \times 10^{-9}$  emu per cell. For comparison, Polyak et al. were able to magnetically target bovine aortic endothelial cells loaded with polymeric superparamagnetic nanoparticles with a resulting magnetic moment of about  $0.2 \times 10^{-9}$  emu/cell to steel stent wires [128]. Sufficient sensitivity to be detected by cardiac MRI has been achieved with 10<sup>5</sup> cells having incorporated picogram quantities of iron oxide [131,132].

Evidently, cells having incorporated even more magnetic material than achievable under standard magnetofection conditions would be useful for improving magnetic cell positioning and engraftment or detection by MRI. Therefore, we were wondering whether preloading of cells with magnetic nanoparticles interferes with magnetofection efficiency [84]. Thus, we pre-loaded H441 cells with NDT-Mag1 magnetic nanoparticles (see Table 1 and Fig. 11). The internalized 38 pg of iron per cell gave rise to a magnetic moment of  $0.8 \times 10^{-12}$  A m<sup>2</sup> =  $0.8 \times 10^{-9}$  emu per cell which was sufficient to engraft the cells onto the luminal surface of a tube in a radial magnetic field. Subsequently, the MNP-labeled cells were magnetofected with nonviral vectors associated with PEI-Mag2 magnetic nanoparticles in the radial magnetic field. A similar experiment was carried out in standard 2D culture format. The magnetic pre-labeling of the cells did not interfere with but even increased the efficiency of magnetofection without causing toxicity (Fig. 12). The cell labeling with NDT-Mag1 MNPs resulted in high transverse relaxivities  $r^{2*}$  of 410  $\pm$  $70 \text{ mM}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ . In this manner, multi-echo gradient echo imaging and R<sup>2</sup>\* mapping detected as few as ca. 1500 MNP-labeled H441 cells localized within a 50 µl fibrin clot as well as MNP-labeled cell monolayers that were engrafted on the luminal surface of a cell culture tube using the radial magnetic field mentioned above.

The enhancement of magnetofection efficiency by pre-loading of cells with MNPs was confirmed in another experiment with mesenchymal-like stem cells isolated from the umbilical cord. Pre-loading at an internalized dose of 50 pg Fe/cell resulted in a two-fold increase in transduction efficiency compared to the cells labeled just before magselectofection with CD105 MicroBeads [83]. The enhancement



**Fig. 11.** Magnetic labeling of H441 cells. (a) The iron content per cell or particles per cell for associated (internalized) MNPs versus the applied iron dose per cell according to the chemical analysis for non-heme iron after 24 h incubation with NDT-Mag1 iron oxide nanoparticles. The non-heme iron content in untreated cells was  $0.29 \pm 0.15$  pg/cell. (b) The magnetic responsiveness and the average magnetic moment of the cells ( $M_{cell}$ ) plotted against the associated iron concentration.

Reproduced with permission from American Scientific Publishers: J. Biomed. Nanotechnol. [84].



**Fig. 12.** Magnetofection efficiency of the MNP-labeled cells in a 2D array and a 3D cell culture system. (a) Transfection efficiency of the H441, HeLa, and 3T3 cells 48 h after magnetofection in a 2D cell array with the PEI-Mag2/DFGold/eGFP plasmid at an iron-to-plasmid ratio (w/w) of 0.5-to-1 and a DF-Gold-to-plasmid ratio (v/w) of 4-to-1 for the unlabeled cells and the cells labeled with NDT-Mag1 MNPs. The exogenous iron content per cell when seeding the cells 24 h prior to transfection is shown above the curves. (b) Microscopy images of the H441 cells, pre-labeled with NDT-Mag1 MNPs, 48 h after magnetofection with a PEI-Mag2/DF-Gold/galactosidase plasmid followed by staining for galactosidase within a 2D array and 3D cell culture system (bar = 200 nm). (c) The percentage of eGFP positive cells 48 h after magnetofection with the PEI-Mag2/DF-Gold/eGFP plasmid for unlabeled cells and cells labeled with NDT-Mag1 MNPs in a 2D array and 3D cell culture system, as determined using FACS. Untransfected cells (untx) were used as a reference. The MNP-labeled cells were all loaded with 38 pg Fe/cell.

Reproduced with permission from American Scientific Publishers: J. Biomed. Nanotechnol. [84].

was observed both in terms of overall reporter gene expression as well as in terms of the percentage of transduced cells (Fig. 12). The increase in transfection/transduction efficiency may be due to a local field gradient generated by the internalized MNPs when exposed to an external field. This would result in additional magnetic force in the vicinity of the cells, improving the attraction of gene vectors in the immediate surrounding. This phenomenon is known as the avalanche effect and was utilized, for example by Aviles et al. [133] to improve the targeting of magnetic drugs using implantable ferromagnetic elements, such as wires, needles, catheters, or stents, to increase the magnetic force locally by increasing the gradient of the field close to the cell.

#### 6. Applications of magnetofection in cell culture

We have summarized the benefits of magnetofection in several review and methods papers as well as book chapters previously [11,12,19,75,76,78,134–138]. Several groups work on the further development of the technology. Except for the use of dynamic magnetic fields and innovations in magnetic vector formulations discussed above and some novel approaches which extend the concept of magnetofection (discussed below), there have been no major methodological changes in magnetofection compared to earlier review papers. Among those groups who work on magnetic vector development, experiments in cell culture serve primarily the purpose of

vector characterization and mechanistic studies before proceeding to *in vivo* studies. Methodological steps in cell culture are, for example, inevitably necessary in *ex vivo* nucleic acid therapies with genetically modified cells, which can be combined with concepts of magnetic cell positioning and cell tracking by magnetic resonance imaging. Such concepts gain increasing importance with the emerging field of cell therapies.

Since magnetofection reagents are commercially available (www. ozbiosciences.com, www.chemicell.com) the method is mostly used as a research tool. The published studies are too numerous to be discussed in detail here. Updated tables on cell types and on studies involving magnetofection can be found on the websites of the commercial providers. The "users" of magnetofection take advantage of features of the method which other transfection/transduction protocols do not provide in the same manner. These features include low dose requirements, the rapid transfection/transduction kinetics and the possibility to synchronize transfection/transduction. This is beneficial if a vector is available only in low amounts (e.g. low viral titers) or if long incubation times in cell culture lead to vector inactivation or toxicity to the target cells [18]. Using viral magnetofection systems, the expression of a transgene is often significantly higher in comparison to virus alone [14,54,57,139-149]. Infectivity enhancements were shown in several models, with primary cells, especially with peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) and primary T cells [146,150–153] and in neurosciences applications.

In some instances, the features of magnetofection enable studies which otherwise could not be performed. Some highlights are discussed below.

#### 6.1. Magnetofection for viral applications

Using magnetofection, Thomas et al. have highlighted an inadequacy of common HIV-1 viral titer determination with respect to the ratio of infectious and defective viral particles [148]. They reported that approximately 1 in 8 virions initiate reverse transcription form proviruses contrary to the commonly reported ratio of 1 in 1000. In addition, they demonstrated that the titers are not equivalent to the number of infectious particles probably due to infrequent occurrences of successful virus–cell interactions under standard conditions. This is in line with our own observations with adenovirus [83]. Coren, Thomas et al. also used magnetofection to show the importance of C-terminal sequence of the Gag protein for efficient viral DNA integration during infection *in vitro* [154].

The apparent gain in viral titers of several thousand-fold has been described first by Hughes et al. for retroviral vectors [13] and later also by Chan et al. for amphotropic murine leukemia virus and for lentiviral vectors [36]. Their strategy has been to biotinylate viral surface proteins and to use (strept)avidin-coated magnetic nanoparticles to capture and concentrate the virus. Similarly, Kaikkonen et al. have used a very elegant technique to metabolically label baculovirus with biotin [37]. The same group has also published a strategy to integrate avidin or streptavidin in viral surface proteins by genetic engineering but has not used these viruses in magnetic targeting but rather in a novel dual imaging method [155].

In several studies, magnetofection has been exploited in HIV research. For example, Wang et al. have developed a novel method which allows the rapid characterization of the resistance of mutant viruses against antiviral agents [149]. This assay is based on a commercially available magnetofection reagent. Mutant viruses are captured with magnetic nano-beads and used to infect gag-GFP reporter cells. In this manner, the susceptibility of breakthrough viruses collected from resistance selections against HIV-1 protease inhibitors, for example, can be characterized much faster than with tedious and time consuming traditional phenotypic assays.

The utility of magnetofection to synchronize viral infection has been highlighted by Haim et al. in 2005 [80] and has been exploited in highly useful protocols in the meantime [156]. The development of HIV vaccines, for example, requires a precise understanding of the immunological and virological principles of HIV infection. The synchronization of HIV infection in vitro facilitates the study of events in the viral replication cycle and the antiviral immune response on short timescales which was previously impossible. In combination with the high transduction efficiency, magnetofection increases the throughput of in vitro assays [156] including T cell assays which require virally infected cells [151,152,157–159]. Synchronization is the critical parameter for studying the kinetics of viral infection as well as for identifying the key focus of vaccine development especially in terms of which viral proteins (early or late) are better for inducing a specific T cell immune response. For example, magnetofection allowed to investigate the kinetics of SIV peptide epitope presentation to CD8(+) [146,153,160,161] and to CD4(+) T cells [162] or to define conformational state dynamics of HIV Env [163]. Magnetofection was used to show that Gag-specific CD8+ T cells recognize infected CD4+ T lymphocytes as early as 2 h post-infection, before proviral DNA integration, viral protein synthesis, and Nef-mediated MHC class I down-regulation [146,160]. Using magnetofection, Sacha et al. showed that early presentation of incoming virion-derived Gag epitopes was maximal at 6 h post-infection, while Gag epitope presentation due to de novo synthesis occurred between 18 and 24 h. They also showed that the penetration of virion-associated proteins into the cytoplasm was sufficient to generate CD8(+)T cell epitopes early after infection [146]. Also in further studies, the synchronization of infection by magnetofection was the key to define the kinetics of epitope presentation of infected T cells [147,153,164] as well as infected macrophages [162].

Payne et al. used magnetofection-based viral synchronization in U937 cells to highlight a previously unrecognized role played by the Pol-specific response in HLA-B\*2705-mediated immune control of HIV. Their studies lead to the conclusion that early presentation of Gag and Pol epitopes contributed to the elimination of virally-infected cells before viral dissemination and was therefore a kinetic advantage for HLA-B\*2705-positive infected individuals able to produce CD8(+) T cell responses against these epitopes [165]. Magnetofection allowed Mannes et al. to shed light on the importance of the cryptic major histocompatibility complex class I epitopes in the immune response towards SIV [151] and to define two novel translation products from the SIV env mRNA that are targeted by the T cell response [166].

Apart from being a valuable research tool in virology, magnetofection is of course used as a tool in gene therapy research. For example, Barsov et al. have used magnetofection to selectively immortalize tumor-specific T cells to establish long-term T-cell lines while maintaining primary cell characteristics [139]. The ability to isolate, maintain, and characterize tumor-specific T cells is a prerequisite to studying anticancer immune response and developing novel strategies for cancer immunotherapy. However, the life span of human T cells *in vitro* is usually short and is limited by the onset of cellular senescence. To solve this problem, immortalized antigen-responsive T cells from human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were produced by magnetofecting cells with a MLV vector carrying an immortalizing gene, the human telomerase-reverse transcriptase gene [139].

Magnetofection has also been useful in transducing airway epithelial cells with lentiviral vectors. The gene delivery process to these cells is hampered by extra-cellular barriers and the local confinement of viruses on the cell surface. Moreover, LV vectors transduce non-dividing cells such as those of the airway epithelium only slowly. Magnetofection increased the infectivity compared with virus alone in non-polarized and polarized bronchial cells and greatly enhanced the transduction in "domes" (cells forming hemicysts containing fluid) which are resistant to lentiviral transduction [54,167].

Ex vivo gene transfer into hepatocytes could serve several purposes in the context of gene therapy or cell transplantation. Wang et al. have demonstrated the utility and enhanced transduction of primary hepatocytes by lentiviral magnetofection *ex vivo*. Similarly, Naka et al. infected KLS + immature hematopoietic stem cells with a retrovirus using the ViroMag reagent and then transplanted the transduced cells intravenously into lethally irradiated mice (bone marrow transplantation) [144]. ViroMag allowed the authors to increase virus infection and concentrate the virus on cells. This has led to a breakthrough discovery in the field of chronic myeloid leukemia (CML). The authors show that TGF-b-FOXO (a transcription factor) has an essential role in the maintenance of leukemia initiating cells (LIC) and that the ability of LICs to cause disease is significantly decreased by Foxo3a deficiency [144].

Likewise, Hosokawa et al. used magnetofection to boost lentiviral infection in a gene silencing approach in hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells [140]. They showed that inhibition of N-cadherin expression accelerated cell division *in vitro* and reduced the lodgement of donor HSPCs to the endosteal surface, resulting in a significant reduction in longterm engraftment. These findings suggest that N-cad-mediated cell adhesion is functionally required for the establishment of hematopoiesis in the BM niche after BM transplantation [140].

Magnetofection has also been beneficial to knock down Laminin A/C expression (>80%) with lentiviral shRNA at low MOI in human epithelial cells [145], or to silence the expression of a transcription factor in human hematopoietic cells [142], or to produce stably transduced human neuroblastoma cells with low viral titers [141] or to infect primary mesencephallic cells [143].

Magnetofection is also highly useful in studies with adenoviral vectors as mentioned above and some special applications are discussed in more detail further below.

#### 6.2. Magnetofection for neurosciences applications

Magnetofection is a very effective way of transfecting plasmid DNA into a variety of primary cells including primary neurons which are known to be notoriously difficult to transfect and very sensitive to toxicity. For these cells, the balance between transfection efficiency and toxic effects is a problem for biological and electrophysiological studies. In this context, magnetofection reagents have proven to be efficient while minimizing any undesired secondary effects. A large variety of primary neurons such as hippocampal [58,168-179], cortical [58,180-184], neocortical [185], vagal afferent [186,187], dorsal root ganglion [184,188], nodose ganglions [189], cerebellar granule [190,191] or motor neurons [192] and multipotent neural precursor/stem cells (NPCs) [193] have been successfully transfected. High transfection efficiency was achieved in primary rat astrocytes from cerebral cortices [123,194]. During recent years, Divya Chari's group has contributed a great deal to the methodological development of magnetofection of neuronal and neuroglial cells, including the study on the use of oscillating magnetic fields [123,193,195,196]. Furthermore, they have carried out studies on the uptake of magnetic nanoparticles in these cell types and associated toxicity. Most recently, they have studied gene delivery to multipotent neural precursor/stem cells (NPCs) which are a major transplant population with key properties to promote repair in several neuropathological conditions [193]. They have demonstrated, using a neurosphere culture model system, that even repeated nonviral transfection ("multifection") with magnetic nanoparticles was feasible with negligible toxicity. The differentiation potential of NPCs was maintained and they survived and differentiated in 3D neural tissue arrays posttransplantation. Even though magnetic field application had little, if any, enhancing effect in this study, their findings are important in view of the emerging regenerative therapies with genetically modified cells.

Another cell type of interest is spinal motor neurons. These cells are used in in vitro models to study basic mechanisms of development, axon growth and to gain insight into the mechanisms underlying motor neuron diseases. So far, functional studies in primary motor neurons have been hampered by the lack of efficient transfection tools to achieve either protein overexpression or gene knockdown. Transduction with lentiviral vectors is currently the standard protocol, but this method faces several limitations such as the size of the insert, the cytotoxicity, as well as the requirement for safety precautions and special equipments. In order to overcome these limitations, Fallini et al. have established a new protocol based on magnetofection using the NeuroMag reagent [192]. Under optimized conditions, transfection rates above 45% were routinely achieved with no alteration of the morphology or survival of the transfected motor neurons. Moreover, gene expression was observed at a high level several days after transfection. Co-transfection of three different plasmids and gene knockdown using shRNA constructs were also successfully performed [192]. The authors were thus able to show for the first time that the spinal muscular atrophy-disease protein Smn is actively transported along axons of live primary neurons, supporting an axon-specific role for Smn besides its involvement in mRNA splicing. Finally, the motor neuron adapted magnetofection protocol was used to deliver shRNA-based constructs, thereby significantly reducing Smn levels in both cell bodies and axons [192]. This important experimental procedure is also posted on the Alzheimer Research Forum website: http://www.alzforum.org/new/detail.asp?id=2461.

In mature cultured neurons, magnetofection contributed to demonstrating the role of Debrin A in modulating glutamatergic and GABAergic synaptic activities [173]. A specific and detailed magnetofection protocol for cDNA and shRNA vector transfection in hippocampal neurons cultured from several hours to 21 days *in vitro* has been published [58]. It also allows double-transfection and long-lasting DNA and shRNA construct expression without interfering with neuronal differentiation. Because mature neurons are more sensitive to commercial lipid reagent exposure than immature neurons, the lipid exposure time for transfection—toxic for the neurons—can be reduced by magnetofection. Thus, Sbai et al. have associated a lipid reagent and magnetic particles for DNA transfection to point out the vesicular trafficking and secretion of MMP-2, -9 and TIMP-1 in neuronal cells [181].

Marchionni et al. have investigated the role of gephyrin on GABAa receptor function at the posttranslational level [174]. They have used specific single chain antibody fragments against gephyrin (scFv-gephyrin) to hamper its function. To carry out this study, they needed to achieve expression of both eGFP (for control) and scFv gephyrin protein in primary hippocampal neurons which was possible by magnetofection. When expressed in cultured rat hippocampal neurons as a fusion protein containing a nuclear localization signal, scFv-gephyrin was able to remove endogenous gephyrin from GABAa receptor clusters [174]. The authors have shown a significant reduction in the number of synaptic 2-subunits containing GABAa receptor and a significant decrease in the density of the GABAergic presynaptic marker vesicular GABA transporter (VGAT) in scFV-gephyrin transfected neurons. These effects were associated with a reduction in the amplitude and in the frequency of miniature inhibitory postsynaptic currents (mIPSCs) and also with a significant reduction in GABAa receptor-mediated tonic conductance. The results indicate that gephyrin is essential not only for maintaining synaptic GABAa receptor clusters in the right position but also for regulating both phasic and tonic inhibition.

Takei has also adapted the NeuroMag reagent for transfection in primary neurons from dorsal root ganglion as well as some neuroblastoma cells lines [188]. This assisted in showing that phosphorylation of Nogo receptors by casein kinase II (CK2) inhibits binding of the myelin-associated proteins. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor stimulates the phosphorylation, suppressing Nogo-dependent inhibition of neurite outgrowth from neuroblastoma-derived neural cells. Similarly, in rat adult neurons, extracellular CK2 treatment overcomes inhibition of neurite outgrowth by the myelin-associated proteins. These findings provide new strategies to control Nogo signaling and hence neuronal regeneration [188]. Nogo signaling has critical roles in the development and maintenance of the central nervous system (CNS). It can inhibit differentiation, migration, and neurite outgrowth of neurons, causing poor recovery of the adult CNS from damage.

Summarizing, magnetofection methods have become an important tool in neurosciences research during recent years.

### 6.3. Magnetofection for DNA transfection in further primary cells and cell lines

Magnetofection is a very effective way of transfecting plasmid DNA into a variety of primary cells. Primary mouse gastric gland epithelial cells [197,198] and epithelial cells from various other tissues [199–202], retinal pigment epithelium [203], human umbilical vein endothelial cells [17,18,60,204–210], porcine aortic endothelial cells [204,206,211,212], mesenteric lymph node endothelial cells [213], ventricular cardiomyocytes [154], neurons [58,179,192], myoblasts [214], chondrocytes [119,215,216], fibroblasts [119,214,217,218], synoviocytes, osteoblasts and melanocytes [119], mouse embryonic stem cells [66] and spermatozoa have been magnetofected successfully [219].

Chen et al. have developed a shielded magnetic PEI–DNA formulation comprising a specific single chain antibody ligand for T cells [220]. With this composition, they achieved a 16-fold enhancement of gene transfer efficiency in a T cell line.

Lee et al. have established a protocol for magnetofection of mouse embryonic stem cells [221]. The transfection efficiency was high (45%) compared with a non-magnetic transfection reagent (15%). The cells retained ES markers such as Oct-4 and SSEA-1 even after more than 50 passages and also retained the ability to form embryoid bodies and differentiated *in vitro* into cells of the three germ layers.

An impressive demonstration of the potency of *ex vivo* magnetofection has been contributed by Svingen et al. They have established a new protocol for functional studies that combines organ culture of explanted fetal tissues with microinjection and magnetofection of gene expression constructs. A cDNA of the Sry gene or an shRNA construct to down-regulate Sox9 expression were magnetofected into genital ridge tissue in a gain of function approach in the first case or loss-offunction in the latter case. The expression of Sry induced female-to-male sex-reversal, whereas knockdown of Sox9 expression caused male-tofemale sex-reversal, consistent with the known functions of these genes. This study highlights the potency of magnetofection in studying gene function in developmental biology [222].

In many other studies, magnetofection has been used as one of many methodological tools which are required to define biochemical and signaling pathways in a broad variety of research fields. For example, Basile et al. are interested in semaphorins which are a family of proteins originally identified as regulators of axon growth. These proteins also have been implicated in blood vessel development. Using magnetofection as a research tool, Basile et al. were able to highlight the role of semaphorin 4D in tumor-induced angiogenesis and to characterize the involved mechanisms [204,211,223,224]. In another study for deciphering angiogenic pathways, Mannel et al. used magnetofection of antisense oligonucleotides to define the role of the tyrosine phosphatase SHP-2 in angiogenesis [209]. In another study, relevant in identifying mechanisms of cancer development, Steele et al. have used magnetofection in gastric epithelial cells to identify promoter elements which regulate the expression of Reg1. This a putative growth factor which is significantly increased in Helicobacter pylori infected patients [197]. H. pylori accelerates the progression of gastric cancer through an unknown mechanism. Using magnetofection as research tool, Steel et al. could demonstrate the role of the promoter elements in responding to H. pylori and gastrin. In a thematically related study, also involving magnetofection, Ashurst et al. defined the minimal promoter required for transcription of CCK2R in human gastric adenocarcinoma [225]. Gastrin/CCK receptor (CCK2R) plays a major role in the physiological regulation of gastric acid secretion.

Magnetofection was also helpful for establishing models and identifying mechanisms of infection with viral pathogens. For example, Mitsutani et al. used magnetofection to examine pathways involved in SARS-coronavirus infection [226,227]. SARS-CoV causes severe acute respiratory syndrom (SARS). Guix et al. have used magnetofection to establish a model for Norwalk virus (NV) infection [228]. Norwalk viruses (NVs) are positive-sense RNA viruses and are the leading cause of epidemic acute viral gastroenteritis in developed countries. The absence of an in vitro cell culture model for NV infection has hampered the development of effective antiviral therapies and vaccines. Using magnetofection, the authors were able to transfect Huh-7 cells with NV RNA isolated from stool samples from human volunteers. Transfection leads to viral replication with expression of viral antigens, RNA replication and release of viral particles into the medium. It was therefore demonstrated for the first time that NV RNA isolated from stool samples from human volunteers is infectious when transfected into mammalian cells.

Magnetofection of DNA has been used in numerous further mechanistic studies [203,214,229,230] or for establishing model systems which are required in ongoing research [231]. Of course, DNA transfection in numerous cell lines has also been demonstrated [57,204,223,225,228,232–239].

#### 6.4. Magnetofection for siRNA transfection

The efficiency of siRNA delivery mediated by magnetofection has been reported for numerous cell lines such as COS7 (monkey kidney) and 3Y1 (rat fibroblast) [232], Vero E6 cells (monkey kidney) [226], integrin  $\alpha$ 5-expressing normal rat intestinal epithelial cell line (RIE1- $\alpha$ 5) [233], NIH-3T3 cells, HeLa and H441 cells [75,76,78], MDA-MB-231 [240], N2A [183] and in human microvascular endothelial cell line-1 (HMEC-1) [236]. Several reports of siRNA delivery with magnetic nanoparticles *in vivo* have been published recently and are discussed further below.

In a 3D cell culture model which has been intended to better mimic the situation in intact tissue *in vivo*, Zhang et al. have demonstrated reporter gene and siRNA delivery through a collagen–gel matrix into 3D cell cultures driven by an external magnetic field [116]. For this purpose, they have prepared PEI-coated magnetic nanoparticles by ligand exchange reaction from 30 nm oleic acid-coated particles. Complexes of DNA or siRNA which were prepared with such particles penetrated into the culture under magnetic field influence and were highly efficient in nucleic acid delivery while non-magnetic complexes were inefficient. This is encouraging because tissue penetration is one of the limiting factors in nucleic acid delivery *in vivo*.

A review paper by Bonetta et al. on "evaluating gene delivery methods" highlights the potential of magnetofection as a tool to improve and target a broader range of cells and applications [241]. In the same way, the benefits of using magnetofection to concentrate and promote efficient siRNA transfection were assessed [242]. We have published comprehensive reviews and protocols of siRNA magnetofection recently [11,76,85]. Several excellent non-magnetic reagents for siRNA transfection are commercially available. Similarly as for DNA transfection, the true benefits of magnetofection become evident with difficult to transfect primary cells. We would like to discuss a few recent applications in primary cells instead of repeating what we have published elsewhere.

Magnetofection has been shown to be an effective way of transfecting siRNA in human primary endothelial cells derived from the umbilical vein [206,207] and from human cord blood [206]. It contributed to demonstrating the critical role of a transcription factor in angiogenesis [206] and of a selective estrogen receptor modulator in atherosclerosis [207]. Similarly, magnetofection-induced gene knockdown by siRNA in HMEC-1 allowed researchers to figure out the implication of a certain kinase (ROCK-II isoform) in the formation of microparticles in response to thrombin stimulation [236]. Magnetofection of 25 nM siRNA induced more than 50% inhibition. Out of the two isoforms (Rho kinase I and II), the specific targeting of ROCK-II with siRNA was the only one to be implicated in the caspase-2-induced release of endothelial microparticles in response to thrombin stimulation unravelling a new pathway in microparticles formation. Three years later, the same authors continued their study on the release of procoagulant endothelial microparticles induced by thrombin using the SilenceMag magnetofection reagent on HMEC-1 and on primary human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC). Transfecting endothelial cells with siRNA targeting TRAIL, induced a decrease in microparticle production in response to thrombin and moreover reduced the pro-coagulant potential of these endothelial microparticles unravelling a potential mechanism linking inflammation and coagulation [243]. Also Meda et al. have used siRNA magnetofection in HUVECs to examine biphasic effects of drugs on nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability and cytotoxicity, as well as drug interference with the interaction of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) with caveolin-1 (Cav-1) [94].

Ge et al. used magnetofection for siRNA delivery in human pulmonary artery endothelial cells to elucidate pathways in angiotensin IImediated vascular inflammation [244]. Early events in leukocyte adhesion to the endothelium, which is an essential event in inflammation, require P-selectin surface expression. This in turn probably requires the release of P-selectin from intracellular stores via exocytosis. Using siRNA magnetofection to knock down two particular kinases, Ge et al. could pinpoint a molecular link between the triggering of exocytosis by angiotensin II and consequent P-selectin surface expression. Hence they were able to propose a mechanism that links angiotensin II signaling to inflammation.

Primary human gastric myofibroblasts are also difficult to transfect. McCaig et al. have used magnetofection to deliver siRNA in primary human gastric myofibroblasts and deciphered the role of MMP-7 in redefining the gastric environment in response to bacteria [245]. The same team in 2008 used siRNA magnetofection to silence uPAR expression in primary gastric gland epithelial cells and showed that uPAR knockdown significantly inhibited *H. pylori*-induced proliferation [201]. This finding is of high importance because *H. pylori* induction of uPA leads to epithelial proliferation. Inhibition of uPA action may slow the progression to gastric cancer.

Another challenging cell type, primary dendritic cells have been successfully magnetofected with siRNA [246]. Dendritic cells (DCs), the professional antigen presenting cells, are critical for host immunity by inducing specific immune responses against a broad variety of pathogens. Using siRNA magnetofection in primary DCs, Melki et al. revealed that DCs infected with HIV-1 become resistant to killing by natural killer (NK) cells. This protection from NK cytotoxicity is induced through a crosstalk resulting in the up-regulation of two celldeath inhibitors. Magnetofection of siRNA has been performed to study the loss of function of two apoptosis inhibitors.

Magnetofection has also been reported to be effective for siRNA transfection in suspension cells such as MOLT-4 and Jurkat (Human T cell leukemia) which permitted to show the implication of RCAS1 (a receptor-binding cancer antigen) in T cell apoptosis induced by HIV infection [247]. Rt-PCR analysis confirmed that siRNA-RCAS1 reduced RCAS1 mRNA expression by about 60% in cells which allowed the authors to show that the apoptosis induced by HIV-Tat was blocked by inhibiting small interfering RNA specific for RCAS1. Thus demonstrating the effect of this receptor-binding cancer antigen on TAT-induced apoptosis, the authors deciphered one of the mechanisms that induced the death of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in HIV-1 infection.

Uchida et al. and Tan et al. have succeeded in delivering siRNA to primary rat embryonic DRG neurons [184] and primary cortical neurons [183].

De Lartigue et al., investigated the role of the satiety peptide CARTp by knocking down its expression in rat primary vagal afferent neurons. Cells were magnetofected using 50 nM of siRNA and experiments were performed 48 h after transfection. The data provided direct evidence for an autocrine-positive feedback mechanism in which CART is involved and appears to play a role as a pre-existing stock and once released, acts on its own secretion. They provided an illustration of a mechanism that has not previously received detailed consideration and they raised the possibility of developing novel therapies based on augmenting and prolonging the action of established gut-brain signaling molecules [187]. Using the same transfection protocol, 50 nM siRNA directed against early growth response factor 1 (EGR1), the authors found a potential therapeutic interest in that factor [248].

Post-transcriptional gene silencing using siRNA and SilenceMag was applied to examine specifically the roles of inositol tri-phosphate receptors and the receptor channel in arginine vasopressin activation in smooth muscle cells. 30 nM siRNA was mixed to SilenceMag siRNA transfection reagent to silence receptor and receptor channel gene expressions in A7r5 cells [208]. The results presented by Li et al. showed the importance of the receptor and the receptor channel in calcium signaling. Moreover, the whole paper by Li et al. is dedicated to the evaluation of siRNA in a model system of smooth muscles cells.

In primary mouse myoblasts, SilenceMag and CombiMag magnetofection reagents have been used to study the expression and the intracellular localization of a vesicle associated membrane protein (VAMP2). Transfections of siRNA targeting VAMP2 were performed on day 0 and 3 of differentiation. Based on the results, the authors proposed that this protein could be used as a molecular marker for both quiescent satellite cells and myotubes [237]. Recently SilenceMag was used to transport siRNA in osteoblast MC3T3-E1 cells by Zhang et al. [249]. In that model of development, the authors first transformed MC3T3-E1 cells using 5 nM siRNA with SilenceMag to silence COX-2 expression before IL-17A treatment. Then, the resulting conditioned medium was used to stimulate osteoclast RAW264.7 cells and shown to be less effective in inducing osteoclast markers MMP-9 and cathepsin K proteins. The authors concluded to a key role played by secreted IL-17 in regulation of bone metabolism.

One highlight in the recent literature has been the paper by Namiki et al. on siRNA delivery to tumors in a mouse model [63] which we will discuss in more detail further below. At this place, we would just like to mention that the work of Namiki and colleagues is possibly the most comprehensive study on the development of a magnetically targeted siRNA delivery system so far. It covers everything from the development of a lipid/magnetic siRNA formulation to its successful application *in vivo*. They have carried out a comprehensive screening of their constructs in 13 different cell lines before proceeding to *in vivo* experiments which leads us to the next chapter.

Summarizing, magnetofection has become an important tool in gene silencing upon transfection of exogenous siRNA. Numerous discoveries of biological mechanisms have been made in difficult to transfect cells. Apart from the commercially available reagents for siRNA magnetofection, several research groups have developed magnetic nanoparticles and formulations for siRNA delivery which are highly efficient in gene silencing.

#### 7. Applications of magnetofection in vivo

Reports on nucleic acid delivery with magnetic nanoparticles *in vivo* are less abundant than the numerous publications on cell culture applications, but a substantial body of literature has accumulated during the last 10 years [12,14,17,23,33,53,65,73,86,95,98,108,115,250–267]. The publications are summarized in Table 5.

A systemic administration via the circulation is a challenge for any drug delivery system, magnetic or non-magnetic [268,269]. If magnetic compositions are assembled by non-covalent interactions, dissociation of the assembly in the in vivo milieu can occur and thus obviate magnetic targetability. Furthermore, vertebrates are equipped with defense mechanisms to eliminate intruders such as viruses or bacteria and, unfortunately, nanomedicines. The complement system which is a phylogenetically ancient form of innate immunity can tag intruders to be eliminated from the circulation by macrophages. This has been recognized to be a challenge for the construction of gene vectors many years ago [270] and has remained a challenge for particulate drug delivery systems in general [271-273]. A commonly used approach to protect drug delivery systems from undesired interactions with blood components and from rapid elimination from the circulation by the reticulo-endothelial system (RES) is surface shielding with polymers like polyethylenglycols. While this is highly effective and has been established for liposomes many years ago, this concept has been implemented with multi-component magnetic compositions for nucleic acid delivery only recently [33,60,73,274–278]. Sufficiently long circulation in the bloodstream at least on the tens of minutes, better on the hour timescale is a prerequisite to capture a substantial fraction of a magnetic drug formulation in a target tissue [279]. This is because first pass retention by a magnetic gradient field is low except at low blood flow rates [280] and after the first passage, the drug carrier will distribute throughout the vascular system. In systemic drug delivery to tumors, long-circulating drug formulations can extravasate into the tumor tissue by the enhanced permeability and retention effect (EPR effect) [281,282]. This effect designates the increased leakiness of blood vessels in tumor tissues compared to normal tissue. Current strategies in systemic gene and drug delivery to tumors aim at combining passive targeting via the EPR effect with active targeting exploiting magnetic force and biological receptor-ligand interactions [283]. Among the published

#### Table 5

Selected reports on nucleic acid delivery with magnetic nanoparticles in vivo.

	•					
l	Route of administration	(Target) tissue/organ	Animal species	Nucleic acid type	Magnetic nanoparticle composition	Reference
_	a sellere d	Intention	Det	DNIA	transMAC DEL (shamias]]) + DEL + DNA	[1.4]
1	Localized	Intestine	Kat	DNA	transmag-pei (chemiceii) + $Pei + Dina$	[14]
	Systemic	Blood vessel endothelium, swine	Swine	DNA	transMAG-PEI (chemicell) + PEI + DNA	[14]
	Systemic	Blood vessel endothelium	Mouse	Antisense ODN	Polymag particles + antisense oligonucleotides	[17]
	Systemic	Blood vessel endothelium	Rabbit	DNA	transMAG-PEL (chemicell) + DNA	1121
	Systemic	Brain	Mouse	DNA	ION-PLL No magnetic targeting involved	[267]
	bysterine bessel	Diam	Mouse	DNA	IDIN-FEL, NO Inaglietic targeting involveu.	[207]
1	Localized	Liver	Mouse	DNA	HVJ-E/maghemite	[262]
1	Localized	Feline fibrosarcoma	Cat	DNA tumor vaccine	transMAG-PEI (chemicell) + DNA	[258,259,263]
]	Localized	Synovial membrane authors demonstrate	Sheep	DNA	MNP-PEI + DNA	[254]
		tolerability of magnetic field-guided gene delivery				
1	Localized	Nasal epithelium	Mouse	DNA	TransMAG(PEI) + Lipofectamine 2000 or cationic lipid 67 (GL67)/plasmid	[264]
1	Localized	Lung via airways	Mouse	DNA	Magnetic aerosol comprising DNA	[252]
	Systemic	Orthotopic mouse models: lateral 9l-gfp or 9l-rfp tumors; human colorectal carcinoma tumors (ls174t)	Mouse	siRNA against various targets		[23,98]
l	Localized	Intramuscular injection of a magnetic genetic vaccine leads to enhanced immune response	Mouse	Antigen-encoding DNA	PEI coated on the surface of bacterial magnetic nanoparticles (BMPs)	[266]
l	Localized	Intramuscular injection of a magnetic	Mouse,	DNA	PEI-coated MNP	[267]
		genetic vaccine leads to enhanced immune response	rabbit			
1	Localized	-	Mouse	Adenovirus	Hexanoyl chloride-modified chitosan (Nac-6)	[66]
		Low a boost	M.	DNA	Stabilized from oxide nanoparticles (Nac-6-IOPS)	[100]
	Systemic	Lung heart	Mouse	DNA	PEI-DNA covalently bound to MNP	[108]
5	Systemic	Magnetic targeting of hvj-e to the head.	Rat	Hemagglutinating virus of	Feridex IV SPIO incorporated in HVJ-E	[253]
		Passive accumulation in liver and spleen		Japan envelopes (HVJ-Es)		
	Systemic (i.v.)	Transfected monocytes targeted to pc3 tumor xenografts in nude mice	Mouse	Transfected, magnetic particle-loaded monocytes	Magnetic nanoparticles from Sigma or Spherotech	[115]
1	Localized (intracranial, convection-enhanced	Brain, glioblastoma model no magnetic field applied	Mouse	siRNA	Dendrimer-conjugated nanoworm	[95]
	Systemic (i.v.)	Liver (hepatocytes)	Mouse	DNA (reporter gene)	(SPIO)-comprised in water-soluble chitosan	[251]
		No	Maria		No magnetic targeting involved.	[52]
2	systemic (i.a.)	positioning of transduced endothelial cells to intima of injured common carotid arteries	Mouse	Lenuvirus	transMAG MNP (chemicell)	[53]
	Systemic (i.v.)	c6 rat glioma xenograft tumors in nu/nu mice	Mouse	DNA (reporter gene)	NP-CP-PEI: superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticle coated with a copolymer of short chain polyethylenimine (PEI) and poly(ethylene chucel) (PEC) confect to chicacan (CP)	[33]
9	Systemic (i.v.)	mkn-74 and nugc-4 gastric adenocarcinoma	Mouse	DNA (reporter genes),	LipoMag, consists of an oleic acid-coated magnetic	[63]
	Systemic	xenograft implanted s.c. in nude mice Pulmonary metastasis mouse model.	Mouse	siRNA DNA (therapeutic and	nanocrystal core and a cationic lipid shell IONP-PLL as gene carriers to deliver the NM23-H1	[261]
	Systemic	Targeting to liver	Rat	reporter gene) DNA (reporter gene)	gene. No magnetic targeting involved. Fluid MAG-T (aqueous dispersion of magnetite	[65]
					$Fe_2O_3$ ; tartaric acid matrix; mean diameter, 20 nm)	
,	(applied (it))	Userson alighteeteene s251 mag cells and in	Marras	DNA (ciDNA averagion	Protocial magnetic percentiales (DMD) conjugated	[055]
	Localized (I.t.)	nude mouse models	wouse	plasmid directed against EGF receptor)	with PAMAM dendrimer and Tat peptide	[233]
1	Localized	Skinflap model	Rat	DNA (encoding reporter gene or VEGF)	Magnetic microbubbles	[257]
	Systemic	c6 rat glioma xenograft tumors in nu/nu mice	Mouse	DNA (reporter gene) or siRNA	MNP coated with a copolymer of chitosan, polyethylene glycol (PEG), and polyethylenimine (PEI) DNA or ciPNA was bound to these papoparticles.	[73]
	Systemic (i v )	Human breast adenocarcinoma	Mouse	siRNA	and CTX was then attached using a short PEG linker. MN-EPPT-siBIRC5 consists of superparamagnetic	[260]
-	,,	xenograft model			iron oxide nanoparticles, the dye Cy 5.5, peptides (EPPT) that specifically target uMUC-1, and a synthetic siRNA that targets the tumor-specific antiapoptotic gene BIRC5	[]
1	Localized (intrathecal injection)	Rat spinal cord	Rat	DNA (reporter genes)	Gene transfer complexes were generated by mixing polyethylenimine-coated cationic magnetic iron beads with plasmid DNA, followed by addition of a bis(cysteinyl) histidine-rich Tat peptide.	[71]
]	Localized (intratumoral)	Human pancreatic carcinoma (epp85-181rdb) xenograft in nude mice	Mouse	Oncolytic adenovirus	Magnetite core (ca. 10 nm) stabilized by a shell containing 68 mass % lithium 3-[2-(perfluoroalkyl) ethylthio]propionate) and 32 mass % 25 kDa branched polyethylenimine	[55]
2	Systemic (i.a.) Localized	Dorsal skinfold chamber model Ventricle of mouse embryonic brain	Mouse Mouse	DNA (reporter gene) Adenovirus	Magnetic microbubbles Biotinylated adenovirus attached to streptavidin- conjugated magnetic nanoparticle	[86] [256]

studies, several have focused on the systemic delivery of nucleic acids [12,14,17,23,33,53,63,65,73,86,98,108,251,253,260,261,265] or magnetofected cells [115] to tumors using magnetic carriers. But surprisingly in only two of the studies a magnetic field has been applied to enhance the accumulation of magnetic cells or nucleic acid carriers, respectively, in the tumor tissue [63,115].

Although there had been earlier reports on magnetically targeted nucleic acid delivery in vivo, a breakthrough in magnetic targeting to tumors upon intravenous administration had been lacking until Namiki et al. published their work in 2009 [63]. They have shown for the first time that this concept is feasible and also have demonstrated therapeutic benefit in mouse models of gastric cancer with magnetically targeted siRNA.<sup>1</sup> The study of the Japanese authors highlights the level of interdisciplinarity that is required to achieve technological breakthroughs. First, they synthesized magnetic nanoparticles following a known approach which however has been neglected by other groups working in magnetically guided nucleic acid delivery. This was possibly the key for obtaining nanomagnetic compositions with nucleic acids that are enabled for magnetic targeting to tumors upon intravenous administration. Such formulations were the result of a comprehensive biophysical characterization and optimization involving nucleic acid delivery studies with 13 different cell lines. Targeting to tumors in gastric cancer mouse models was achieved with the optimized composition when a magnetic field was applied to the tumors but not without magnetic field and also not with a commercially available magnetic transfection reagent. Delivery was localized to tumor blood vessels. Consequently the authors chose siRNA as a therapeutic agent and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGF-R) expression as the molecular target (EGF-R is overexpressed in tumor blood vessel endothelium and has been shown to be a validated target for therapeutic intervention by many other authors [284]). In this manner they achieved retardation of tumor growth which is clearly linked to the target-specific action of siRNA on a molecular level. Adverse reactions that one might expect from the delivery of magnetic nanoparticles or EGF-R knock-down in non-target organs were not observed. Namiki and colleagues were not the first to demonstrate targeting of nucleic acids or specifically siRNA to tumors and to demonstrate associated therapeutic benefit [284,285]. Using a different tumor model, Huang and colleagues have achieved an even more favorable siRNA biodistribution profile with a non-magnetic shielded and receptor-targeted formulation [286]. And other researchers using non-magnetic receptor-targeted gene delivery have even reported complete tumor remissions [286]. Nevertheless, the study by Namiki and colleagues has opened new perspectives. They show that accumulation in a tumor and therapeutic benefit of a non-shielded, non-receptor targeted formulation of siRNA is enabled by magnetic force. Magnetic targeting enforces the first and essential steps of nucleic acid delivery which are accumulation in a target tissue and establishing target cell contact. Hence one can expect that a future combination of shielding, receptor targeting and magnetic targeting will result in a synergistic improvement of the dose-response profile. What are the limitations? From a medical point of view, magnetic drug targeting makes sense primarily in localized stages of disease and less in metastatic stages where drug action may be required throughout the body. Nevertheless, there are plenty of medical indications where magnetic targeting of nucleic acids may yield a substantial advantage. The major limitation of Magnetic Drug Targeting is a physical one: the magnetic force acting on magnetic nanoparticles drops with some power of the distance from the source of the magnetic field (depending on the geometry of the pole shoe). The "penetration depth" of this force, which is proportional to the magnetic flux density and the field gradient, is low. It is not trivial to generate sufficient field and gradient at a target site inside the body. In the Supplementary Materials of their paper Namiki and colleagues have described a biocompatible surface coating of permanent magnets with titanium nitride. Minimal-invasive implantation of such magnets at tumor sites may provide a viable solution for generating sufficient magnetic force for magnetic drug targeting.

Among the other publications on systemic nucleic acid delivery to tumors with nanomagnetic carriers [23,98,260,287,288], the work of Medarova and colleagues [260] has been the most inspiring. Based on earlier work by Josephson et al. [289,290] they have prepared dextran-coated magnetic nanoparticles with covalently attached siRNA, near-infrared dye Cy5.5 and membrane translocation peptides. Using magnetic resonance and optical imaging, they have shown the feasibility of in vivo tracking of tumor uptake of these carriers. Furthermore, using optical imaging they could follow the silencing of the target reporter gene in vivo. With the same concept, but now using a therapeutically relevant siRNA and a receptor targeted system, they could demonstrate favorable accumulation of the system and therapeutic benefit in a human breast adenocarcinoma xenograft model in nude mice [260]. It is remarkable, that this was achieved without applying magnetic targeting and it would be interesting to know whether this would yield additional benefit. Conceptually related work has been published by Kievit, Veiseh and colleagues [33,73,277,291]. They have developed a nanovector consisting of an iron oxide core coated with a copolymer of chitosan, polyethylene glycol (PEG), and poly(ethylene imine) (PEI). After electrostatic binding of plasmid DNA (encoding a gene of interest) or siRNA [279], chlorotoxin (CTX) as a receptor ligand is attached to the system using a short PEG linker. Upon intravenous injection, they have achieved efficient gene delivery to c6 rat glioma xenograft tumors in nude mice [73]. The authors have not applied magnetic targeting because they argue that this strategy provides little advantage for highly invasive and infiltrative cancers, such as glioma. In a previous study, the same group has shown that a similar magnetic nanoparticle conjugate without PEI or nucleic acids but equipped with a nearinfrared dye accumulates well in autochthonous medulloblastoma tumors in genetically engineered ND2:SmoA1 mice. In this case, the system was used as multimodal imaging probe and not for nucleic acid delivery [291].

Further work on magnetic targeting of nucleic acids upon systemic administration includes our own early proof of principle experiments on the magnetic localization of DNA and oligonucleotide delivery in the vascular system [12,14,17]. A further interesting finding about ion oxide nanoparticles was obtained by Xiang et al. who claimed that intravenously injected polylysine-coated iron oxide nanoparticles can even transfer DNA across the blood-brain barrier to glial cells and neurons of the brain [265]. No magnetic targeting was involved in this study, and the major reporter gene expression was found in the mouse lung. The same vector composition was used later by Li et al. to delivery an anti-metastatic gene in a pulmonary metastasis mouse model [261]. Therapeutic benefit could be achieved in that tumor growth was inhibited. Also here, no magnetic targeting has been involved. Magnetic targeting was involved however in a study published by the Steinhoff group [108]. They have achieved magnetically targeted gene delivery to cardiac tissue. The magnetic carrier was assembled with biotinylated PEI-DNA complexes and streptavin-coated magnetic nanoparticles. The cells expressing the reporter gene were identified as endothelial cells by histological analysis. In the same manner, the authors have achieved magnetically targeted delivery of the therapeutically relevant bcl-2 and VEGF genes. Flexman et al. have achieved magnetic accumulation of Feridex MRI contrast agent in the heads of rats. For this purpose, the contrast agent was incorporated in the hemagglutinating virus of Japan envelopes (HVJ-Es). No nucleic acid delivery was involved in this study which is mentioned here because in many previous studies HVJ-Es have been shown to be excellent agents for gene delivery. Muthana

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Parts of this summary of Namiki's paper were first published in [Nature Nanotechnology 4(9), 2009, doi.nnano.2009.251 [pii]10.1038/nnano.2009.251] © Nature Publishing Group, a division of Macmillan Publishers Limited.

et al. have accumulated magnetofected monocytes in pc3 (prostate cancer cell line) tumor xenografts in nude mice upon intravenous administration [115]. This is relevant because for some applications genetically engineered cells are considered to be useful as an indirect gene delivery agent to tumors. Cheong et al. have described water soluble chitosan-linoleic acid conjugates which they used to assemble complexes with DNA or siRNA and magnetic nanoparticles [251]. These complexes, when injected intravenously in mice accumulated passively in the liver and gave rise to reporter gene expression. No magnetic targeting has been involved in this study. In contrast, Zheng et al. have applied magnetic targeting to the liver upon intravenous injection of a magnetic composition of DNA in rats and have observed increased reporter gene expression in this organ compared to the absence of magnetic targeting [65].

Hofmann et al. have prepared magnetic lentiviral vectors by electrostatic interaction with commercially available CombiMAG and TransMAG magnetic particles [53]. They have used these vectors to demonstrate magnetically localized transduction under physiological flow conditions in explanted aortas. In the next step, they injected the vector through the carotid artery in mice. When a permanent magnet was placed at the right abdominal wall close to the liver, a significant redistribution of LV/MNP complexes to the liver was observed and, concomitantly, the number of viral integrants in the lung was significantly reduced. The authors also showed that HUVECs magnetofected with a high magnetic nanoparticle dose could be magnetically positioned in the blood vessel walls in an ex vivo model. And finally they showed that this was as well possible in vivo. Upon injection into the thoracic aorta, lentiviral magnetofected cells were accumulated in the abdominal aorta or in the iliac artery in the areas that were under magnetic field influence. Similarly the authors could magnetically target such cells to the denuded common carotid artery upon injection in to the carotid artery. These studies are relevant in the field of (stem) cell transplantation, tissue repair and tissue engineering with genetically modified cells but also with respect to targeting genetically modified cells to tumors [115].

Summarizing, major progress has been made in magnetic targeting upon systemic administration. At the same time it is clear that further essential progress is required with respect to long-circulating magnetic formulations and a clear-cut preferential accumulation of magnetic compositions in the magnetically targeted tissue. Most publications which are cited here, including our own, lack detailed biodistribution studies which are absolutely required to demonstrate any benefits of magnetic targeting. It is curious to note that many authors cited above have abstained from magnetic targeting even though they have used nanomagnetic carriers. This raises the question whether magnetic targeting did not work or did not yield any additional advantage in their studies.

In contrast to the systemic applications, localized administrations into the target tissue in vivo are technically simple. In our early work we have demonstrated magnetically targeted functional nonviral gene delivery in the ileum lumen of rats after laparatomy or in the stomachs of mice with magnetic particle-adenovirus compositions [14]. Reporter gene transfer was strongly enhanced in the area under influence of a magnetic field whereas without application of a magnet (controls) either no or much poorer transfection/transduction was achieved. However, other authors did not find any enhancement by magnetic field application after localized injection of magnetic vectors. This was the case in Xenariou's study of nonviral gene transfer to the murine nasal epithelium [264] and Morishita et al.'s experiments who directly injected maghemite nanoparticles associated with HVJ-E vectors into the liver of mice [262]. In both studies, magnetic nanoparticles alone, without magnetic field application were sufficient to yield enhanced gene transfer.

Galuppo et al. found little, if any, functional gene delivery to the synovial membrane upon intra-articular injection of reporter DNA complexes with PEI-coated magnetic nanoparticles in sheep,

independent of magnetic field application [254]. However, the study vielded insights in the tolerability of their compositions in vivo. Agrawal et al. have achieved very efficient delivery of siRNA associated with magnetic "dendriworms" in vitro and in vivo [95]. But they did not apply any magnetic field in their studies. The localized application in vivo was intracranial, convection-enhanced delivery in mouse brains. Dendriworms with siRNA directed against the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) led to specific and significant suppression of EGFR expression under these settings. Similarly, Han et al. used bacterial magnetic nanoparticles (BMP) conjugated with PAMAM dendrimer and Tat peptide as a carrier of a small interfering RNA expression plasmid (psiRNA) to downregulate EGFR expression in human glioblastoma cells in vitro and in vivo [255]. They applied magnetofection conditions (magnetic field) in vitro but not in their subcutaneous tumor model in vivo. Upon intratumoral injection of the magnetic composition, they achieved tumor growth retardation, but there was no significant difference to mice treated with non-magnetic Lipofectamine 2000/psiRNA-EGFR treatment groups.

True magnetofection conditions were applied in Song's recent study of gene delivery to various glioma cell lines, neural stem cells and an astrocytoma cell line in vitro and upon intrathecal injection in the lumbar spinal cord (subarachnoid space) in rats. As a magnetic carrier of plasmid DNA they used the commercially available PolyMAG transfection reagent in conjunction with bis(cysteinyl) histidine-rich, endosomolytic Tat peptides (which enhanced transfection efficiency) [71]. In the in vivo experiment, they placed a magnet on the back of animals in order to prevent gene transfer complexes from being carried away by cerebrospinal fluid flow. They examined two conditions, one where the magnet remained static and one where the magnet was moved along the spinal cord. Under the latter condition, the peak level reporter gene expression was detected in the cervical spinal cord remote from the injection site, with the lowest level of transgene expression in the lumbar spinal cord. Hence, the authors have demonstrated that in their model the magnetic vectors can be magnetically guided after localized injection. Similar findings were reported by Hashimoto et al. [256]. They have attached an adenoviral gene vector to magnetic particles via biotin-streptavidin linkage. In this manner they could direct adenoviral gene delivery to a restricted region in the mouse brain by magnetic force.

Magnetofection including magnetic field application yielded clear advantages in magnetic vaccine studies by Zhou et al. [267] and Xiang et al. [266]. Zhou and colleagues injected magnetic DNA reporter gene compositions into the tibialis anterior (TA) muscles of mice and rabbits and found clearly enhanced reporter gene expression under magnetic field influence compared to controls (naked DNA and magnetic vector in the absence of a magnetic field). To assess the relative ability to prime antibody and T-cell responses, mice were immunized by intramuscular injection with HIV-1 gag DNA with magnetic vectors under magnetofection conditions, with magnetic vectors without magnetic field application and with naked DNA. Magnetofection significantly enhanced antibody responses to HIV-1 gag protein compared to controls. Furthermore, magnetofection induced the immune response at a much lower DNA dose than naked DNA, indicating an approximately 1000-fold increase in DNA vaccine potency. Furthermore, magnetofection accelerated the development of a humoral immune response significantly. Magnetofection gave 100% seroconversion already 1 week after a single immunization compared to 5 weeks with naked DNA. This is of major clinical interest. Zhou et al. have also examined the cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) response induced by immunization with the magnetic DNA vaccine. Also in this respect, magnetofection displayed a more than 1000-fold increase in DNA vaccine potency in terms of required DNA dose. The authors speculate that the observed enhancements may be based on an improved tissue penetration of the vaccine under magnetofection conditions, on transient tissue damage by the magnetic vaccine and possibly transfection of professional antigen presenting cells (APCs). Xiang et al.

C. Plank et al. / Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 63 (2011) 1300-1331



**Fig. 13.** Treatment of feline fibrosarcoma with the *Magnetovax*<sup>®</sup>. In the study, the magnetic DNA composition is injected directly into the tumor. A magnetic field holds the particles in the tumor. After uptake into the tumor cells, they express a DNA sequence. This leads to the production of a messenger substance that activates the animal's immune system. If, after successful excision of the tumor, isolated malignant cells still remain in the cat's body, the immune system is apparently better equipped to deal with them. The incidence of recurrence is dramatically decreased. The images show treatment in the clinic. The image on the left shows a relatively large recurrent tumor that reappeared soon after surgical excision of the original tumor. The surgical scar after the initial treatment is still visible. The other images show *Felovectin* treatment in another animal: direct injection into the tumor followed by fixation of a small permanent magnet (2×1×0.5 cm) for 1 h on the surface of the tumor. The magnetic field holds the injected substance in the tumor and triggers uptake into tumor cells.

obtained similar results with a magnetic DNA vaccine based on PEIcoated bacterial magnetic nanoparticles [266]. They immunized mice by intramuscular injection with magnetic and non-magnetic PEI–DNA complexes encoding the foot–mouth disease viral capsule protein VP1. Also they found a significant enhancement of humoral and cellular immune responses against the target antigen compared to controls which were magnetic DNA complex in the absence of a magnetic field, non-magnetic PEI–DNA, naked DNA as well as PEI and magnetic particles without DNA. The two studies demonstrate a substantial potential of magnetofection in genetic vaccination.

A very special type localized administration and magnetic targeting was published by Dames et al. [252]. They have experimented with magnetic aerosols which they call nanomagnetosols. Magnetic aerosols are generated from aqueous suspensions of magnetic nanoparticles using a nebulizer (in this case a nebulizer which is approved for inhalation therapies). Nanomagnetosols are liquid droplets comprising magnetic



**Fig. 14.** Schematic representation of the magselectofection procedure. (a) A vector, viral or nonviral, is associated with magnetic nanoparticles. In this manner, one can immobilize the vector on magnetic cell separation devices such as shown here on a magnetic cell separation column from Miltenyi Biotec. (b) Magnetic particles binding specifically to target cells by virtue of affinity ligands bound to the particle surface are used to magnetically label target cells. The cells are then loaded to the vector-modified cell separation device while it is exposed to a magnetic field and are thus retained. Non-target cells are not retained and are flushed from the device. During this procedure, the target cells bind the magnetically retained vector. (c) Finally, the cell separation device is removed from the magnetic field, the selected cells are flushed from the device and (d) cultivated until further use. This general scheme was implemented on MACS® cell separation devices (Miltenyi Biotec) and lead to rapid, efficient and target cell-separation and genetic modification of target cells. Blood. 2011;117:e171-e181. © the American Society of Hematology. Reproduced with permission from the American Society of Hematology: Blood [83].

nanoparticles and can in addition comprise active ingredients such as gene vectors. Using an electromagnet, Dames et al. could target DNA delivery to specific regions of the mouse lung. With respect to lung disease, aerosol delivery of drugs by inhalation represents the most straightforward strategy to target the diseased tissue [292]. In only a few previous studies, an approach of "targeted dose intensification" has been attempted in human lung cancer therapy [293,294]. With respect to the physical constraints of magnetic drug targeting, an important feature of nanomagnetosols is the fact that in the case of aerosols, the actual drug carrier is the aerosol droplet which can be of several micrometers in diameter and which can comprise a multitude of magnetic nanoparticles. Hence, this carrier "appears" to an external magnetic field like one large magnetic particle [295]. Another compelling feature of magnetic aerosols is that the active ingredient does not need to be bound to the magnetic particles. The only requirement is that it is comprised within the same aerosol droplet. Magnetic aerosols can be a useful tool to increase the deposited dose of a drug in the lung and to direct it preferentially to one of the lung lobes. In ongoing experiments, the technology is evaluated in pigs. Preliminary results confirm the magnetic targetability also in this larger dimension (unpublished results).

In our own studies of therapeutic applications of magnetofection we have focused on immuno-gene therapy of feline fibrosarcoma (Fig. 13) [258,259,263]. This is one of the most frequent tumor diseases in cats with an extremely high recurrence rate. In about 75% of animals, the tumor recurs within 1 year of surgical removal [296]. In our ongoing veterinary clinical study, we inject plasmid DNA (comprising a cytokine gene) which is electrostatically bound to positively-charged magnetic nanoparticles directly into the tumor. We call this composition Magnetovax. Subsequently, a permanent magnet is attached to the tumor with adhesive tape in order to hold the injected dose in the tumor. This may also enhance the uptake of the magnetic complex into the tumor cells. The injection is carried out 2 weeks and 1 week prior to surgical removal of the tumor, which is the standard therapy. We have shown that this treatment actually leads to the expression of the therapeutic gene. The cytokine is intended to activate the immune system against the tumor in a sufficient manner to control remaining tumor cells after surgery. In the meantime, more than 150 animal patients have been treated in various treatment arms of the study. The treatment was very well tolerated and treatment drastically increased the percentage of long-term relapse-free animals. The results of the study will be published soon.

Concluding this review paper we would like to discuss some of our own most recent developments. One is magnetic oncolytic adenovirus where we demonstrate enhanced infectivity and cell killing potency of this promising anti-cancer agent in tumor cells which are resistant to adenoviral infection. Another is magnetic microbubbles for combined magnetic targeting and ultrasound mediated delivery of nucleic acids. And a third is magnetic cell separation and magnetofection combined in one integrated procedure as a tool for future cell therapies.

#### 8. Combined magnetic cell sorting and magnetofection

Implementation of cell therapy approaches require efficient methods for separation and genetic modification of cells in a cost-effective manner with low vector consumption, with a minimum number of handling steps and amenable to automation in a closed system. We have developed a new methodology for cell separation and transfection/ transduction in a single standardized procedure that we called "Magselectofection" (presented schematically in Fig. 14) [83]. A high gradient magnetic field cell separation column is used as a magnetic device to associate magnetic gene delivery vectors with magnetically labeled cells while they are passaged and separated through the column. In a model cell mixture of the suspension K562 and Jurkat T cells we have demonstrated that an optimized loading of the separation column with magnetic vectors does not interfere with cell separation efficiency and genetic modification occurs predominantly in the target cell population for both nonviral and viral magnetic vectors. Optimized magnetic vector formulations allow almost complete vector immobilization and association with the target cells at the column. The stronger magnetic forces prevailing in a high gradient field magnetic separation column and also the high concentration of "reactants" (vectors and cells) under magselectofection conditions enforce vector-target cell contact and enhance internalization of the vectors resulting in highly efficient transfection/ transduction cell lines and primary monocell cultures. In human umbilical cord mesenchymal cells at an applied 8 pg plasmid DNA per cell, 30% of cells were transfected and 60-100% cells were transduced depending on the donor when using 0.5 transducing units lentivirus per cells. Reporter gene expression was stably maintained during 1 month for most of the donors. At a lentiviral MOI 5 and low cell density 21% of hCB-CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were transduced with eGFP reporter and maintained their progenitor cell phenotype after magselectofection. Lentiviral magselectofection with low MOIs ( $\leq$ 3) yielded up to 50% transduced mouse Lin<sup>-</sup>Sca1<sup>+</sup> cells, which persistently reconstitute T and B cells in  $Il2rg^{-/-}$  mice, compared to less than 10% with higher MOIs using standard transduction protocol for Lin<sup>-</sup> bone marrow cells [297]. The developed technology can become a valuable tool for cell therapies with genetically engineered cells.



**Fig. 15.** Oncolytic effect of magnetic Ad520 in multidrug-resistant 181RDB-fLuc Cells. (a)  $IC_{50}$  for the oncolysis of the 181RDB-fLuc cells with virus alone or with magnetic virus complexes prepared at different nanoparticle-to-virus particle ratios versus time postinfection in cell culture medium containing 7.5% FCS with positioning on the magnetic plate for 30 min after adding the virus or magnetic complexes. (c) Oncolytic effect of Ad520 or Ad520–PEI-Mag2 complexes at a ratio of 5 fg of Fe/VP in 181RDB-fLuc cells were plotted against the internalized virus dose assessed from the experimental curves on virus internalization shown in Fig. 9.  $IC_{50}$  was calculated in terms of the internalized pfu/cell for both the virus and its magnetic complexes. Reproduced with permission from ACS Publications: Molecular Pharmaceutics [55].



Fig. 16. Drug-loaded microbubbles hold potential as "magic bullet" agents to deliver drugs to precise locations in the body, these precise locations being determined by where the ultrasound energy is focused.

Reproduced with permission from [86] © Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

#### 9. Magnetic oncolytic adenovirus

Despite the many reports on magnetically enhanced infection, little is known about whether or how this concept can be used to enhance the oncolytic potency of replicating viruses. Oncolytic viruses count among the most promising innovative cancer therapeutics. Therefore, we examined the potential of boosting the efficacy of the oncolytic adenovirus dl520 by associating it with magnetic nanoparticles and magnetic-field-guided infection in multidrug-resistant (MDR) CAR-deficient tumor cancer cells *in vitro* and upon intratumoral injection *in vivo* [55]. Characteristics and morphology of the Ad520 complexes with PEI-Mag2 nanoparticles are given in Table 4



**Fig. 17.** Characterization of the MAALs using light/fluorescence microscopy and TEM. (a) Phase contrast and (b) fluorescence (measured at a wavelength of 490/509 nm) microscopy images of the MAALs Tw-Mag-AAL/pBLuc/YOYO-1 composed of fluidMAG-Tween-60 MNPs and the luciferase plasmid pBLuc, which was fluorescently labeled with the intercalated dye YOYO-1. (c) The size distribution of the Tw-Mag-AALs based on quantitative analysis of the microscopy images. (d and e) TEM images of the Tw-Mag-AAL/pBLuc embedded in 10% gelatin.

Reproduced with permission from [86] © Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

and in Fig. 8, respectively. Viral uptake into cells with optimized magnetic virus complexes at a given virus dose was enhanced 10-fold compared to nonmagnetic virus when infections were carried out under the influence of a magnetic field (Fig. 9). Increased virus internalization resulted in a 10-fold enhancement of the oncolytic potency in terms of the dose required for killing 50% of the target cells (IC<sub>50</sub> value, Fig. 15a) and an enhancement of 4 orders of magnitude in virus progeny formation at equal input virus doses compared to nonmagnetic viruses. The observed virus uptake was independent of the CAR expression of cells. The full oncolytic effect developed very fast within 2 days post-infection compared with 6 days in a nonmagnetic virus as a reference. Plotting target cell viability versus internalized virus particles for magnetic and nonmagnetic virus showed that the inherent oncolytic productivity of the virus remained unchanged upon association with magnetic nanoparticles (Fig. 15b). Hence, we concluded that the mechanism of boosting the oncolytic effect by magnetic force is mainly due to the improved internalization of magnetic virus complexes resulting in potentiated virus progeny formation. Upon intratumoral injection and application of a gradient magnetic field in a murine xenograft model in a pilot experiment,



**Fig. 18.** MAAL imaging in a dorsal-skinfold chamber mouse model. (a) Schematics of the dorsal-skinfold chamber mouse model. Intravital microscopic images in an area of the skinfold chamber window that were extracted from the video clips documenting the circulation and targeting of the fluorescently labeled MAALs. A volume of  $100 \,\mu$  (~2×10<sup>8</sup> bubbles) Tw-Mag-AAL/pBLuc/YQYO-1 MAALs loaded with 4 µg plasmid was injected into the carotid arteries of mice. The video clips were recorded at a wavelength of 490/509 nm; b) with no magnetic field applied; c) on application of a Nd-Fe-B permanent magnet ( $d = 10 \,$  mm,  $h = 10 \,$  mm; remanence 1080–1150 mT); d) under the application of both ultrasound and the magnetic field. The ultrasound was applied using a 6 mm ultrasound probe attached to the Sonitron 2000D device operating at 1 MHz at 2 W cm<sup>-2</sup> and 100% duty cycle for 5 min; e) red fluorescent protein (RFP) expression in mouse vessels after the intrajugular injection of 200 µl MAALs loaded with 8 µg RFP plasmid. In this experiment, the magnetic field was generated using the electromagnet that was applied in the biodistribution experiments. Reproduced with permission from [86] © Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

magnetic virus complexes exhibited a stronger oncolytic effect than adenovirus alone. We propose that this approach would be useful during *in vivo* administration to tumor-feeding blood vessels to boost the efficacy of the primary infection cycle within the tumor. For systemic application, further modification of magnetic adenovirus complexes for shielding and retargeting of the whole magnetic virus complex entity is needed.

#### 10. Magnetic microbubbles

The feasibility and efficacy of magnetic drug targeting, particularly upon systemic administration, are limited by two constraints. One is the rapid clearance of particulate drug carriers from the circulation which we have discussed above. The other is the difficulty of exerting sufficient magnetic force to nanomagnetic carriers to counterbalance the hydrodynamic forces of the blood stream. The underlying physics has been discussed in excellent papers elsewhere [20,280]. The objective is optimizing retention, tissue penetration and cellular uptake. The magnetic force acting on a magnetic drug carrier is proportional to the magnetic flux density, the field gradient and to the third power of its radius. The hydrodynamic force acting on this carrier according to Stoke's law is proportional to the first power of the radius. Based on a simplified consideration, one can predict that increasing the particle size will over-proportionally be in favor of the magnetic force. On the other hand, constraints on a suitable particle size for in vivo applications are given by the diameter of blood capillaries (around 5 µm). Embolization needs to be avoided.

Therefore, magnetic formulations are required that "appear" to be large diameter magnetic particles to the magnetic field, which however are small enough or have inherent flexibility to travel through blood capillaries like blood cells do. Some of these requirements are fulfilled by magnetic liposomes [298,299]. Another approach is combining sonoporation and magnetofection. Microbubbles are gas bubbles usually of a few micrometers in diameter surrounded by a shell which can consist of proteins, polymers, lipids or combinations thereof. Due to their gas content, they are excellent reflectors of ultrasound. Consequently they are used as contrast agents in medical ultrasound imaging. Both low molecular weight drugs and nucleic acids can be associated with microbubbles in various ways. In addition, microbubbles can be targeted exploiting receptor-ligand type interactions (including antigen-antibody interactions) [300,301]. Drug-loaded microbubbles hold potential as "magic bullet" agents to deliver drugs to precise locations in the body, these precise locations being determined by where the ultrasound energy is focused [301,302]. The interaction of microbubbles and ultrasound in the low MHz range leads to cavitation, microstreaming and eventually to bubble burst and consequent drug release [303]. In addition, cavitation can lead to microvessel rupture leading to increased permeability of the endothelial barrier [304,305]. This effect has been used to deliver nanoparticles and even red blood cells to the interstitium of rat skeletal muscle [306]. Cavitation nuclei formed by microbubbles have also been used to permeabilize the blood-brain barrier [307]. Essential for a combination with magnetofection is that microbubbles have been used very successfully in nucleic acid delivery in a variety of tissues [308-310].

Based on this state of the art, we [86,257,311–313] and others [314] reasoned that microbubbles may be ideal carriers to incorporate a high quantity of magnetic nanoparticles as well as active agents such as drugs or nucleic acids (Fig. 16). This idea had already been published in the year 2000 by Soetanto and coworkers [315]. The expectation was that the flexibility of this carrier should be sufficient to "squeeze" through blood capillaries and that magnetic accumulation of the carrier against hydrodynamic forces ought to be facilitated compared with "free", physically uncoupled magnetic nanoparticles. This has been confirmed in a series of *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments published recently [86,313]. We have developed two generations of magnetic microbubbles. The first generation which we call magnetic acoustically active

lipospheres (MAALs) was based on a composition developed by Unger et al. for the delivery of hydrophobic drugs (Fig. 17) [316]. Its main component is soybean oil that has been stabilized by an outer layer of amphipathic lipids. In order to bind nucleic acids, we included a cationic lipid transfection reagent in this formulation, and to make it magnetic, we incorporated detergent-coated magnetic nanoparticles. This formulation has high binding capacity for nucleic acids and has favorable magnetic properties but is not very responsive to ultrasound. In cell culture, ultrasound application did not have an enhancing effect in gene or siRNA delivery over magnetic field application alone. However, in a pre-clinical model of ischemic skin flap survival in rats which is relevant in reconstructive surgery, the best therapeutic effect VEGF-gene-loaded MAALs was achieved with a combined application of magnetic field and ultrasound [257]. In this particular model, MAALs are injected subcutaneously in the skin flap area. The expression of the VEGF gene leads to the formation of new blood vessels, which improves the blood supply to the tissue. In another model, a dorsal skinfold chamber model in mice, nucleic acid deposition in the target area upon injection into the blood circulation was only achieved when the magnetic field and ultrasound were applied in combination (Fig. 18) [312]. Stride et al. have reported on a magnetic microbubble composition which is highly responsive to ultrasound [314]. They have achieved a significant enhancement of gene transfer efficiency in cell culture through combined application of ultrasound and magnetic field. Our second generation of magnetic microbubbles appears to have similar properties, is highly responsive to ultrasound and gives excellent contrast in ultrasound imaging [312].

Summarizing, magnetic microbubbles are promising carriers for localized nucleic acid delivery. Clearly, further studies are required to optimize the system. Nevertheless, one can already state that magnetic microbubbles will be useful in the combining drug delivery, ultrasound and magnetic resonance imaging.

#### 11. Conclusions and perspectives

Major progress has been made in this field during the last 10 years, reflected in an exponentially growing number of publications. Being commercially available, magnetofection has become a widely used research tool. Being applicable virtually with any type of nucleic acid and any kind of nonviral or viral gene vector, it can improve the efficacy of gene delivery in many applications. Now, that the benefits and potentials of magnetofection have been highlighted comprehensively it is time to acknowledge that the method is not a solution for any limitation in nucleic acid delivery. After many years of research, conventional forms of delivery have been advanced successfully to clinical trials. Other forms of targeting and other physical methods of delivery are highly promising. To date, side by side comparisons or combinations for example with electroporation, sonoporation, hydroporation, aerosolization, ballistic methods, occlusion of the blood outflow from the target organ or biological targeting are still rare. In the absence of further evidence, any of the named methods needs to be considered as promising as magnetofection is. Electroporation is probably the most advanced method and the efficiency of this method in vitro and in vivo, particularly with non-dividing cells, still needs to be achieved with magnetofection. When compared to all the other physical methods, the major advantage of magnetofection is that it is able to combine simplicity, non-expensiveness, localization of delivery, enhanced efficiency and reduction of incubation time and of vector doses (cited from [138]). The true potential of the method is possibly its amenability to innovation with integrated technologies. Examples are combined magnetic cell separation and nucleic acid delivery for future cell therapies, magnetic positioning of genetically engineered cells for tissue regeneration and tissue engineering and theranostic systems for integrated nucleic acid delivery and multimodal medical imaging. There is plenty of work to be done for years to come.

#### Acknowledgments

We gratefully acknowledge funding by the European Commission (6th Framework Program, contract LSHB-CT-2006-19038-Magselectofection) and the support from the German Research Foundation, through DFG Research Unit FOR917 (Project PL 281/3-1), from the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research through grants ELA 10/002, AN 333/1-1 'Nanoguide' and 13N9181, and from the Excellence Cluster 'Nanosystems Initiative Munich'.

#### References

- [1] C.E. Smull, E.H. Ludwig, Enhancement of the plaque-forming capacity of poliovirus ribonucleic acid with basic proteins, J. Bacteriol, 84 (1962) 1035–1040.
- [2] A. Vaheri, J.S. Pagano, Infectious poliovirus RNA: a sensitive method of assay, Virology 27 (1965) 434-436.
- [3] E.L. Tatum, Molecular biology, nucleic acids, and the future of medicine, Perspect. Biol. Med. 10 (1966) 19-32.
- [4] J. Rosenecker, The long and winding road to clinical success in gene therapy, Curr. Opin. Mol. Ther. 12 (2010) 507-508.
- [5] Gene Therapy Clinical Trials Worldwide, Gene Therapy Clinical Trials Worldwide Provided by the Journal of Gene Medicine, John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 2010.
- [6] D. Luo, W.M. Saltzman, Enhancement of transfection by physical concentration of DNA at the cell surface, Nat. Biotechnol. 18 (2000) 893-895.
- [7] A.R. Kuehnle, M.R. Kuehnle, Magnetophoretic Particle Delivery Method and Apparatus for the Treatment of Cells, U.S.P. Office (Ed.), USA, 1994
- [8] D.C.F. Chan, Magneto-biolistic Methods, U.S.P. Office (Ed.), University Technology Corporation, USA, 1996.
- [9] C. Mah, I. Zolotukhin, T.J. Fraites, J. Dobson, C. Batich, B.J. Byrne, Microspheremediated delivery of recombinant AAV vectors in vitro and in vivo, Mol. Ther. (2000) \$239.
- C. Plank, F. Scherer, U. Schillinger, M. Anton, Magnetofection: enhancement and [10] localization of gene delivery with magnetic particles under the influence of a magnetic field, J. Gene Med. Vol. 2 (Suppl) (2000) 24.
- [11] O. Mykhaylyk, Y.S. Antequera, D. Vlaskou, C. Plank, Generation of magnetic nonviral gene transfer agents and magnetofection in vitro, Nat. Protoc. 2 (2007) 2391-2411.
- [12] C. Plank, M. Anton, C. Rudolph, J. Rosenecker, F. Krotz, Enhancing and targeting nucleic acid delivery by magnetic force, Expert. Opin. Biol. Ther. 3 (2003) 45-758
- [13] C. Hughes, J. Galea-Lauri, F. Farzaneh, D. Darling, Streptavidin paramagnetic particles provide a choice of three affinity-based capture and magnetic concentration strategies for retroviral vectors, Mol. Ther. 3 (2001) 623-630.
- [14] F. Scherer, M. Anton, U. Schillinger, J. Henke, C. Bergemann, A. Kruger, B. Gansbacher, C. Plank, Magnetofection: enhancing and targeting gene delivery by magnetic force in vitro and in vivo, Gene Ther. 9 (2002) 102-109.
- [15] C. Mah, T.J. Fraites Jr., I. Zolotukhin, S. Song, T.R. Flotte, J. Dobson, C. Batich, B.J. Byrne, Improved method of recombinant AAV2 delivery for systemic targeted gene therapy, Mol. Ther. 6 (2002) 106-112.
- [16] S. Huth, J. Lausier, C. Rudolph, C. Planck, S. Gersting, U. Welsch, J. Rosenecker, Characterisation of the mechanism of magnetofection, Mol. Ther. 7 (2003) 967.
- F. Krotz, C. de Wit, H.Y. Sohn, S. Zahler, T. Gloe, U. Pohl, C. Plank, Magnetofection-a [17] highly efficient tool for antisense oligonucleotide delivery in vitro and in vivo, Mol. Ther. 7 (2003) 700-710.
- [18] F. Krotz, H.Y. Sohn, T. Gloe, C. Plank, U. Pohl, Magnetofection potentiates gene delivery to cultured endothelial cells, J. Vasc. Res. 40 (2003) 425-434.
- [19] C. Plank, U. Schillinger, F. Scherer, C. Bergemann, J.S. Remy, F. Krotz, M. Anton, J. Lausier, J. Rosenecker, The magnetofection method: using magnetic force to enhance gene delivery, Biol. Chem. 384 (2003) 737-747.
- [20] Q.A. Pankhurst, J. Connolly, S.K. Jones, J. Dobson, Applications of magnetic nanoparticles in biomedicine, J. Phys. D Appl. Phys. 36 (2003) R167-R181.
- C.C. Berry, A.S.G. Curtis, Functionalisation of magnetic nanoparticles for applica-[21] tions in biomedicine, J. Phys. D Appl. Phys. 36 (2003) R198-R206.
- S.M. Moghimi, A.C. Hunter, J.C. Murray, Nanomedicine: current status and future [22] prospects, FASEB J. 19 (2005) 311-330.
- Z. Medarova, W. Pham, C. Farrar, V. Petkova, A. Moore, In vivo imaging of siRNA [23] delivery and silencing in tumors, Nat. Med. 13 (2007) 372-377.
- [24] J.S. Kim, T.J. Yoon, K.N. Yu, B.G. Kim, S.J. Park, H.W. Kim, K.H. Lee, S.B. Park, J.K. Lee, M.H. Cho, Toxicity and tissue distribution of magnetic nanoparticles in mice, Toxicol. Sci. 89 (2006) 338–347.
- [25] M.K. Yu, Y.Y. Jeong, J. Park, S. Park, J.W. Kim, J.J. Min, K. Kim, S. Jon, Drug-loaded superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for combined cancer imaging and therapy in vivo, Angew Chem. Int. Ed Engl. 47 (2008) 5362-5365.
- [26] A.H. Lu, E. Salabas, F. Schüth, Magnetic nanoparticles: synthesis, protection, functionalization, and application, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed Engl. 46 (2007) 1222-1244.
- [27] S. Laurent, D. Forge, M. Port, A. Roch, C. Robic, L.V. Elst, R.N. Muller, Magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles: synthesis, stabilization, vectorization, physicochemical characterizations, and biological applications, Chem. Rev. 108 (2008) 2064–2110.
- V.I. Shubayev, T.R. Pisanic Ii, S. Jin, Magnetic nanoparticles for theragnostics, [28] Adv. Drug Deliver Rev. 61 (2009) 467-477.
- B. Polyak, G. Friedman, Magnetic targeting for site-specific drug delivery: appli-[29] cations and clinical potential, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 6 (2009) 53-70.

- [30] A.G. Roca, R. Costo, A.F. Rebolledo, S. Veintemillas-Verdaguer, P. Tartai, T. Gonzalez-Carreno, M.P. Morales, C.J. Serna, Progress in the preparation of magnetic nanoparticles for applications in biomedicine, J. Phys. D Appl. Phys. 42 (2009). J. Chomoucka, J. Drbohlavova, D. Huska, V. Adam, R. Kizek, J. Hubalek, Magnetic
- [31] nanoparticles and targeted drug delivering, Pharmacol. Res. 62 (2010) 144-149.
- [32] A. Louie, Multimodality imaging probes: design and challenges, Chem. Rev. 110 (2010) 3146-3195
- [33] F.M. Kievit, O. Veiseh, N. Bhattarai, C. Fang, J.W. Gunn, D. Lee, R.G. Ellenbogen, J. M. Olson, M. Zhang, PEI-PEG-chitosan copolymer coated iron oxide nanoparti-cles for safe gene delivery: synthesis, complexation, and transfection, Adv. Funct. Mater. 19 (2009) 2244-2251.
- [34] K.M. Krishnan, Biomedical nanomagnetics: a spin through possibilities in imaging, diagnostics, and therapy, IEEE Trans. Magn. 46 (2010) 2523-2558.
- [35] H.P. Lesch, M.U. Kaikkonen, J.T. Pikkarainen, S. Yla-Herttuala, Avidin-biotin technology in targeted therapy, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 7 (2010) 551-564.
- L. Chan, D. Nesbeth, T. Mackey, J. Galea-Lauri, J. Gaken, F. Martin, M. Collins, G. [36] Mufti, F. Farzaneh, D. Darling, Conjugation of lentivirus to paramagnetic particles via nonviral proteins allows efficient concentration and infection of primary acute myeloid leukemia cells, J. Virol. 79 (2005) 13190-13194.
- [37] M.U. Kaikkonen, J.I. Viholainen, A. Narvanen, S. Yla-Herttuala, K.J. Airenne, Targeting and purification of metabolically biotinylated baculovirus, Hum. Gene Ther. 19 (2008) 589-600.
- K. Morizono, Y.M. Xie, G. Helguera, T.R. Daniels, T.F. Lane, M.L. Penichet, I.S.Y. [38] Chen, A versatile targeting system with lentiviral vectors bearing the biotinadaptor peptide, J. Gene Med. 11 (2009) 655-663
- [39] M. Pandori, D. Hobson, T. Sano, Adenovirus-microbead conjugates possess enhanced infectivity: a new strategy for localized gene delivery, Virology 299 (2002) 204-212.
- [40] J.K. Raty, K.J. Airenne, A.T. Marttila, V. Marjomaki, V.P. Hytonen, P. Lehtolainen, O.H. Laitinen, A.J. Mahonen, M.S. Kulomaa, S. Yla-Herttuala, Enhanced gene delivery by avidin-displaying baculovirus, Mol. Ther. 9 (2004) 282-291.
- [41] M. Chorny, I. Fishbein, I. Alferiev, R.J. Levy, Magnetically responsive biodegradable nanoparticles enhance adenoviral gene transfer in cultured smooth muscle and endothelial cells, Mol. Pharm. 6 (2009) 1380-1387.
- [42] M. Chorny, B. Polyak, I.S. Alferiev, K. Walsh, G. Friedman, R.J. Levy, Magnetically driven plasmid DNA delivery with biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles, FASEB J. 21 (2007) 2510-2519.
- [43] J.M. Perez, F.J. Simeone, Y. Saeki, L. Josephson, R. Weissleder, Viral-induced selfassembly of magnetic nanoparticles allows the detection of viral particles in biological media, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 125 (2003) 10192-10193.
- H. Shao, T.-J. Yoon, M. Liong, R. Weissleder, H. Lee, Magnetic nanoparticles for biomedical NMR-based diagnostics, Beilstein J. Nanotechnol. 1 (2010) 142-154.
- [45] L. Josephson, C.H. Tung, A. Moore, R. Weissleder, High-efficiency intracellular magnetic labeling with novel superparamagnetic-tat peptide conjugates, Bioconjug. Chem. 10 (1999) 186-191.
- E.Y. Sun, L. Josephson, K.A. Kelly, R. Weissleder, Development of nanoparticle li-[46] braries for biosensing, Bioconjug. Chem. 17 (2006) 109-113.
- [47] R. Singh, K. Kostarelos, Designer adenoviruses for nanomedicine and nanodiagnostics, Trends Biotechnol. 27 (2009) 220-229.
- [48] K. Agopian, B.L. Wei, J.V. Garcia, D. Gabuzda, A hydrophobic binding surface on the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef core is critical for association with p21-activated kinase 2, J. Virol. 80 (2006) 3050-3061.
- [49] Q.G. Li, K. Lindman, G. Wadell, Hydropathic characteristics of adenovirus hexons, Arch. Virol. 142 (1997) 1307-1322.
- [50] T. Shikano, H. Kasuya, T.T. Sahin, N. Nomura, A. Kanzaki, M. Misawa, Y. Nishikawa, T. Shirota, S. Yamada, T. Fujii, H. Sugimoto, N. Kanazumi, S. Nomoto, S. Takeda, A. Nakao, High therapeutic potential for systemic delivery of a liposome-conjugated herpes simplex virus, Curr. Cancer Drug Targets 11 (2011) 111-122.
- [51] R. Singh, K.T. Al-Jamal, L. Lacerda, K. Kostarelos, Nanoengineering artificial lipid envelopes around adenovirus by self-assembly, ACS Nano 2 (2008) 1040-1050.
- S. Worgall, T.S. Worgall, K. Kostarelos, R. Singh, P.L. Leopold, N.R. Hackett, R.G. Crystal, Free cholesterol enhances adenoviral vector gene transfer and expression in CAR-deficient cells, Mol. Ther. 1 (2000) 39-48.
- [53] A. Hofmann, D. Wenzel, U.M. Becher, D.F. Freitag, A.M. Klein, D. Eberbeck, M. Schulte, K. Zimmermann, C. Bergemann, B. Gleich, W. Roell, T. Weyh, L. Trahms, G. Nickenig, B.K. Fleischmann, A. Pfeifer, Combined targeting of lentiviral vectors and positioning of transduced cells by magnetic nanoparticles, Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 106 (2009) 44-49.
- [54] C. Orlando, S. Castellani, O. Mykhaylyk, E. Copreni, O. Zelphati, C. Plank, M. Conese, Magnetically guided lentiviral-mediated transduction of airway epithelial cells, J. Gene Med. 12 (2010) 747-754.
- [55] N. Tresilwised, P. Pithayanukul, O. Mykhaylyk, P.S. Holm, R. Holzmuller, M. Anton, S. Thalhammer, D. Adiguzel, M. Doblinger, C. Plank, Boosting oncolytic adenovirus potency with magnetic nanoparticles and magnetic force, Mol. Pharm. 7 (2010) 1069–1089.
- [56] M.F. Tai, K.M. Chi, K.H.W. Lau, D.J. Baylink, S.T. Chen, Generation of magnetic retroviral vectors with magnetic nanoparticles, Rev. Adv. Mater. Sci. 5 (2003) 319-323
- [57] S. Kadota, T. Kanayama, N. Miyajima, K. Takeuchi, K. Nagata, Enhancing of measles virus infection by magnetofection, J. Virol. Meth. 128 (2005) 61-66.
- T. Buerli, C. Pellegrino, K. Baer, B. Lardi-Studler, I. Chudotvorova, I.M. Fritschy, I. [58] Medina, C. Fuhrer, Efficient transfection of DNA or shRNA vectors into neurons using magnetofection, Nat. Protoc. 2 (2007) 3090-3101.
- Y. Shi, L. Zhou, R. Wang, Y. Pang, W. Xiao, H. Li, Y. Su, X. Wang, B. Zhu, X. Zhu, D. [59] Yan, H. Gu, In situ preparation of magnetic nonviral gene vectors and magnetofection in vitro, Nanotechnology 21 (2010) 115103.

- [60] R. Namgung, K. Singha, M.K. Yu, S. Jon, Y.S. Kim, Y. Ahn, I.K. Park, W.J. Kim, Hybrid superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticle-branched polyethylenimine magnetoplexes for gene transfection of vascular endothelial cells, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 4204–4213.
- [61] B. Steitz, H. Hofmann, S.W. Kamau, P.O. Hassa, M.O. Hottiger, B. von Rechenberg, M. Hofmann-Amtenbrink, A. Petri-Fink, Characterization of PEI-coated superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for transfection: size distribution, colloidal properties and DNA interaction, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 311 (2007) 300–305.
- [62] A. Ito, T. Takahashi, Y. Kameyama, Y. Kawabe, M. Kamihira, Magnetic concentration of a retroviral vector using magnetite cationic liposomes, Tissue Eng. Part C Methods 15 (2009) 57–64.
- [63] Y. Namiki, T. Namiki, H. Yoshida, Y. Ishii, A. Tsubota, S. Koido, K. Nariai, M. Mitsunaga, S. Yanagisawa, H. Kashiwagi, Y. Mabashi, Y. Yumoto, S. Hoshina, K. Fujise, N. Tada, A novel magnetic crystal-lipid nanostructure for magnetically guided in vivo gene delivery, Nat. Nanotechnol. 4 (2009) 598–606.
- [64] B. Pan, D. Cui, Y. Sheng, C. Ozkan, F. Gao, R. He, Q. Li, P. Xu, T. Huang, Dendrimermodified magnetic nanoparticles enhance efficiency of gene delivery system, Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 8156–8163.
- [65] X. Zheng, J. Lu, L. Deng, Y. Xiong, J. Chen, Preparation and characterization of magnetic cationic liposome in gene delivery, Int. J. Pharm. 366 (2009) 211–217.
- [66] S.R. Bhattarai, S.Y. Kim, K.Y. Jang, K.C. Lee, H.K. Yi, D.Y. Lee, H.Y. Kim, P.H. Hwang, N-hexanoyl chitosan-stabilized magnetic nanoparticles: enhancement of adenoviral-mediated gene expression both in vitro and in vivo, Nanomed. Nanotechnol. Biol. Med. 4 (2008) 146–154.
- [67] S.R. Bhattarai, S.Y. Kim, K.Y. Jang, K.C. Lee, H.K. Yi, D.Y. Lee, H.Y. Kim, P.H. Hwang, Laboratory formulated magnetic nanoparticles for enhancement of viral gene expression in suspension cell line, J. Virol. Meth. 147 (2008) 213–218.
- [68] H.H.P. Yiu, S.C. McBain, A.J. El Haj, J. Dobson, A triple-layer design for polyethyleneimine-coated, nanostructured magnetic particles and their use in DNA binding and transfection, Nanotechnology 18 (2007).
- [69] H.H.P. Yiu, S.C. McBain, Z.A.D. Lethbridge, M.R. Lees, J. Dobson, Preparation and characterization of polyethylenimine-coated Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>–MCM-48 nanocomposite particles as a novel agent for magnet-assisted transfection, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 92A (2010) 386–392.
- [70] H.C. Wu, T.W. Wang, M.C. Bohn, F.H. Lin, M. Spector, Novel magnetic hydroxyapatite nanoparticles as non-viral vectors for the glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor gene, Adv. Funct. Mater. 20 (2010) 67–77.
- [71] H.P. Song, J.Y. Yang, S.L. Lo, Y. Wang, W.M. Fan, X.S. Tang, J.M. Xue, S. Wang, Gene transfer using self-assembled ternary complexes of cationic magnetic nanoparticles, plasmid DNA and cell-penetrating Tat peptide, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 769–778.
- [72] X. Pan, J. Guan, J.-W. Yoo, A.J. Epstein, L.J. Lee, R.J. Lee, Cationic lipid-coated magnetic nanoparticles associated with transferrin for gene delivery, Int. J. Pharm. 358 (2008) 263–270.
- [73] F.M. Kievit, O. Veiseh, C. Fang, N. Bhattarai, D. Lee, R.G. Ellenbogen, M. Zhang, Chlorotoxin labeled magnetic nanovectors for targeted gene delivery to glioma, ACS Nano 4 (2010) 4587–4594.
- [74] H. Mok, O. Veiseh, C. Fang, F.M. Kievit, F.Y. Wang, J.O. Park, M.Q. Zhang, pH-Sensitive siRNA nanovector for targeted gene silencing and cytotoxic effect in cancer cells, Mol. Pharm. 7 (2010) 1930–1939.
- [75] O. Mykhaylyk, Y. Sanchez-Antequera, D. Vlaskou, E. Hammerschmid, M. Anton, O. Zelphati, C. Plank, Liposomal magnetofection, Meth. Mol. Biol. 605 (2010) 487–525.
- [76] O. Mykhaylyk, O. Zelphati, E. Hammerschmid, M. Anton, J. Rosenecker, C. Plank, Recent advances in magnetofection and its potential to deliver siRNAs in vitro, Meth. Mol. Biol. 487 (2009) 111–146.
- [77] C.E. Krill, R. Birringer, Estimating grain-size distributions in nanocrystalline materials from X-ray diffraction profile analysis, Philos. Mag. A 77 (1998) 621–640.
- [78] O. Mykhaylyk, D. Vlaskou, N. Tresilwised, P. Pithayanukul, W. Moller, C. Plank, Magnetic nanoparticle formulations for DNA and siRNA delivery, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 311 (2007) 275–281.
- [79] Y. Sanchez-Antequera, O. Mykhaylyk, S. Thalhammer, C. Plank, Gene delivery to Jurkat T cells using non-viral vectors associated with magnetic nanoparticles, Int. J. Biomed. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 1 (2010) 202–229.
- [80] H. Haim, I. Steiner, A. Panet, Synchronized infection of cell cultures by magnetically controlled virus, J. Virol. 79 (2005) 622–625.
- [81] I. Rouzina, V.A. Bloomfield, Macroion attraction due to electrostatic correlation between screening counterions.1. Mobile surface-adsorbed ions and diffuse ion cloud, J. Phys. Chem. 100 (1996) 9977–9989.
- [82] J.Z. Wu, D. Bratko, J.M. Prausnitz, Interaction between like-charged colloidal spheres in electrolyte solutions, Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 95 (1998) 15169–15172.
- [83] Y. Sanchez-Antequera, O. Mykhaylyk, N.P. van Til, A. Cengizeroglu, J.H. de Jong, M.W. Huston, M. Anton, I.C. Johnston, Z. Pojda, G. Wagemaker, C. Plank, Magselectofection: an integrated method of nanomagnetic separation and genetic modification of target cells, Blood 117 (2011) e171–e181.
- [84] O. Mykhaylyk, A. Steingotter, H. Perea, J. Aigner, R. Botnar, C. Plank, Nucleic acid delivery to magnetically-labeled cells in a 2D array and at the luminal surface of cell culture tube and their detection by MRI, J. Biomed. Nanotechnol. 5 (2009) 692–706.
- [85] O. Mykhaylyk, O. Zelphati, J. Rosenecker, C. Plank, siRNA delivery by magnetofection, Curr. Opin. Mol. Ther. 10 (2008) 493–505.
- [86] D. Vlaskou, O. Mykhaylyk, F. Krötz, N. Hellwig, R. Renner, U. Schillinger, B. Gleich, A. Heidsieck, G. Schmitz, K. Hensel, C. Plank, Magnetic and acoustically active lipospheres for magnetically targeted nucleic acid delivery, Adv. Funct. Mater. 20 (2010) 3881–3894.
- [87] O. Mykhaylyk, N. Dudchenko, A. Dudchenko, Doxorubicin magnetic conjugate targeting upon intravenous injection into mice: high gradient magnetic field

inhibits the clearance of nanoparticles from the blood, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 293 (2005) 473-482.

- [88] C. Wilhelm, F. Gazeau, J.C. Bacri, Magnetophoresis and ferromagnetic resonance of magnetically labeled cells, Eur. Biophys. J. Biophys. 31 (2002) 118–125.
- [89] U.O. Hafeli, M.A. Lobedann, J. Steingroewer, L.R. Moore, J. Riffle, Optical method for measurement of magnetophoretic mobility of individual magnetic microspheres in defined magnetic field, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 293 (2005) 224–239.
- [90] Y. Jing, N. Mal, P.S. Williams, M. Mayorga, M.S. Penn, J.J. Chalmers, M. Zborowski, Quantitative intracellular magnetic nanoparticle uptake measured by live cell magnetophoresis, FASEB J. 22 (2008) 4239–4247.
- [91] M. Ogris, P. Steinlein, M. Kursa, K. Mechtler, R. Kircheis, E. Wagner, The size of DNA/transferrin-PEI complexes is an important factor for gene expression in cultured cells, Gene Ther. 5 (1998) 1425–1433.
- [92] P.C. Ross, S.W. Hui, Lipoplex size is a major determinant of in vitro lipofection efficiency, Gene Ther. 6 (1999) 651–659.
- [93] W. Li, T. Ishida, Y. Okada, N. Oku, H. Kiwada, Increased gene expression by cationic liposomes (TFL-3) in lung metastases following intravenous injection, Biol. Pharm. Bull. 28 (2005) 701–706.
- [94] C. Meda, C. Plank, O. Mykhaylyk, K. Schmidt, B. Mayer, Effects of statins on nitric oxide/cGMP signaling in human umbilical vein endothelial cells, Pharmacol. Rep. 62 (2010) 100–112.
- [95] A. Agrawal, D.H. Min, N. Singh, H. Zhu, A. Birjiniuk, G. von Maltzahn, T.J. Harris, D. Xing, S.D. Woolfenden, P.A. Sharp, A. Charest, S. Bhatia, Functional delivery of siRNA in mice using dendriworms, ACS Nano 3 (2009) 2495–2504.
- [96] N. Tresilwised, O. Mykhaylyk, M. Anton, R. Holzmueller, P. Pithayanukul, P.S. Holm, C. Plank, Tuning of oncolytic adenovirus magnetic complexes: tumor-killing effect on CAR-deficient multidrug-resistant cancer cells, Hum. Gene Ther. 19 (2008) 1163.
- [97] K. Kamei, Y. Mukai, H. Kojima, T. Yoshikawa, M. Yoshikawa, G. Kiyohara, T.A. Yamamoto, Y. Yoshioka, N. Okada, S. Seino, S. Nakagawa, Direct cell entry of gold/iron-oxide magnetic nanoparticles in adenovirus mediated gene delivery, Biomaterials 30 (2009) 1809–1814.
- [98] Z. Medarova, M. Kumar, S.W. Ng, A. Moore, Development and application of a dual-purpose nanoparticle platform for delivery and imaging of siRNA in tumors, Meth. Mol. Biol. 555 (2009) 1–13.
- [99] Y.M. Huh, E.S. Lee, J.H. Lee, Y.w. Jun, P.H. Kim, C.O. Yun, J.H. Kim, J.S. Suh, J. Cheon, Hybrid nanoparticles for magnetic resonance imaging of target-specific viral gene delivery, Adv. Mater. 19 (2007) 3109–3112.
- [100] M. Everts, V. Saini, J.L. Leddon, R.J. Kok, M. Stoff-Khalili, M.A. Preuss, C.L. Millican, G. Perkins, J.M. Brown, H. Bagaria, D.E. Nikles, D.T. Johnson, V.P. Zharov, D.T. Curiel, Covalently linked au nanoparticles to a viral vector: potential for combined photothermal and gene cancer therapy, Nano Lett. 6 (2006) 587–591.
- [101] D. Nesbeth, S.L. Williams, L. Chan, T. Brain, N.K.H. Slater, F. Farzaneh, D. Darling, Metabolic biotinylation of lentiviral pseudotypes for scalable paramagnetic microparticle-dependent manipulation, Mol. Ther. 13 (2006) 814–822.
- [102] S. Huth, J. Lausier, S.W. Gersting, C. Rudolph, C. Plank, U. Welsch, J. Rosenecker, Insights into the mechanism of magnetofection using PEI-based magnetofectins for gene transfer, J. Gene Med. 6 (2004) 923–936.
- [103] C. Plank, B. Oberhauser, K. Mechtler, C. Koch, E. Wagner, The influence of endosome-disruptive peptides on gene transfer using synthetic virus-like gene transfer systems, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 12918–12924.
- [104] O. Boussif, F. Lezoualc'h, M.A. Zanta, M.D. Mergny, D. Scherman, B. Demeneix, J.P. Behr, A versatile vector for gene and oligonucleotide transfer into cells in culture and in vivo: polyethylenimine, Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 92 (1995) 7297–7301.
- [105] N.D. Sonawane, F.C. Szoka Jr., A.S. Verkman, Chloride accumulation and swelling in endosomes enhances DNA transfer by polyamine–DNA polyplexes, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 44826–44831.
- [106] A.M. Sauer, K.G. de Bruin, N. Ruthardt, O. Mykhaylyk, C. Plank, C. Brauchle, Dynamics of magnetic lipoplexes studied by single particle tracking in living cells, J. Control. Release 137 (2009) 136–145.
- [107] K. de Bruin, N. Ruthardt, K. von Gersdorff, R. Bausinger, E. Wagner, M. Ogris, C. Brauchle, Cellular dynamics of EGF receptor-targeted synthetic viruses, Mol. Ther. 15 (2007) 1297–1305.
- [108] W. Li, N. Ma, LL. Ong, A. Kaminski, C. Skrabal, M. Ugurlucan, P. Lorenz, H.H. Gatzen, K. Lutzow, A. Lendlein, B.M. Putzer, R.K. Li, G. Steinhoff, Enhanced thoracic gene delivery by magnetic nanobead-mediated vector, J. Gene Med. 10 (2008) 897–909.
- [109] M. Arsianti, M. Lim, C.P. Marquis, R. Amal, Polyethylenimine based magnetic iron-oxide vector: the effect of vector component assembly on cellular entry mechanism, intracellular localization, and cellular viability, Biomacromolecules 11 (2010) 2521–2531.
- [110] M. Arsianti, M. Lim, C.P. Marquis, R. Amal, Assembly of polyethylenimine-based magnetic iron oxide vectors: insights into gene delivery, Langmuir 26 (2010) 7314–7326.
- [111] A.C. Hunter, S.M. Moghimi, Cationic carriers of genetic material and cell death: a mitochondrial tale, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1797 (2010) 1203–1209.
- [112] D. Ang, Q.V. Nguyen, S. Kayal, P.R. Preiser, R.S. Rawat, R.V. Ramanujan, Insights into the mechanism of magnetic particle assisted gene delivery, Acta Biomater. 7 (2011) 1319–1326.
- [113] E.P. Furlani, K.C. Ng, Nanoscale magnetic biotransport with application to magnetofection, Phys. Rev. E Stat. Nonlinear Soft Matter Phys. 77 (2008) 061914.
- [114] F.G. Mondalek, Y.Y. Zhang, B. Kropp, R.D. Kopke, X. Ge, R.L. Jackson, K.J. Dormer, The permeability of SPION over an artificial three-layer membrane is enhanced by external magnetic field, J. Nanobiotechnol. 4 (2006) 4.
- [115] M. Muthana, S.D. Scott, N. Farrow, F. Morrow, C. Murdoch, S. Grubb, N. Brown, J. Dobson, C.E. Lewis, A novel magnetic approach to enhance the efficacy of cell-based gene therapies, Gene Ther. 15 (2008) 902–910.

- [116] H. Zhang, M.Y. Lee, M.G. Hogg, J.S. Dordick, S.T. Sharfstein, Gene delivery in three-dimensional cell cultures by superparamagnetic nanoparticles, ACS Nano 4 (2010) 4733–4743.
- [117] C. MacDonald, G. Friedman, J. Alamia, K. Barbee, B. Polyak, Time-varied magnetic field enhances transport of magnetic nanoparticles in viscous gel, Nanomedicine-UK 5 (2010) 65–76.
- [118] S.W. Kamau, P.O. Hassa, B. Steitz, A. Petri-Fink, H. Hofmann, M. Hofmann-Amtenbrink, B. von Rechenberg, M.O. Hottiger, Enhancement of the efficiency of non-viral gene delivery by application of pulsed magnetic field, Nucleic Acids Res. 34 (2006).
- [119] S.W.K. Chapman, P.O. Hassa, S. Koch-Schneidemann, B. von Rechenberg, M. Hofmann-Amtenbrink, B. Steitz, A. Petri-Fink, H. Hofmann, M.O. Hottiger, Application of pulsed-magnetic field enhances non-viral gene delivery in primary cells from different origins, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 320 (2008) 1517–1527.
- [120] C.B. Chen, J.Y. Chen, W.C. Lee, Fast transfection of mammalian cells using superparamagnetic nanoparticles under strong magnetic field, J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 9 (2009) 2651–2659.
- [121] J.Y. Chen, Y.L. Liao, T.H. Wang, W.C. Lee, Transformation of *Escherichia coli* mediated by magnetic nanoparticles in pulsed magnetic field, Enzyme Microb. Technol. 39 (2006) 366–370.
- [122] S.C. McBain, U. Griesenbach, S. Xenariou, A. Keramane, C.D. Batich, E. Alton, J. Dobson, Magnetic nanoparticles as gene delivery agents: enhanced transfection in the presence of oscillating magnet arrays, Nanotechnology 19 (2008).
- [123] M. Pickard, D. Chari, Enhancement of magnetic nanoparticle-mediated gene transfer to astrocytes by 'magnetofection': effects of static and oscillating fields, Nanomedicine-UK 5 (2010) 217–232.
- [124] G. Apodaca, Modulation of membrane traffic by mechanical stimuli, Am. J. Physiol. Ren. Physiol. 282 (2002) F179–F190.
- [125] R.J. Mannix, S. Kumar, F. Cassiola, M. Montoya-Zavala, E. Feinstein, M. Prentiss, D.E. Ingber, Nanomagnetic actuation of receptor-mediated signal transduction, Nat. Nanotechnol. 3 (2008) 36–40.
- [126] S. Hughes, S. McBain, J. Dobson, A.J. El Haj, Selective activation of mechanosensitive ion channels using magnetic particles, J. R. Soc. Interface 5 (2008) 855–863.
- [127] J.P. Luzio, N.A. Bright, P.R. Pryor, The role of calcium and other ions in sorting and delivery in the late endocytic pathway, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 35 (2007) 1088–1091.
- [128] B. Polyak, I. Fishbein, M. Chorny, I. Alferiev, D. Williams, B. Yellen, G. Friedman, R.J. Levy, High field gradient targeting of magnetic nanoparticle-loaded endothelial cells to the surfaces of steel stents, Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 105 (2008) 698–703.
- [129] A.S. Arbab, J.A. Frank, Cellular MRI and its role in stem cell therapy, Regen. Med. 3 (2008) 199–215.
- [130] J.W.M. Bulte, In vivo MRI cell tracking: clinical studies, Am. J. Roentgenol. 193 (2009) 314–325.
- [131] D.L. Kraitchman, J.W.M. Bulte, In vivo imaging of stem cells and beta cells using direct cell labeling and reporter gene methods, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. 29 (2009) 1025–U1103.
- [132] J.M. Hill, A.J. Dick, V.K. Raman, R.B. Thompson, Z.X. Yu, K.A. Hinds, B.S. Pessanha, M.A. Guttman, T.R. Varney, B.J. Martin, C.E. Dunbar, E.R. McVeigh, R.J. Lederman, Serial cardiac magnetic resonance imaging of injected mesenchymal stem cells, Circulation 108 (2003) 1009–1014.
- [133] M.O. Aviles, A.D. Ebner, J.A. Ritter, In vitro study of magnetic particle seeding for implant-assisted-magnetic drug targeting: seed and magnetic drug carrier particle capture, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 321 (2009) 1586–1590.
- [134] C. Plank, J. Rosenecker, Magnetofection, in: T. Friedman, J. Rossi (Eds.), Gene Transfer: Delivery and Expression of DNA and RNA, A Laboratory Manual, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY, 2007, pp. 723–730.
- [135] C. Plank, J. Rosenecker, Magnetofection: the use of magnetic nanoparticles for nucleic acid delivery, CSH Protoc, 2009 pdb prot5230.
- [136] C. Plank, F. Scherer, C. Rudolph, Localized nucleic acid delivery: a discussion of selected methods, in: M. Schleef (Ed.), DNA Pharmaceuticals, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim, 2005, pp. 55–116.
- [137] C. Sapet, L. Le Gourrierec, U. Schillinger, O. Mykhaylyk, S. Augier, C. Plank, O. Zelphati, Magnetofection: magnetically assisted & targeted nucleic acids delivery, Drug Delivery Technol. 9 (2009) 24–29.
- [138] F. Scherer, C. Plank, Magnetofection: using magnetic particles and magnetic force to enhance and to target nucleic acid delivery, in: N. Smyth Templeton (Ed.), Gene and Cell Therapy: Therapeutic Mechanisms and Strategies, Third Edition, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2008, pp. 379–404.
- [139] E.V. Barsov, Selective immortalization of tumor-specific T cells to establish longterm T-cell lines maintaining primary cell characteristics, Meth. Mol. Biol. 511 (2009) 143–158.
- [140] K. Hosokawa, F. Arai, H. Yoshihara, H. Iwasaki, Y. Nakamura, Y. Gomei, T. Suda, Knockdown of N-cadherin suppresses the long-term engraftment of hematopoietic stem cells, Blood 116 (2010) 554–563.
- [141] T.D. King, B. Clodfelder-Miller, K.A. Barksdale, G.N. Bijur, Unregulated mitochondrial GSK3beta activity results in NADH: ubiquinone oxidoreductase deficiency, Neurotox. Res. 14 (2008) 367–382.
- [142] K. Miyazaki, N. Yamasaki, H. Oda, T. Kuwata, Y. Kanno, M. Miyazaki, Y. Komeno, J. Kitaura, Z. Honda, S. Warming, N.A. Jenkins, N.G. Copeland, T. Kitamura, T. Nakamura, H. Honda, Enhanced expression of p210BCR/ABL and aberrant expression of Zfp423/ZNF423 induce blast crisis of chronic myelogenous leukemia, Blood 113 (2009) 4702–4710.
- [143] E. Mizuhara, Y. Minaki, T. Nakatani, M. Kumai, T. Inoue, K. Muguruma, Y. Sasai, Y. Ono, Purkinje cells originate from cerebellar ventricular zone progenitors positive for Neph3 and E-cadherin, Dev. Biol. 338 (2010) 202–214.

- [144] K. Naka, T. Hoshii, T. Muraguchi, Y. Tadokoro, T. Ooshio, Y. Kondo, S. Nakao, N. Motoyama, A. Hirao, TGF-beta-FOXO signalling maintains leukaemia-initiating cells in chronic myeloid leukaemia, Nature 463 (2010) 676–680.
- [145] J.D. Pajerowski, K.N. Dahl, F.L. Zhong, P.J. Sammak, D.E. Discher, Physical plasticity of the nucleus in stem cell differentiation, Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 104 (2007) 15619–15624.
- [146] J.B. Sacha, C. Chung, E.G. Rakasz, S.P. Spencer, A.K. Jonas, A.T. Bean, W. Lee, B.J. Burwitz, J.J. Stephany, J.T. Loffredo, D.B. Allison, S. Adnan, A. Hoji, N.A. Wilson, T.C. Friedrich, J.D. Lifson, O.O. Yang, D.I. Watkins, Gag-specific CD8+ T lymphocytes recognize infected cells before AIDS-virus integration and viral protein expression, J. Immunol. 178 (2007) 2746–2754.
- [147] J.B. Sacha, M.B. Buechler, L.P. Newman, J. Reed, L.T. Wallace, J.T. Loffredo, N.A. Wilson, D.I. Watkins, Simian immunodeficiency virus-specific CD8+ T cells recognize Vpr- and Rev-derived epitopes early after infection, J. Virol. 84 (2010) 10907–10912.
- [148] J.A. Thomas, D.E. Ott, R.J. Gorelick, Efficiency of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 postentry infection processes: evidence against disproportionate numbers of defective virions, J. Virol. 81 (2007) 4367–4370.
- [149] Y.J. Wang, P.M. McKenna, R. Hrin, P. Felock, M. Lu, K.G. Jones, C.A. Coburn, J.A. Grobler, D.J. Hazuda, M.D. Miller, M.T. Lai, Assessment of the susceptibility of mutant HIV-1 to antiviral agents, J. Virol. Meth. 165 (2010) 230–237.
- [150] J.M. Greene, J.J. Lhost, B.J. Burwitz, M.L. Budde, C.E. Macnair, M.K. Weiker, E. Gostick, T.C. Friedrich, K.W. Broman, D.A. Price, S.L. O'Connor, D.H. O'Connor, Extralymphoid CD8+ T cells resident in tissue from simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac239(Delta)nef-vaccinated macaques suppress SIVmac239 replication ex vivo, J. Virol. 84 (2010) 3362–3372.
- [151] N.J. Maness, L.E. Valentine, G.E. May, J. Reed, S.M. Piaskowski, T. Soma, J. Furlott, E.G. Rakasz, T.C. Friedrich, D.A. Price, E. Gostick, A.L. Hughes, J. Sidney, A. Sette, N.A. Wilson, D.I. Watkins, AIDS virus specific CD8+ T lymphocytes against an immunodominant cryptic epitope select for viral escape, J. Exp. Med. 204 (2007) 2505–2512.
- [152] S.A. Migueles, C.M. Osborne, C. Royce, A.A. Compton, R.P. Joshi, K.A. Weeks, J.E. Rood, A.M. Berkley, J.B. Sacha, N.A. Cogliano-Shutta, M. Lloyd, G. Roby, R. Kwan, M. McLaughlin, S. Stallings, C. Rehm, M.A. O'Shea, J. Mican, B.Z. Packard, A. Komoriya, S. Palmer, A.P. Wiegand, F. Maldarelli, J.M. Coffin, J.W. Mellors, C.W. Hallahan, D.A. Follman, M. Connors, Lytic granule loading of CD8+ T cells is required for HIV-infected cell elimination associated with immune control, Immunity 29 (2008) 1009–1021.
- [153] J.B. Sacha, M.R. Reynolds, M.B. Buechler, C. Chung, A.K. Jonas, L.T. Wallace, A.M. Weiler, W. Lee, S.M. Piaskowski, T. Soma, T.C. Friedrich, N.A. Wilson, D.I. Watkins, Differential antigen presentation kinetics of CD8+ T-cell epitopes derived from the same viral protein, J. Virol. 82 (2008) 9293–9298.
- [154] L.V. Coren, J.A. Thomas, E. Chertova, R.C. Sowder II, T.D. Gagliardi, R.J. Gorelick, D.E. Ott, Mutational analysis of the C-terminal gag cleavage sites in human immunodeficiency virus type 1, J. Virol. 81 (2007) 10047–10054.
- [155] M.U. Kaikkonen, H.P. Lesch, J. Pikkarainen, J.K. Raty, T. Vuorio, T. Huhtala, M. Taavitsainen, T. Laitinen, P. Tuunanen, O. Grohn, A. Narvanen, K.J. Airenne, S. Yla-Herttuala, (Strept)avidin-displaying lentiviruses as versatile tools for targeting and dual imaging of gene delivery, Gene Ther. 16 (2009) 894–904.
- [156] J.B. Sacha, D.I. Watkins, Synchronous infection of SIV and HIV in vitro for virology, immunology and vaccine-related studies, Nat. Protoc. 5 (2010) 239–246.
- [157] J.T. Minang, E.V. Barsov, F. Yuan, M.T. Trivett, M. Piatak Jr., J.D. Lifson, D.E. Ott, C. Ohlen, Efficient inhibition of SIV replication in rhesus CD4+ T-cell clones by autologous immortalized SIV-specific CD8+ T-cell clones, Virology 372 (2008) 430–441.
- [158] J.T. Minang, M.T. Trivett, L.V. Coren, E.V. Barsov, M. Piatak Jr., O. Chertov, E. Chertova, D.E. Ott, C. Ohlen, The Mamu B 17-restricted SIV Nef IW9 to TW9 mutation abrogates correct epitope processing and presentation without loss of replicative fitness, Virology 375 (2008) 307–314.
- [159] J.T. Minang, M.T. Trivett, L.V. Coren, E.V. Barsov, M. Piatak Jr., D.E. Ott, C. Ohlen, Nef-mediated MHC class I down-regulation unmasks clonal differences in virus suppression by SIV-specific CD8(+) T cells independent of IFN-gamma and CD107a responses, Virology 391 (2009) 130–139.
- [160] J.B. Sacha, C. Chung, J. Reed, A.K. Jonas, A.T. Bean, S.P. Spencer, W. Lee, L. Vojnov, R. Rudersdorf, T.C. Friedrich, N.A. Wilson, J.D. Lifson, D.I. Watkins, Pol-specific CD8+ T cells recognize simian immunodeficiency virus-infected cells prior to Nef-mediated major histocompatibility complex class I downregulation, J. Virol. 81 (2007) 11703–11712.
- [161] L. Vojnov, J.S. Reed, K.L. Weisgrau, E.G. Rakasz, J.T. Loffredo, S.M. Piaskowski, J.B. Sacha, H.L. Kolar, N.A. Wilson, R.P. Johnson, D.I. Watkins, Effective simian immunodeficiency virus-specific CD8+ T cells lack an easily detectable, shared characteristic, J. Virol. 84 (2010) 753–764.
- [162] J.B. Sacha, J.P. Giraldo-Vela, M.B. Buechler, M.A. Martins, N.J. Maness, C. Chung, L.T. Wallace, E.J. Leon, T.C. Friedrich, N.A. Wilson, A. Hiraoka, D.I. Watkins, Gagand Nef-specific CD4+ T cells recognize and inhibit SIV replication in infected macrophages early after infection, Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 106 (2009) 9791–9796.
- [163] H. Haim, Z. Si, N. Madani, L. Wang, J.R. Courter, A. Princiotto, A. Kassa, M. DeGrace, K. McGee-Estrada, M. Mefford, D. Gabuzda, A.B. Smith III, J. Sodroski, Soluble CD4 and CD4-mimetic compounds inhibit HIV-1 infection by induction of a short-lived activated state, PLoS Pathog. 5 (2009) e1000360.
- [164] D.L. Bolton, J.T. Minang, M.T. Trivett, K. Song, J.J. Tuscher, Y. Li, M. Piatak Jr., D. O'Connor, J.D. Lifson, M. Roederer, C. Ohlen, Trafficking, persistence, and activation state of adoptively transferred allogeneic and autologous Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-specific CD8(+) T cell clones during acute and chronic infection of rhesus macaques, J. Immunol. 184 (2010) 303–314.

- [165] R.P. Payne, H. Kloverpris, J.B. Sacha, Z. Brumme, C. Brumme, S. Buus, S. Sims, S. Hickling, L. Riddell, F. Chen, G. Luzzi, A. Edwards, R. Phillips, J.G. Prado, P.J. Goulder, Efficacious early antiviral activity of HIV Gag- and Pol-specific HLA-B 2705-restricted CD8+ T cells, J. Virol. 84 (2010) 10543–10557.
- [166] N.J. Maness, J.B. Sacha, S.M. Piaskowski, K.L. Weisgrau, E.G. Rakasz, G.E. May, M.B. Buechler, A.D. Walsh, N.A. Wilson, D.I. Watkins, Novel translation products from simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac239 Env-encoding mRNA contain both Rev and cryptic T-cell epitopes, J. Virol. 83 (2009) 10280–10285.
- [167] C. Orlando, E. Copreni, O. Mykhaylyk, S. Castellani, O. Zelphati, C. Plank, M. Conese, Facilitation of lentiviral-mediated transduction of airway epithelial cells by magnetofection, J. Cyst. Fibros. 7 (2008) S22.
- [168] I. Chudotvorova, A. Ivanov, S. Rama, C.A. Hubner, C. Pellegrino, Y. Ben-Ari, I. Medina, Early expression of KCC2 in rat hippocampal cultures augments expression of functional GABA synapses, J. Physiol. 566 (2005) 671–679.
- [169] B. Lardi-Studler, B. Smolinsky, C.M. Petitjean, F. Koenig, C. Sidler, J.C. Meier, J.M. Fritschy, G. Schwarz, Vertebrate-specific sequences in the gephyrin E-domain regulate cytosolic aggregation and postsynaptic clustering, J. Cell Sci. 120 (2007) 1371–1382.
- [170] K. Baer, T. Burli, K.H. Huh, A. Wiesner, S. Erb-Vogtli, D. Gockeritz-Dujmovic, M. Moransard, A. Nishimune, M.I. Rees, J.M. Henley, J.M. Fritschy, C. Fuhrer, PICK1 interacts with alpha7 neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and controls their clustering, Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 35 (2007) 339–355.
- [171] O. Markova, M. Mukhtarov, E. Real, Y. Jacob, P. Bregestovski, Genetically encoded chloride indicator with improved sensitivity, J. Neurosci. Meth. 170 (2008) 67–76.
- [172] N. Kuczewski, C. Porcher, N. Ferrand, H. Fiorentino, C. Pellegrino, R. Kolarow, V. Lessmann, I. Medina, J.L. Gaiarsa, Backpropagating action potentials trigger dendritic release of BDNF during spontaneous network activity, J. Neurosci. 28 (2008) 7013–7023.
- [173] A. Ivanov, M. Esclapez, C. Pellegrino, T. Shirao, L. Ferhat, Drebrin A regulates dendritic spine plasticity and synaptic function in mature cultured hippocampal neurons, J. Cell Sci. 122 (2009) 524–534.
- [174] I. Marchionni, Z. Kasap, J.W. Mozrzymas, W. Sieghart, E. Cherubini, P. Zacchi, New insights on the role of gephyrin in regulating both phasic and tonic GABAergic inhibition in rat hippocampal neurons in culture, Neuroscience 164 (2009) 552–562.
- [175] H. Fiorentino, N. Kuczewski, D. Diabira, N. Ferrand, M.N. Pangalos, C. Porcher, J.L. Gaiarsa, GABA(B) receptor activation triggers BDNF release and promotes the maturation of GABAergic synapses, J. Neurosci. 29 (2009) 11650–11661.
- [176] F. Opazo, A. Punge, J. Buckers, P. Hoopmann, L. Kastrup, S.W. Hell, S.O. Rizzoli, Limited intermixing of synaptic vesicle components upon vesicle recycling, Traffic 11 (2010) 800–812.
- [177] T. Burli, K. Baer, H. Ewers, C. Sidler, C. Fuhrer, J.M. Fritschy, Single particle tracking of alpha7 nicotinic AChR in hippocampal neurons reveals regulated confinement at glutamatergic and GABAergic perisynaptic sites, PLoS One 5 (2010) e11507.
- [178] T. Waseem, M. Mukhtarov, S. Buldakova, I. Medina, P. Bregestovski, Genetically encoded Cl-Sensor as a tool for monitoring of Cl-dependent processes in small neuronal compartments, J. Neurosci. Meth. 193 (2010) 14–23.
- [179] C. Gross, M. Nakamoto, X. Yao, C.B. Chan, S.Y. Yim, K. Ye, S.T. Warren, G.J. Bassell, Excess phosphoinositide 3-kinase subunit synthesis and activity as a novel therapeutic target in fragile X syndrome, J. Neurosci. 30 (2010) 10624–10638.
- [180] A. Ould-yahoui, E. Tremblay, O. Sbai, L. Ferhat, A. Bernard, E. Charrat, Y. Gueye, N.H. Lim, K. Brew, J.J. Risso, V. Dive, M. Khrestchatisky, S. Rivera, A new role for TIMP-1 in modulating neurite outgrowth and morphology of cortical neurons, PLoS One 4 (2009) e8289.
- [181] O. Sbai, L. Ferhat, A. Bernard, Y. Gueye, A. Ould-Yahoui, S. Thiolloy, E. Charrat, G. Charton, E. Tremblay, J.J. Risso, J.P. Chauvin, J.P. Arsanto, S. Rivera, M. Khrestchatisky, Vesicular trafficking and secretion of matrix metalloproteinases-2, -9 and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 in neuronal cells, Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 39 (2008) 549–568.
- [182] M.K. Schafer, Y.C. Nam, A. Moumen, L. Keglowich, E. Bouche, M. Kuffner, H.H. Bock, F.G. Rathjen, C. Raoul, M. Frotscher, L1 syndrome mutations impair neuronal L1 function at different levels by divergent mechanisms, Neurobiol. Dis. 40 (2010) 222–237.
- [183] Z. Tan, X. Sun, F.S. Hou, H.W. Oh, L.G. Hilgenberg, E.M. Hol, F.W. van Leeuwen, M.A. Smith, D.K. O'Dowd, S.S. Schreiber, Mutant ubiquitin found in Alzheimer's disease causes neuritic beading of mitochondria in association with neuronal degeneration, Cell Death Differ. 14 (2007) 1721–1732.
- [184] Y. Uchida, T. Ohshima, Y. Sasaki, H. Suzuki, S. Yanai, N. Yamashita, F. Nakamura, K. Takei, Y. Ihara, K. Mikoshiba, P. Kolattukudy, J. Honnorat, Y. Goshima, Semaphorin3A signalling is mediated via sequential CdK5 and GSK3beta phosphorylation of CRMP2: implication of common phosphorylating mechanism underlying axon guidance and Alzheimer's disease, Genes Cells 10 (2005) 165–179.
- [185] S. Cestele, P. Scalmani, R. Rusconi, B. Terragni, S. Franceschetti, M. Mantegazza, Self-limited hyperexcitability: functional effect of a familial hemiplegic migraine mutation of the Nav1.1 (SCN1A) Na+ channel, J. Neurosci. 28 (2008) 7273–7283.
- [186] G. de Lartigue, R. Dimaline, A. Varro, G.J. Dockray, Cocaine- and amphetamineregulated transcript: stimulation of expression in rat vagal afferent neurons by cholecystokinin and suppression by ghrelin, J. Neurosci. 27 (2007) 2876–2882.
- [187] G. De Lartigue, R. Dimaline, A. Varro, H. Raybould, C.B. De la Serre, G.J. Dockray, Cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript mediates the actions of cholecystokinin on rat vagal afferent neurons, Gastroenterology 138 (2009) 1479–1490.
- [188] Y. Takei, Phosphorylation of Nogo receptors suppresses Nogo signaling, allowing neurite regeneration, Sci. Signal. 2 (2009) ra14.

- [189] G. Burdyga, G. de Lartigue, H.E. Raybould, R. Morris, R. Dimaline, A. Varro, D.G. Thompson, G.J. Dockray, Cholecystokinin regulates expression of Y2 receptors in vagal afferent neurons serving the stomach, J. Neurosci. 28 (2008) 11583–11592.
- [190] S. Espada, F. Ortega, E. Molina-Jijon, A.I. Rojo, R. Perez-Sen, J. Pedraza-Chaverri, M.T. Miras-Portugal, A. Cuadrado, The purinergic P2Y(13) receptor activates the Nrf2/HO-1 axis and protects against oxidative stress-induced neuronal death, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 49 (2010) 416–426.
- [191] S. Guzman-Beltran, S. Espada, M. Orozco-Ibarra, J. Pedraza-Chaverri, A. Cuadrado, Nordihydroguaiaretic acid activates the antioxidant pathway Nrf2/HO-1 and protects cerebellar granule neurons against oxidative stress, Neurosci. Lett. 447 (2008) 167–171.
- [192] C. Fallini, G.J. Bassell, W. Rossoll, High-efficiency transfection of cultured primary motor neurons to study protein localization, trafficking, and function, Mol. Neurodegener. 5 (2010) 17.
- [193] M.R. Pickard, P. Barraud, D.M. Chari, The transfection of multipotent neural precursor/stem cell transplant populations with magnetic nanoparticles, Biomaterials 32 (2011) 2274–2284.
- [194] M.R. Pickard, S.I. Jenkins, C.J. Koller, D.N. Furness, D.M. Chari, Magnetic nanoparticle labeling of astrocytes derived for neural transplantation, Tissue Eng. Part C Methods (2010).
- [195] N.D. Jeffery, S.C. McBain, J. Dobson, D.M. Chari, Uptake of systemically administered magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) in areas of experimental spinal cord injury (SCI), J. Tissue Eng. Regen. Med. 3 (2009) 153–157.
- [196] M.R. Pickard, D.M. Chari, Robust uptake of magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) by central nervous system (CNS) microglia: implications for particle uptake in mixed neural cell populations, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 11 (2010) 967–981.
- [197] I.A. Steele, R. Dimaline, D.M. Pritchard, R.M. Peek Jr., T.C. Wang, G.J. Dockray, A. Varro, Helicobacter and gastrin stimulate Reg1 expression in gastric epithelial cells through distinct promoter elements, Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 293 (2007) G347–G354.
- [198] A. Varro, S. Kenny, E. Hemers, C. McCaig, S. Przemeck, T.C. Wang, K. Bodger, D.M. Pritchard, Increased gastric expression of MMP-7 in hypergastrinemia and significance for epithelial-mesenchymal signaling, Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 292 (2007) G1133–G1140.
- [199] A.M. Bataille, J. Goldmeyer, J.L. Renfro, Avian renal proximal tubule epithelium urate secretion is mediated by Mrp4, Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 295 (2008) R2024–R2033.
- [200] S.W. Gersting, U. Schillinger, J. Lausier, P. Nicklaus, C. Rudolph, C. Plank, D. Reinhardt, J. Rosenecker, Gene delivery to respiratory epithelial cells by magnetofection, J. Gene Med. 6 (2004) 913–922.
- [201] S. Kenny, C. Duval, S.J. Sammut, I. Steele, D.M. Pritchard, J.C. Atherton, R.H. Argent, R. Dimaline, G.J. Dockray, A. Varro, Increased expression of the urokinase plasminogen activator system by *Helicobacter pylori* in gastric epithelial cells, Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 295 (2008) G431–G441.
- [202] M. Ueta, S. Kinoshita, Innate immunity of the ocular surface, Brain Res. Bull. 81 (2009) 219–228.
- [203] A. Kojima, K. Nakahama, K. Ohno-Matsui, N. Shimada, K. Mori, S. Iseki, T. Sato, M. Mochizuki, I. Morita, Connexin 43 contributes to differentiation of retinal pigment epithelial cells via cyclic AMP signaling, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 366 (2008) 532–538.
- [204] J.R. Basile, R.M. Castilho, V.P. Williams, J.S. Gutkind, Semaphorin 4D provides a link between axon guidance processes and tumor-induced angiogenesis, Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 103 (2006) 9017–9022.
- [205] L. Cailleteau, S. Estrach, R. Thyss, L. Boyer, A. Doye, B. Domange, N. Johnsson, E. Rubinstein, C. Boucheix, T. Ebrahimian, J.S. Silvestre, E. Lemichez, G. Meneguzzi, A. Mettouchi, alpha2beta1 integrin controls association of Rac with the membrane and triggers quiescence of endothelial cells, J. Cell Sci. 123 (2010) 2491–2501.
- [206] V. Deleuze, E. Chalhoub, R. El-Hajj, C. Dohet, M. Le Clech, P.O. Couraud, P. Huber, D. Mathieu, TAL-1/SCL and its partners E47 and LMO2 up-regulate VE-cadherin expression in endothelial cells, Mol. Cell. Biol. 27 (2007) 2687–2697.
- [207] M. Doshida, M. Ohmichi, S. Tsutsumi, J. Kawagoe, T. Takahashi, B. Du, A. Mori-Abe, T. Ohta, M. Saitoh-Sekiguchi, K. Takahashi, H. Kurachi, Raloxifene increases proliferation and up-regulates telomerase activity in human umbilical vein endothelial cells, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 24270–24278.
- [208] M. Li, J. Zacharia, X. Sun, W.G. Wier, Effects of siRNA knock-down of TRPC6 and InsP(3)R1 in vasopressin-induced Ca(2+) oscillations of A7r5 vascular smooth muscle cells, Pharmacol. Res. 58 (2008) 308–315.
- [209] H. Mannell, N. Hellwig, T. Gloe, C. Plank, H.Y. Sohn, L. Groesser, B. Walzog, U. Pohl, F. Krotz, Inhibition of the tyrosine phosphatase SHP-2 suppresses angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo, J. Vasc. Res. 45 (2008) 153–163.
- [210] D. Nagata, M. Takahashi, K. Sawai, T. Tagami, T. Usui, A. Shimatsu, Y. Hirata, M. Naruse, Molecular mechanism of the inhibitory effect of aldosterone on endothelial NO synthase activity, Hypertension 48 (2006) 165–171.
- [211] J.R. Basile, T. Afkhami, J.S. Gutkind, Semaphorin 4D/plexin-B1 induces endothelial cell migration through the activation of PYK2, Src, and the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase–Akt pathway, Mol. Cell. Biol. 25 (2005) 6889–6898.
- [212] S. Kaur, M.D. Castellone, V.M. Bedell, M. Konar, J.S. Gutkind, R. Ramchandran, Robo4 signaling in endothelial cells implies attraction guidance mechanisms, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 11347–11356.
- [213] M. Francois, A. Caprini, B. Hosking, F. Orsenigo, D. Wilhelm, C. Browne, K. Paavonen, T. Karnezis, R. Shayan, M. Downes, T. Davidson, D. Tutt, K.S. Cheah, S.A. Stacker, G.E. Muscat, M.G. Achen, E. Dejana, P. Koopman, Sox18 induces development of the lymphatic vasculature in mice, Nature 456 (2008) 643–647.
- [214] H. Couchoux, B. Allard, C. Legrand, V. Jacquemond, C. Berthier, Loss of caveolin-3 induced by the dystrophy-associated P104L mutation impairs L-type calcium channel function in mouse skeletal muscle cells, J. Physiol. 580 (2007) 745–754.

- [215] J. Megias, M.I. Guillen, V. Clerigues, A.I. Rojo, A. Cuadrado, M.A. Castejon, F. Gomar, M.J. Alcaraz, Heme oxygenase-1 induction modulates microsomal prostaglandin E synthase-1 expression and prostaglandin E(2) production in osteoarthritic chondrocytes, Biochem. Pharmacol. 77 (2009) 1806–1813.
- [216] A.D. Recklies, H. Ling, C. White, S.M. Bernier, Inflammatory cytokines induce production of CHI3L1 by articular chondrocytes, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 41213–41221.
- [217] M. Fransen, I. Vastiau, C. Brees, V. Brys, G.P. Mannaerts, P.P. Van Veldhoven, Analysis of human Pex19p's domain structure by pentapeptide scanning mutagenesis, J. Mol. Biol. 346 (2005) 1275–1286.
- [218] K.W. Kim, M.L. Cho, H.J. Oh, H.R. Kim, C.M. Kang, Y.M. Heo, S.H. Lee, H.Y. Kim, TLR-3 enhances osteoclastogenesis through upregulation of RANKL expression from fibroblast-like synoviocytes in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, Immunol. Lett. 124 (2009) 9–17.
- [219] T.S. Kim, S.H. Lee, G.T. Gang, Y.S. Lee, S.U. Kim, D.B. Koo, M.Y. Shin, C.K. Park, D.S. Lee, Exogenous DNA uptake of boar spermatozoa by a magnetic nanoparticle vector system, Reprod. Domest. Anim. 45 (2010) e201–e206.
- [220] G. Chen, W. Chen, Z. Wu, R. Yuan, H. Li, J. Gao, X. Shuai, MRI-visible polymeric vector bearing CD3 single chain antibody for gene delivery to T cells for immunosuppression, Biomaterials 30 (2009) 1962–1970.
- [221] C.H. Lee, E.Y. Kim, K. Jeon, J.C. Tae, K.S. Lee, Y.O. Kim, M.Y. Jeong, C.W. Yun, D.K. Jeong, S.K. Cho, J.H. Kim, H.Y. Lee, K.Z. Riu, S.G. Cho, S.P. Park, Simple, efficient, and reproducible gene transfection of mouse embryonic stem cells by magneto-fection, Stem Cells Dev. 17 (2008) 133–141.
- [222] T. Svingen, D. Wilhelm, A.N. Combes, B. Hosking, V.R. Harley, A.H. Sinclair, P. Koopman, Ex vivo magnetofection: a novel strategy for the study of gene function in mouse organogenesis, Dev. Dyn. 238 (2009) 956–964.
- [223] J.R. Basile, J. Gavard, J.S. Gutkind, Plexin-B1 utilizes RhoA and Rho kinase to promote the integrin-dependent activation of Akt and ERK and endothelial cell motility, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 34888–34895.
- [224] J.R. Basile, K. Holmbeck, T.H. Bugge, J.S. Gutkind, MT1-MMP controls tumor-induced angiogenesis through the release of semaphorin 4D, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 6899–6905.
- [225] H.L. Ashurst, A. Varro, R. Dimaline, Regulation of mammalian gastrin/CCK receptor (CCK2R) expression in vitro and in vivo, Exp. Physiol. 93 (2008) 223–236.
- [226] T. Mizutani, S. Fukushi, D. lizuka, O. Inanami, M. Kuwabara, H. Takashima, H. Yanagawa, M. Saijo, I. Kurane, S. Morikawa, Inhibition of cell proliferation by SARS-CoV infection in Vero E6 cells, FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. 46 (2006) 236–243.
- [227] T. Mizutani, S. Fukushi, K. Ishii, Y. Sasaki, T. Kenri, M. Saijo, Y. Kanaji, K. Shirota, I. Kurane, S. Morikawa, Mechanisms of establishment of persistent SARS-CoV-infected cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 347 (2006) 261–265.
- [228] S. Guix, M. Asanaka, K. Katayama, S.E. Crawford, F.H. Neill, R.L. Atmar, M.K. Estes, Norwalk virus RNA is infectious in mammalian cells, J. Virol. 81 (2007) 12238–12248.
- [229] T. Hasegawa, T. Matsuzaki, Y. Tajika, A. Ablimit, T. Suzuki, T. Aoki, H. Hagiwara, K. Takata, Differential localization of aquaporin-2 and glucose transporter 4 in polarized MDCK cells, Histochem. Cell Biol. 127 (2007) 233–241.
- [230] S. Khurana, A.K. Jaiswal, A. Mukhopadhyay, Hepatocyte nuclear factor-4alpha induces transdifferentiation of hematopoietic cells into hepatocytes, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 4725–4731.
- [231] M. Mukhtarov, O. Markova, E. Real, Y. Jacob, S. Buldakova, P. Bregestovski, Monitoring of chloride and activity of glycine receptor channels using genetically encoded fluorescent sensors, Philos. Trans. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 366 (2008) 3445–3462.
- [232] P. Huang, T. Senga, M. Hamaguchi, A novel role of phospho-beta-catenin in microtubule regrowth at centrosome, Oncogene 26 (2007) 4357–4371.
- [233] Y.B. Kim, S. Choi, M.C. Choi, M.A. Oh, S.A. Lee, M. Cho, K. Mizuno, S.H. Kim, J.W. Lee, Cell adhesion-dependent cofilin serine 3 phosphorylation by the integrinlinked kinase.c-Src complex, J. Biol. Chem. 283 (2008) 10089–10096.
- [234] M.P. Pinto, C.P. Grou, I.S. Alencastre, M.E. Oliveira, C. Sa-Miranda, M. Fransen, J.E. Azevedo, The import competence of a peroxisomal membrane protein is determined by Pex19p before the docking step, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 34492–34502.
- [235] D.G. Romero, L.L. Yanes, A.F. de Rodriguez, M.W. Plonczynski, B.L. Welsh, J.F. Reckelhoff, E.P. Gomez-Sanchez, C.E. Gomez-Sanchez, Disabled-2 is expressed in adrenal zona glomerulosa and is involved in aldosterone secretion, Endocrinology 148 (2007) 2644–2652.
- [236] C. Sapet, S. Simoncini, B. Loriod, D. Puthier, J. Sampol, C. Nguyen, F. Dignat-George, F. Anfosso, Thrombin-induced endothelial microparticle generation: identification of a novel pathway involving ROCK-II activation by caspase-2, Blood 108 (2006) 1868–1876.
- [237] Y. Tajika, M. Takahashi, M. Hino, T. Murakami, H. Yorifuji, VAMP2 marks quiescent satellite cells and myotubes, but not activated myoblasts, Acta Histochem. Cytochem. 43 (2010) 107–114.
- [238] C. Ufer, C.C. Wang, M. Fahling, H. Schiebel, B.J. Thiele, E.E. Billett, H. Kuhn, A. Borchert, Translational regulation of glutathione peroxidase 4 expression through guanine-rich sequence-binding factor 1 is essential for embryonic brain development, Genes Dev. 22 (2008) 1838–1850.
- [239] J. Wang, Y. Zhang, J. Wei, X. Zhang, B. Zhang, Z. Zhu, W. Zou, Y. Wang, Z. Mou, B. Ni, Y. Wu, Lewis X oligosaccharides targeting to DC-SIGN enhanced antigen-specific immune response, Immunology 121 (2007) 174–182.
- [240] O. Pasder, S. Shpungin, Y. Salem, A. Makovsky, S. Vilchick, S. Michaeli, H. Malovani, U. Nir, Downregulation of Fer induces PP1 activation and cell-cycle arrest in malignant cells, Oncogene 25 (2006) 4194–4206.
  [241] I. Bonetta, The inside accession of the inside accession of the inside accession of the inside accession of the inside accession.
- [241] L. Bonetta, The inside scoop evaluating gene delivery methods, Nat. Meth. 2 (2005) 875–883.

- [242] C. Smith, Sharpening the tools of RNA interference, Nat. Meth. 3 (2006) 475–486.
- [243] S. Simoncini, M.S. Njock, S. Robert, L. Camoin-Jau, J. Sampol, J.R. Harle, C. Nguyen, F. Dignat-George, F. Anfosso, TRAIL/Apo2L mediates the release of procoagulant endothelial microparticles induced by thrombin in vitro: a potential mechanism linking inflammation and coagulation, Circ. Res. 104 (2009) 943–951.
- [244] X. Ge, B. Low, M. Liang, J. Fu, Angiotensin II directly triggers endothelial exocytosis via protein kinase C-dependent protein kinase D2 activation, J. Pharmacol. Sci. 105 (2007) 168-176.
- [245] C. McCaig, C. Duval, E. Hemers, I. Steele, D.M. Pritchard, S. Przemeck, R. Dimaline, S. Ahmed, K. Bodger, D.D. Kerrigan, T.C. Wang, G.J. Dockray, A. Varro, The role of matrix metalloproteinase-7 in redefining the gastric microenvironment in response to *Helicobacter pylori*, Gastroenterology 130 (2006) 1754–1763.
- [246] M.T. Melki, H. Saidi, A. Dufour, J.C. Olivo-Marin, M.L. Gougeon, Escape of HIV-1infected dendritic cells from TRAIL-mediated NK cell cytotoxicity during NK-DC cross-talk—a pivotal role of HMGB1, PLoS Pathog. 6 (2010) e1000862.
- [247] R. Minami, M. Yamamoto, S. Takahama, T. Miyamura, H. Watanabe, E. Suematsu, RCAS1 induced by HIV-Tat is involved in the apoptosis of HIV-1 infected and uninfected CD4+ T cells, Cell. Immunol. 243 (2006) 41–47.
- [248] G. de Lartigue, G. Lur, R. Dimaline, A. Varro, H. Raybould, G.J. Dockray, EGR1 is a target for cooperative interactions between cholecystokinin and leptin, and inhibition by ghrelin, in vagal afferent neurons, Endocrinology 151 (2010) 3589–3599.
- [249] F. Zhang, H. Tanaka, T. Kawato, S. Kitami, K. Nakai, M. Motohashi, N. Suzuki, C.L. Wang, K. Ochiai, K. Isokawa, M. Maeno, Interleukin-17A induces cathepsin K and MMP-9 expression in osteoclasts via celecoxib-blocked prostaglandin E2 in osteoblasts, Biochimie 93 (2011) 296–305.
- [250] S.R. Bhattarai, S.Y. Kim, K.Y. Jang, K.C. Lee, H.K. Yi, D.Y. Lee, H.Y. Kim, P.H. Hwang, N-hexanoyl chitosan-stabilized magnetic nanoparticles: enhancement of adenoviral-mediated gene expression both in vitro and in vivo, Nanomedicine 4 (2008) 146–154.
- [251] S.J. Cheong, C.M. Lee, S.L. Kim, H.J. Jeong, E.M. Kim, E.H. Park, D.W. Kim, S.T. Lim, M.H. Sohn, Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles-loaded chitosan-linoleic acid nanoparticles as an effective hepatocyte-targeted gene delivery system, Int. J. Pharm. 372 (2009) 169–176.
- [252] P. Dames, B. Gleich, A. Flemmer, K. Hajek, N. Seidl, F. Wiekhorst, D. Eberbeck, I. Bittmann, C. Bergemann, T. Weyh, L. Trahms, J. Rosenecker, C. Rudolph, Targeted delivery of magnetic aerosol droplets to the lung, Nat. Nanotechnol. 2 (2007) 495–499.
- [253] J.A. Flexman, D.J. Cross, B.L. Lewellen, S. Miyoshi, Y. Kim, S. Minoshima, Magnetically targeted viral envelopes: a PET investigation of initial biodistribution, IEEE Trans. Nanobioscience 7 (2008) 223–232.
- [254] L.D. Galuppo, S.W. Kamau, B. Steitz, P.O. Hassa, M. Hilbe, L. Vaughan, S. Koch, A. Fink-Petri, M. Hofman, H. Hofman, M.O. Hottiger, B. von Rechenberg, Gene expression in synovial membrane cells after intraarticular delivery of plasmidlinked superparamagnetic iron oxide particles—a preliminary study in sheep, J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 6 (2006) 2841–2852.
- [255] L. Han, A. Zhang, H. Wang, P. Pu, X. Jiang, C. Kang, J. Chang, Tat-BMPs-PAMAM conjugates enhance therapeutic effect of small interference RNA on U251 glioma cells in vitro and in vivo, Hum. Gene Ther. 21 (2010) 417–426.
- [256] M. Hashimoto, Y. Hisano, Directional gene-transfer into the brain by an adenoviral vector tagged with magnetic nanoparticles, J. Neurosci. Meth. 194 (2011) 316–320.
- [257] T. Holzbach, D. Vlaskou, I. Neshkova, M.A. Konerding, K. Wortler, O. Mykhaylyk, B. Gansbacher, H.G. Machens, C. Plank, R.E. Giunta, Non-viral VEGF(165) gene therapy-magnetofection of acoustically active magnetic lipospheres ('magnetobubbles') increases tissue survival in an oversized skin flap model, J. Cell Mol. Med. 14 (2010) 587–599.
- [258] C. Huttinger, J. Hirschberger, A. Jahnke, R. Kostlin, T. Brill, C. Plank, H. Kuchenhoff, S. Krieger, U. Schillinger, Neoadjuvant gene delivery of feline granulocyte–macrophage colony-stimulating factor using magnetofection for the treatment of feline fibrosar-comas: a phase I trial, J. Gene Med. 10 (2008) 655–667.
- [259] A. Jahnke, J. Hirschberger, C. Fischer, T. Brill, R. Kostlin, C. Plank, H. Kuchenhoff, S. Krieger, K. Kamenica, U. Schillinger, Intra-tumoral gene delivery of felL-2, felFN-gamma and feGM-CSF using magnetofection as a neoadjuvant treatment option for feline fibrosarcomas: a phase-1 study, J. Vet. Med. 54 (2007) 599–606.
- [260] M. Kumar, M. Yigit, G. Dai, A. Moore, Z. Medarova, Image-guided breast tumor therapy using a small interfering RNA nanodrug, Cancer Res. 70 (2010) 7553–7561.
- [261] Z. Li, J. Xiang, W. Zhang, S. Fan, M. Wu, X. Li, G. Li, Nanoparticle delivery of antimetastatic NM23-H1 gene improves chemotherapy in a mouse tumor model, Cancer Gene Ther, 16 (2009) 423–429.
- [262] N. Morishita, H. Nakagami, R. Morishita, S. Takeda, F. Mishima, B. Terazono, S. Nishijima, Y. Kaneda, N. Tanaka, Magnetic nanoparticles with surface modification enhanced gene delivery of HVJ-E vector, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 334 (2005) 1121–1126.
- [263] U. Schillinger, T. Brill, C. Rudolph, S. Huth, S. Gersting, F. Krotz, J. Hirschberger, C. Bergemann, C. Plank, Advances in magnetofection magnetically guided nucleic acid delivery, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 293 (2005) 501–508.
- [264] S. Xenariou, U. Griesenbach, S. Ferrari, P. Dean, R.K. Scheule, S.H. Cheng, D.M. Geddes, C. Plank, E.W. Alton, Using magnetic forces to enhance non-viral gene transfer to airway epithelium in vivo, Gene Ther. 13 (2006) 1545–1552.
- [265] J.J. Xiang, J.Q. Tang, S.G. Zhu, X.M. Nie, H.B. Lu, S.R. Shen, X.L. Li, K. Tang, M. Zhou, G.Y. Li, IONP-PLL: a novel non-viral vector for efficient gene delivery, J. Gene Med. 5 (2003) 803–817.
- [266] L. Xiang, W. Bin, J. Huali, J. Wei, T. Jiesheng, G. Feng, L. Ying, Bacterial magnetic particles (BMPs)-PEI as a novel and efficient non-viral gene delivery system, J. Gene Med. 9 (2007) 679–690.

- [267] X.F. Zhou, B. Liu, X.H. Yu, X. Zha, X.Z. Zhang, X.Y. Wang, Y.H. Jin, Y.G. Wu, C.L. Jiang, Y. Chen, Y.M. Shan, J.Q. Liu, W. Kong, J.C. Shen, Using magnetic force to enhance immune response to DNA vaccine, Small 3 (2007) 1707–1713.
- [268] F. Alexis, E. Pridgen, L.K. Molnar, O.C. Farokhzad, Factors affecting the clearance and biodistribution of polymeric nanoparticles, Mol. Pharm. 5 (2008) 505–515.
- [269] S.-D. Li, L. Huang, Pharmacokinetics and biodistribution of nanoparticles, Mol. Pharm. 5 (2008) 496–504.
- [270] C. Plank, K. Mechtler, F.C. Szoka, E. Wagner, Activation of the complement system by synthetic DNA complexes: a potential barrier for intravenous gene delivery, Hum. Gene Ther. 7 (1996) 1437–1446.
- [271] A.J. Andersen, S.H. Hashemi, T.L. Andresen, A.C. Hunter, S.M. Moghimi, Complement: alive and kicking nanomedicines, J. Biomed. Nanotechnol. 5 (2009) 364–372.
- [272] I. Hamad, O. Al-Hanbali, A.C. Hunter, K.J. Rutt, T.L. Andresen, S.M. Moghimi, Distinct polymer architecture mediates switching of complement activation pathways at the nanosphere-serum interface: implications for stealth nanoparticle engineering, ACS Nano 4 (2010) 6629–6638.
- [273] S.M. Moghimi, A.J. Andersen, S.H. Hashemi, B. Lettiero, D. Ahmadvand, A.C. Hunter, T.L. Andresen, I. Hamad, J. Szebeni, Complement activation cascade triggered by PEG-PL engineered nanomedicines and carbon nanotubes: the challenges ahead, J. Control. Release 146 (2010) 175–181.
- [274] B. Chertok, A.E. David, B.A. Moffat, V.C. Yang, Substantiating in vivo magnetic brain tumor targeting of cationic iron oxide nanocarriers via adsorptive surface masking, Biomaterials 30 (2009) 6780–6787.
- [275] K. Lee, K.H. Bae, Y. Lee, S.H. Lee, C.H. Ahn, T.G. Park, Pluronic/polyethylenimine shell crosslinked nanocapsules with embedded magnetite nanocrystals for magnetically triggered delivery of siRNA, Macromol. Biosci. 10 (2010) 239–245.
- [276] K. Tanaka, T. Kanazawa, Y. Shibata, Y. Suda, T. Fukuda, Y. Takashima, H. Okada, Development of cell-penetrating peptide-modified MPEG-PCL diblock copolymeric nanoparticles for systemic gene delivery, Int. J. Pharm. 396 (2010) 229–238.
- [277] O. Veiseh, F.M. Kievit, C. Fang, N. Mu, S. Jana, M.C. Leung, H. Mok, R.G. Ellenbogen, J.O. Park, M. Zhang, Chlorotoxin bound magnetic nanovector tailored for cancer cell targeting, imaging, and siRNA delivery, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 8032–8042.
- [278] H.J. Wang, S.N. Zhang, Z.Y. Liao, C.Y. Wang, Y. Liu, S.Q. Feng, X.G. Jiang, J. Chang, PEGlated magnetic polymeric liposome anchored with TAT for delivery of drugs across the blood–spinal cord barrier, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 6589–6596.
- [279] B. Chertok, A.E. David, V.C. Yang, Polyethyleneimine-modified iron oxide nanoparticles for brain tumor drug delivery using magnetic targeting and intra-carotid administration, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 6317–6324.
- [280] E.P. Furlani, K.C. Ng, Analytical model of magnetic nanoparticle transport and capture in the microvasculature, Phys. Rev. E 73 (2006) 061919.
- [281] H. Maeda, The enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect in tumor vasculature: the key role of tumor-selective macromolecular drug targeting, Adv. Enzyme Regul. 41 (2001) 189–207.
- [282] A. Gabizon, H. Shmeeda, A.T. Horowitz, S. Zalipsky, Tumor cell targeting of liposome-entrapped drugs with phospholipid-anchored folic acid-PEG conjugates, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 56 (2004) 1177–1192.
- [283] P. Pradhan, J. Giri, F. Rieken, C. Koch, O. Mykhaylyk, M. Doblinger, R. Banerjee, D. Bahadur, C. Plank, Targeted temperature sensitive magnetic liposomes for thermochemotherapy, J. Control. Release 142 (2010) 108–121.
- [284] Y.C. Tseng, S. Mozumdar, L. Huang, Lipid-based systemic delivery of siRNA, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 61 (2009) 721–731.
- [285] Y.K. Oh, T.G. Park, siRNA delivery systems for cancer treatment, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 61 (2009) 850-862.
- [286] J.D. Hood, M. Bednarski, R. Frausto, S. Guccione, R.A. Reisfeld, R. Xiang, D.A. Cheresh, Tumor regression by targeted gene delivery to the neovasculature, Science 296 (2002) 2404–2407.
- [287] A. Moore, Z. Medarova, A. Potthast, G. Dai, In vivo targeting of underglycosylated MUC-1 tumor antigen using a multimodal imaging probe, Cancer Res. 64 (2004) 1821–1827.
- [288] Z. Medarova, M. Kumar, S.W. Ng, J. Yang, N. Barteneva, N.V. Evgenov, V. Petkova, A. Moore, Multifunctional magnetic nanocarriers for image-tagged SiRNA delivery to intact pancreatic islets, Transplantation 86 (2008) 1170–1177.
- [289] M. Zhao, M.F. Kircher, L. Josephson, R. Weissleder, Differential conjugation of tat peptide to superparamagnetic nanoparticles and its effect on cellular uptake, Bioconjug. Chem. 13 (2002) 840–844.
- [290] L. Josephson, M.F. Kircher, U. Mahmood, Y. Tang, R. Weissleder, Near-infrared fluorescent nanoparticles as combined MR/optical imaging probes, Bioconjug. Chem. 13 (2002) 554–560.
- [291] O. Veiseh, C. Sun, C. Fang, N. Bhattarai, J. Gunn, F. Kievit, K. Du, B. Pullar, D. Lee, R.G. Ellenbogen, J. Olson, M. Zhang, Specific targeting of brain tumors with an optical/magnetic resonance imaging nanoprobe across the blood-brain barrier, Cancer Res. 69 (2009) 6200–6207.

- [292] J.S. Patton, C.S. Fishburn, J.G. Weers, The lungs as a portal of entry for systemic drug delivery, Proc. Am. Thorac. Soc. 1 (2004) 338–344.
- [293] G.A. Otterson, M.A. Villalona-Calero, S. Sharma, M.G. Kris, A. Imondi, M. Gerber, D.A. White, M.J. Ratain, J.H. Schiller, A. Sandler, M. Kraut, S. Mani, J.R. Murren, Phase I study of inhaled Doxorubicin for patients with metastatic tumors to the lungs, Clin. Cancer Res. 13 (2007) 1246–1252.
- [294] C.F. Verschraegen, B.E. Gilbert, E. Loyer, A. Huaringa, G. Walsh, R.A. Newman, V. Knight, Clinical evaluation of the delivery and safety of aerosolized liposomal 9nitro-20(s)-camptothecin in patients with advanced pulmonary malignancies, Clin. Cancer Res. 10 (2004) 2319–2326.
- [295] C. Plank, Nanomagnetosols: magnetism opens up new perspectives for targeted aerosol delivery to the lung, Trends Biotechnol. 26 (2008) 59–63.
- [296] A.E. Hershey, K.U. Sorenmo, M.J. Hendrick, F.S. Shofer, D.M. Vail, Prognosis for presumed feline vaccine-associated sarcoma after excision: 61 cases (1986– 1996), J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 216 (2000) 58–61.
- [297] J.K. Koponen, T. Kekarainen, S.E. Heinonen, A. Laitinen, J. Nystedt, J. Laine, S. Yla-Herttuala, Umbilical cord blood-derived progenitor cells enhance muscle regeneration in mouse hindlimb ischemia model, Mol. Ther. 15 (2007) 2172–2177.
- [298] M. Babincova, V. Altanerova, M. Lampert, C. Altaner, E. Machova, M. Sramka, P. Babinec, Site-specific in vivo targeting of magnetoliposomes using externally applied magnetic field, Z. Naturforsch. 55 (2000) 278–281.
- [299] M. Babincova, P. Cicmanec, V. Altanerova, C. Altaner, P. Babinec, AC-magnetic field controlled drug release from magnetoliposomes: design of a method for site-specific chemotherapy, Bioelectrochemistry 55 (2002) 17–19.
- [300] A.L. Klibanov, Ultrasound contrast agents: development of the field and current status, Top. Curr. Chem. 222 (2002) 73–106.
- [301] E.C. Unger, T. Porter, W. Culp, R. Labell, T. Matsunaga, R. Zutshi, Therapeutic applications of lipid-coated microbubbles, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 56 (2004) 1291–1314.
- [302] Y. Liu, H. Miyoshi, M. Nakamura, Encapsulated ultrasound microbubbles: therapeutic application in drug/gene delivery, J. Control. Release 114 (2006) 89–99.
- [303] A. van Wamel, K. Kooiman, M. Harteveld, M. Emmer, F.J. ten Cate, M. Versluis, N. de Jong, Vibrating microbubbles poking individual cells: drug transfer into cells via sonoporation, J. Control. Release 112 (2006) 149–155.
- [304] S. Chen, R.V. Shohet, R. Bekeredjian, P. Frenkel, P.A. Grayburn, Optimization of ultrasound parameters for cardiac gene delivery of adenoviral or plasmid deoxyribonucleic acid by ultrasound-targeted microbubble destruction, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 42 (2003) 301–308.
- [305] D.M. Skyba, R.J. Price, A.Z. Linka, T.C. Skalak, S. Kaul, Direct in vivo visualization of intravascular destruction of microbubbles by ultrasound and its local effects on tissue, Circulation 98 (1998) 290–293.
- [306] R.J. Price, D.M. Skyba, S. Kaul, T.C. Skalak, Delivery of colloidal particles and red blood cells to tissue through microvessel ruptures created by targeted microbubble destruction with ultrasound, Circulation 98 (1998) 1264–1267.
- [307] K. Hynynen, N. McDannold, N. Vykhodtseva, F.A. Jolesz, Noninvasive MR imaging-guided focal opening of the blood-brain barrier in rabbits, Radiology 220 (2001) 640–646.
- [308] S. Hernot, A.L. Klibanov, Microbubbles in ultrasound-triggered drug and gene delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 60 (2008) 1153–1166.
- [309] E.P. Stride, C.C. Coussios, Cavitation and contrast: the use of bubbles in ultrasound imaging and therapy, Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. H 224 (2010) 171–191.
- [310] C.S. Yoon, J.H. Park, Ultrasound-mediated gene delivery, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 7 (2010) 321–330.
- [311] C. Plank, D. Vlaskou, U. Schillinger, O. Mykhaylyk, T. Brill, C. Rudolph, S. Huth, F. Krotz, J. Hirschberger, C. Bergemann, Localized nucleic acid delivery using magnetic nanoparticles, Eur. Cells Mater. 10 (2005) 8.
- [312] D. Vlaskou, P. Pradhan, C. Bergemann, A.L. Klibanov, K. Hensel, G. Schmitz, C. Plank, O. Mykhaylyk, Magnetic microbubbles: magnetically targeted and ultrasound-triggered vectors for gene delivery in vitro, AIP Conf. Proc. 1311 (2010) 485–494.
- [313] P. del Pino, A. Munoz-Javier, D. Vlaskou, P. Rivera Gil, C. Plank, W.J. Parak, Gene silencing mediated by magnetic lipospheres tagged with small interfering RNA, Nano Lett. 10 (2010) 3914–3921.
- [314] E. Stride, C. Porter, A.G. Prieto, Q. Pankhurst, Enhancement of microbubble mediated gene delivery by simultaneous exposure to ultrasonic and magnetic fields, Ultrasound Med. Biol. 35 (2009) 861–868.
- [315] K. Soetanto, H. Watarai, Development of magnetic microbubbles for drug delivery system (DDS), Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 39 (2000) 3230–3232.
- [316] E.C. Unger, T.P. McCreery, R.H. Sweitzer, V.E. Caldwell, Y. Wu, Acoustically active lipospheres containing paclitaxel: a new therapeutic ultrasound contrast agent, Investig. Radiol. 33 (1998) 886–892.